
1 
 

Wellfleet Selectboard  
 
 

Note: Start Time of 7pm  
The Wellfleet Selectboard will hold a public meeting on Tuesday, June 20, 2023, at 7:00 p.m. 
The Chapter 2 of the Acts of 2023, this meeting will be conducted in person and as a courtesy via 
remote means, per 940 MCR 29.10 and the Town's Remote Participation Policy. While an option 
for remote attendance and/or participation is provided as a courtesy to the public, the 
meeting/hearing may not be suspended or terminated if technological problems interrupt the 
virtual broadcast unless otherwise required by law. 
Joining the Meeting:  
In-person at the Wellfleet ACC, 715 Old King's Highway, Wellfleet, MA, 02667 

Join the meeting hosted in Zoom by using the following link: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85689604806?pwd=blplVFFBZzViQ0xNWkZKMm9iMVdrdz09 

By Phone: phone to +1 929 205 6099 and enter Meeting ID: 856 8960 4806 | Passcode: 
611877 Landline callers can participate by dialing *9 to raise their hand. 

To Participate during public comment: 
• Zoom: Raise hand to be called on to speak. 
• Phone: dial *9 to raise your hand. 

It is at the Chair's discretion to call on members of the public. All speakers must be recognized to 
speak. If attending a meeting in person, please find the closest available microphone and confine 
any personal conversations to the outside of the meeting room. Anyone may record the session 
but must notify the Chair and may not interfere with the meeting to record it. 

Additionally, the meeting will be broadcast live, in real time, via live broadcast on 
Comcast cable (Wellfleet Government TV Channel 18), also available via livestream or 
Video on Demand (VOD) recordings at wellfleet-ma.gov 
 
             

I. Announcements, Open Session and Public Comments   
Note: Public comments are limited to no more than two minutes per speaker.  The 
Board will not deliberate or vote on any matter raised solely during Announcements 
& Public Comments. 

II. Consent Agenda 
A. Appointment of Ryan Curley to Cape Cod and Islands Water Protection Fund  
B. Contract agreement for M.A. Frazier for Portable Toilets for the 2023 Season 
C. Bill Iacuessa & Jenette Kerr, Mass Audubon ~ 2023 State of Wellfleet Harbor 

Conference ~ November 3, 2023 (for set up); November 4, 2023, 7a:30am-1pm. 
D. Ratify Collective Bargaining Agreements 

Police 
Communications 
Teamsters 
Fire 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85689604806?pwd=blplVFFBZzViQ0xNWkZKMm9iMVdrdz09
https://www.google.com/url?q=http%3A%2F%2Flivestream.brewster-ma.gov&sa=D&ust=1660402800000000&usg=AOvVaw3iAYbXrDchkK1PTv0PPtsW


2 
 

WEA 
III. Open Meeting Law Complaint ~ (moved up per the chair) 

A. Discuss and deliberate response to Open Meeting Law complaint from Jude 
Ahern dated June 2, 2023. 

IV. Police Appointment 
A. Nichole Matinelli ~ Full time Police Officer ~ Deputy Chief Kevin LaRocco 

V. Structure Discussions and Public Comments 
A. Board to discuss and deliberate on discussions on agenda topics and time limits 

on comments. 
VI. Special Town Meeting 

A. Discussion and Confirmation of Fall Special Town Meeting Date ~ Dan 
Silverman 

VII. Community Updates 
A. Affirmative Vote to continue to make Maguire’s/LaCount’s Landing a 

resident/taxpayer only beach. ~ Suzanne Grout-Thomas 
B. Maggie Downey ~ Update on our energy efficiency programs and planning for 

the next three-year plan, ~ Cape Light Compact  
VIII. Public Hearings 

A. Verizon and NSTAR dba Eversource Energy to place temporarily six new 
jointly owned poles and to remove three jointly owned poles near #1000 
Chequesset Neck Rd. Wellfleet. 

B. Verizon New England to place approximately eight-hundred feet (800’) of new 
conduit provided by Mass DOT, at 1065 Chequessett Neck Rd. Wellfleet MA. 

C. Application Received May 26, 2023, for Change of Manager, MJT Enterprises, 
Inc. dba Blackfish Variety 

D. Application for Special Event Liquor License ~ Craig Whilby ~ July 29, 2023; 
Newcomb Hollow Beach, 3:00pm – 10:00pm. ~ See Selectboard Packet for full 
application.  

IX. Use of Town Property 
A. Neal Nichols Jr. ~ Baker’s Field Pavilion and other shaded places around the 

area for children’s art classes.  
X. Board/Committee Appointments and Updates 

A. Renewal of Board/Committee Members ~ Please see list in Selectboard Packet.  
XI. Business 

A. Transfer Station Fees Amendments ~ Michael Cicale will present the changes to 
the fees for the selectboard to support.  

B. Authorization to accept a $14,690,000 grant from the National Oceanic and 
Atmospheric Administration for the Herring River Restoration Project ~ Carole 
Ridley 

C. Mitigation Plan Approval ~ The board will approve the mitigation plan. 
D. Awarding of the dredging contract ~ Burnham (no public comments to be 

accepted for this agenda item) 
E. Joe Pellegrino ~ 100th Birthday Recognition  
F. Staffing Update 



3 
 

XII. Selectboard Reports 
XIII. Town Administrator’s Report 
XIV. Topics for Future Discussion 
XV. Minutes 

A. June 6, 2023  
XVI. Adjournment 

 
 

 













































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































REQUESTED BY: 

DESIRED ACTION: 

PROPOSED 

MOTION: 

ACTION TAKEN: 

VOTED: 

SELECTBOARD 

AGENDA ACTION REQUEST 
Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 

OPEN MEETING LAW COMPLAINT

Select board 

Discuss and deliberate response to open Meeting Law 

Complaint from Judith Ahern; filed June 2, 2023. 

I move to direct Wellfleet Town Counsel, KP Law to send a 

response as voted on at tonight's meeting to the Division of 

Open Government office of the Attorney General 

Moved by: Seconded By: 

Condition(s): 

Yes: No: Abstain: 
--





































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































BID DOCUMENTS

AND

TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS

FOR

2023 WELLFLEET HARBOR DREDGING 

AREA II

TOWN OF WELLFLEET, 

MASSACHUSETTS

Prepared by 

GEI Consultants, Inc.

124 Grove St., Suite 300

Franklin, MA 02038

April 2023



TABLE OF CONTENTS

FRONT END SPECIFICATIONS

Division 00 Bidding and Contract Requirements

Section 00 01 00 Invitation for Bid

Section 00 04 00 Information for Bidders

Section 00 30 00 Bid Form

Section 00 50 00 Agreement

Section 00 55 00 Certificate of Bidder Regarding Equal Employment Opportunity

Section 00 56 00 Certificate of Compliance with Tax Laws

Section 00 57 00 Certificate of Non-Collusion

Section 00 58 00 Corporate Signatory Authorization

Section 00 61 00 Construction Performance Bond

Section 00 62 00 Construction Payment Bond

Section 00 65 00 Certificate of Insurance

Section 00 70 00 General Conditions

Section 00 80 00 Special Conditions

TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS

Division 01 General Requirements

Section No. Description

Section 01 11 00 Summary of Work

Section 01 14 00 Work Restrictions

Section 01 18 00 Utility Protection

Section 01 20 00 Price and Payment Procedures

Section 01 30 00 Administrative Requirements

Section 01 33 00 Submittal Procedures

Section 01 35 00 Health and Safety Requirements

Section 01 41 00 Regulatory Requirements - Permits

Section 01 50 00 Temporary Facilities and Controls

Section 01 77 00 Closeout Procedures

Division 35 Waterway and Marine Construction

Section No. Description

Section 35 12 13 Marine Signaling Equipment

Section 35 20 23 Dredging by Mechanical Method

Section 35 20 23.13 National Dredge Quality Management Program 

Scow – Monitoring Profile



ATTACHMENTS

Attachment . Description

Attachment A Drawings

Attachment B Prevailing Wage Rates

Attachment C Regulatory Permits

 Expanded Environmental Notification Form Certificate 

 Order of Conditions 

 MESA Conservation Management Permit (CMP)

 MESA CMP Amendment

 MassDEP Combined Chapter 91/401 WQC

 CZM Federal Consistency Review

 MEPA Final Record of Decision

 Suitability Determination 

 US Army Corps of Engineers (Pending) 

o Area 1 ACOE Permit attached for reference



INVITATION FOR BID

00 01 00-1

SECTION 00 01 00

INVITATION FOR BID

TOWN OF WELLFLEET

WELLFLEET, MASSACHUSETTS

2023 WELLFLEET HARBOR DREDGING – AREA II

INVITATION FOR BIDS

Sealed Bids for the Dredging of Wellfleet Harbor – Area II will be received by the Town of 

Wellfleet at Wellfleet Town Hall, 300 Main Street, Wellfleet, MA 02667 until 2:00PM local time 

on Friday, May 19, 2023 at which time the Bids received will be publicly opened and read.  Such 

Bids shall be addressed to the Town Administrator and endorsed "BID FOR 2023 WELLFLEET 

HARBOR DREDGING – AREA II”. The project consists of dredging sediment from the area 

known as Area II or South Mooring Field within Wellfleet Harbor adjacent to the Federal Channel. 

Dredged sediment will be disposed of at the Cape Cod Bay Disposal Site. 

All dredging work must be completed within the time of year restrictions established for the project 

of October 1 to December 31 of a given calendar year. 

Bids will be received for a single prime Contract.  Bids shall be on a lump sum and unit price basis, 

with bid items as indicated in the Bid Form. 

The project is subject to MA Prevailing Wage Rates.

The project is partially funded by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and subject to MassDOT 

prequalification. Class of Work – Dredging.

The Issuing Office for the Bidding Documents is: the Town of Wellfleet, MA, 300 Main Street, 

Wellfleet, MA 02667. Prospective Bidders may obtain copies of the Bidding Documents from the 

Issuing Office as described below.

Bidding Documents will be available starting on Wednesday April 26, 2023, and may be ordered 

electronically by registering with the Issuing Office at https://www.wellfleet-ma.gov/bid-invitations. 

Following registration, complete sets of Bidding Documents may be downloaded from the Issuing 

Office’s website as “zipped” portable document format (PDF) files. The date that the Bidding Documents 

are transmitted by the Issuing Office will be considered the Bidder’s date of receipt of the Bidding 

Documents. Partial sets of the Bidding Documents will not be available from the Issuing Office.

A non-mandatory pre-bid conference will be held at 11:00AM local time on Wednesday May 3, 2023 at 

the Wellfleet Harbormaster’s Office, 255 Commercial Street, Wellfleet, MA.  The project site is accessible 

and can be viewed at any time.

All questions by prospective bidders as to any information contained within this bid package must 

be submitted by email to Daniel Robbins at drobbins@geiconsultants.com, by 12:00PM local time on 

Monday May 8, 2023.

https://www.wellfleet-ma.gov/bid-invitations


INVITATION FOR BID

00 01 00-2

No oral interpretations will be made to any potential respondent as to the meaning of any requirements 

specified within this Invitation for Bids.  In preparing its proposal, the Contractor shall rely only on what 

has been communicated in writing, and no oral communication shall become the basis for any subsequent 

protest of the selection process. No questions, written or emailed, will be answered after the deadline 

indicated.

If any changes are made to this invitation for bids, an addendum will be issued. Addenda will be emailed 

to all bidders on record as having picked up the invitation for bids package from the issuing office.

The Town reserves the right to waive any informalities and to reject any or all bids if it be in the 

public interest to do so in accordance with G.L. c. 30, §39M(b).

All bid prices submitted in response to this invitation for bids must remain firm for sixty-five (65) 

calendar days following the bid opening. The award and notice to proceed is subject to availability 

of sufficient funding and receipt of permits. It is anticipated that award will be made by June 30th, 

2023 unless otherwise agreed with the successful general bidder. 

All bids for this project shall be made in good faith, and without collusion or fraud, and are subject 

to the provisions of Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 30B, as amended.

--- END OF SECTION ---



INFORMATION FOR BIDDERS 

00 04 00-1 

 

SECTION 00 04 00 

INFORMATION FOR BIDDERS 

 

 

1.0 RECEIPT AND OPENING OF BIDS: 
 

1.1 The Town of Wellfleet, MA, herein called the Awarding Authority or Owner, will receive 
sealed Bids for the dredging of Area II, disposal of dredged material, and all associated 
work. 

 
1.2 Such Bids, addressed to the Town Administrator and endorsed "BID FOR 2023 

WELLFLEET HARBOR DREDGING-AREA II” will be received at Wellfleet Town Hall, 
located at 300 Main Street, Wellfleet, Massachusetts 02667 until 2:00 PM on Friday, May 

19th, 2023. 
 

1.3 No bids received after the time and date established herein for the opening of bids shall be 
accepted or considered, regardless of the cause for delay in the receipt of such bids. Said 
bids will be returned to the bidder, unopened at the time of receipt. 

 
1.4 No bids received in which the Contractor is not listed on the Mass DOT Prequalification or 

Waiver List provided on the day of bid opening will be accepted or considered. Said bids 
will be returned to the bidder, unopened at the time of receipt. 

 
2.0 BID FORM: 

 
2.1 Each Bid shall be submitted on the required BID FORM. The BID FORM shall be 

removed and submitted separately. All blank spaces for BID PRICES must be filled in 
with the lump sum or unit price for which the Bid is made. 

 
2.2 Bid Forms must be completed in ink or by typewriter. The Bid Price for each item on 

the form shall be stated in words and figures. Discrepancies between the words and figures 
will be resolved in favor of the words. Discrepancies between the indicated sum of any 
column and the correct sum of any column will be resolved in favor of the correct 
sum. 

 
2.3 Each Bidder must complete and submit the form, "Certification of Bidder Regarding 

Equal Employment Opportunity" with their bid. 
 

2.4 A Bid which includes a Bid Price for any item which is either abnormally low or high 
may be rejected as unbalanced. 

 
3.0 BID DEPOSIT: 

 
3.1 A bid deposit of each Bid submitted by bidders filing bids in accordance with the required 

procedure shall be accompanied by a bid deposit in the form of a bid bond, or cash, 
or a certified check, or a treasurer's or cashier's check issued by a bank or trust company 
for the amount of 5 percent based on the Base Bid and. 

 



INFORMATION FOR BIDDERS 

00 04 00-2 

 

3.2 All bid deposits except those of the three lowest responsible and eligible bidders shall 
be returned within five (5) days, Saturday, Sunday, and Legal Holidays excluded, after 
the opening of Bids. The three deposits held shall be returned upon execution and 
delivery of the general contract; except that if the selected general bidder fails to 
execute a contract and furnish the required bonds and insurance certificates, the bidders 
deposit shall become the property of the Awarding Authority as liquidated damages in 
an amount not to exceed the difference between the bidder's bid price of the next lowest 
responsible bidder. 

 
3.3 In case of death, disability, or other unforeseen circumstances affecting the bidder, such 

bid deposit may be returned. 
 

3.4 After execution of the Contract and acceptance of the bonds by the Owner, the bid deposit 
accompanying the proposal of the successful bidder will be returned. 

 
3.5 All bid deposits will be returned on the execution of a Contract, or if no award is made 

within sixty-five (65) days after the date of opening thereof, unless forfeited under the 
conditions stipulated above. 

 
4.0 COMPARISON OF BIDS: 

 
4.1 Bids will be compared on the basis of the quantity, unit, and lump sum prices stated on 

the Bid Form, including all alternates and options. Award will be made based on the 
quantity, cost, and schedule that is most beneficial to the Town and is within the available 
funding for the work. 

 
4.2 In the event of a discrepancy between the written and numerical figures in the lump 

sum prices, the written figures shall govern. 
 

4.3 In the event of a tie for lowest bid, the Town reserves the right to go to a “Second Heat” 
procedure between the tied lowest bidders as suggested by the State Inspector General’s 
Office. 

 
5.0 WITHDRAWAL OF BIDS: 

 
Any bid may be withdrawn prior to the opening of bids. However, bidders may not withdraw 
or modify their bids for a period of sixty-five (65) calendar days, following the opening of bids. 

 
6.0 ADDENDA AND INTERPRETATIONS: 

 
All questions by prospective bidders as to any information contained within this bid package 
must be submitted by email to Daniel Robbins at drobbins@geiconsultants.com by 12:00pm local 
time on Monday May 8, 2023. 
 
No oral interpretations will be made to any potential respondent as to the meaning of any 
requirements specified within this Request for Bids.  In preparing its proposal, the Contractor shall 
rely only on what has been communicated in writing, and no oral communication shall become the 
basis for any subsequent protest of the selection process. No questions, written or emailed, will be 



INFORMATION FOR BIDDERS 

00 04 00-3 

 

answered after the deadline indicated. 
 
7.0 DELETIONS FROM CONTRACT: 

 
The Awarding Authority reserves the right, prior to award of contract, to delete any portion 
of the Contractor's work and to adjust the quantities of work at any time. 

 
8.0 EXAMINATION: 

 
By submitting a bid, the bidder warrants that they have thoroughly examined the specifications 
and are fully acquainted with all conditions and restrictions pertaining to the bid items. No 
claim for any extra work or extension of time will be allowed for failure to observe this 
requirement.  Conditional bids will not be accepted. 

 
9.0 CONTRACT TIME: 

 
All work of the Contract, excluding final payment only, must be completed within the time 
frame indicated in the contract specifications. Failure to complete the work in that time period 
will result in the assessment of liquidated damages in the amount specified therein. 

 
10.0 PAYMENT BOND, PERFORMANCE BOND, AND INSURANCE: 

 
10.1 The payment bond shall be for the full contract price and shall be furnished by the company 

awarded the contract.  The payment bond shall be issued by a surety qualified to do business 
under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and satisfactory to the Awarding 
Authority. 

 
10.2 The selected bidder shall provide a Performance Bond to be for the full contract price 

at the time of execution of the contract. 
 

10.3 The selected bidder shall maintain such insurance as will protect it from claims under 
the workmen's compensation acts and claims for bodily injury, death, or property 
damage which may arise from the performance of its service under this project. The 
bidder shall maintain proper liability insurance coverage in the amounts specified 
within Article VI of Section 00 70 00, GENERAL REQUIREMENTS. The Town may 
request the bidder to furnish evidence of any or all insurance coverage at the award of 
contract or at any time through the contract period. 

 
11.0 ABILITY AND EXPERIENCE: 

 
11.l   The Awarding Authority will not award a contract to any bidder who cannot furnish 

satisfactory evidence of their ability and experience in this type of work and that they 
have sufficient manpower to enable them to execute and complete the work within the 
given time period. 

 
11.2 The bidder shall submit an experience list of similar size and type of projects with the bid, 

including Owner’s name and contact information. 
 



INFORMATION FOR BIDDERS 

00 04 00-4 

 

11.3 The Awarding Authority may make such investigations as it deems necessary to 
determine the above and a bidder shall furnish any information requested in this regard 
and shall furnish the same under oath if required. 

 
12.0 RIGHTS OF THE AWARDING AUTHORITY 

 
12.1 The Awarding Authority may reject, as informal, bids that are incomplete, conditional, 

or obscure or that contain additions or erasures that are not initialed or other irregularities. 
 

12.2 The Awarding Authority reserves the right to reject any and all bids as may be in the best 
interest of the Town of Wellfleet, MA. 

 
13.0 EXECUTION OF THE AGREEMENT: 

 
13.1 Within fifteen (15) days of the receipt of agreement signed by the successful bidder 

and receipt of acceptable bonds, the Awarding Authority shall sign the Agreement and 
return a duplicate of the executed Agreement to the Contractor. 

 
13.2 A Notice to Proceed shall be issued by September 10th, 2022. This time may be extended 

by mutual agreement by the Awarding Authority and the Contractor. 
 
14.0 NON-DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT: 

 
14.1 A contract for work under this proposal shall obligate the Contractor or subcontractor 

not to discriminate in employment practices. 
 

14.2 Bidders must, if requested, submit compliance reports concerning their employment 
practices and policies in order to maintain their ability to receive award of contract. 
Bidders must, if requested, submit a list of all subcontractors who will perform work on 
this contract together with a signed "Certification of Bidder Regarding Equal 
Employment Opportunity". 

 
15.0 CONTRACTORS RECORDS 

 
The Contractor shall retain their records for at least six (6) years after final payment. During 
this six (6) year period, the Owner, the Inspector General or any authorized representative 
of the grantor agency, if applicable, shall have the right to inspect these records. 

 
16.0 CONFLICT BETWEEN SPECIFICATIONS: 

 
Wherever a conflict exists between this specification and Commonwealth of Massachusetts 
laws, rules, or regulations, the laws or rules or regulations of the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts prevail. 

 

17.0 LAWS AND REGULATIONS: 
 

The Bidders attention is directed to the fact that all applicable Federal, State, and municipal laws, 
regulations and ordinances shall apply to the contract as though they were written out in full. 



INFORMATION FOR BIDDERS 

00 04 00-5 

 

18.0 METHOD OF AWARD: 
 

18.1 If the Contract is to be awarded, Owner shall award the Contract to the “lowest responsible 
and eligible bidder” pursuant to General Laws Chapter 30, Section 39M, as amended, 
offering the lowest price for the Base Bid, or Base Bid plus Alternates at the Owner’s option, 
and whose Bid is in the best interests of the Project or Owner. Unit pricing for Alternatives 
must be the same as used in the Base Bid for the same items of work. Such a bidder shall 
possess the skill, ability, and integrity necessary for the faithful performance of the work, 
shall be able to furnish labor that can work in harmony with all other elements of labor 
employed, or to be employed, in the work, and shall otherwise comply with all applicable 
provisions of law. Contract award shall be subject to availability of an appropriation for 
funding. 

 
18.2 If the lowest Bidder exceeds the amount of available funds, The Town reserves the right 

to negotiate with the lowest qualified bidder. 
 

18.3 The Town reserves the right to add additional funding to the project should it be in its best 
interest for maximizing the construction for the available funding. 
 

19.0 SEVERABILITY: 
 

If any provision of this Agreement or portion of such provision or application thereof to any 
person, entity, or circumstances is held invalid, the remainder of the Agreement (or remainder 
of such provision) and the application of other persons, entities or circumstances shall not be 
affected thereby so long as such remaining or modified provisions reflect the intent of the parties. 

 
20.0 MINORITY PROCUREMENT GOALS: 

 
Under Massachusetts Executive Order 237, it is the policy of the Commonwealth to promote 
to the fullest participation of all citizens in resources provided by municipal government. 
Therefore, the Town invites the participation of Minority and Woman-owned business in any and 
all parts of this Contact. 

 
21.0 REFERENCES 

 
Bidders must submit at least 5 references for which the bidder has performed a comparable 
service over the past 10 years, and any municipal references for which the bidder has performed 
comparable work over the past 10 years. A bid may be rejected on the basis of one or more 
references reporting poor past performance. 
 

22.0  REQUIRMENTS 
 

22.1 Bidder shall submit a detailed description of how they will approach dredging for Area II. 
 
22.2 Bidder shall indicate estimated quantity of cubic yards of dredging and disposal that can be 

completed to maximize project funding of $5,000,000 within project description and 
approach. 

 



INFORMATION FOR BIDDERS 

00 04 00-6 

 

22.3 Bidder shall submit a detailed equipment list with bid. 
 
22.4 Project contains the use of State issued funds. Bidder shall provide proof they are pre-

qualified in the appropriate class by Massachusetts DOT. Note: Final official prequalification 
and waiver lists will be provided to the Awarding Authority by the Mass DOT 
Prequalification Team prior to bid opening. 

 
 

--- END OF SECTION --- 

 



BID FORM 

00 30 00-1 

SECTION 00 30 00 

BID FORM 

 

 

The undersigned hereby declares to have carefully examined the annexed form of Contract, 
Specifications, and Drawings therein referred to and also the site upon which the projected work 
is to be performed. Also, included in the Bid Form is a table requiring information on the 
Bidder's qualifications. 

 
A. The undersigned proposes to furnish all labor and materials required for the “2023 Wellfleet 

Harbor Dredging – Area II” in accordance with the Drawings and Specifications prepared 
by GEI Consultants, Inc., 124 Grove Street, Franklin, Massachusetts 02038, for the 
Contract Price specified below, subject to additions and deductions according to the terms 
of the Specifications. 

 
Accompanying this Proposal is a bid deposit in the amount of 5% of the value of the 
Base Bid, which shall become the property of the Town of Wellfleet, MA (Owner) if, in 
case this Proposal shall be accepted by the said Owner, the undersigned shall fail to 
comply with the statutes as herein before specified, if it is a foreign corporation, or in 
any event fails to execute the Contract with, and give a bond to, said Owner, according to 
the requirements of the Notice to Contractor in the form annexed to said form of 
Contract, within the time hereinafter specified. 

 
The undersigned also hereby declares to be the only person interested in this Proposal; 
that it is made without any connection with any other person making any bid for the same 
work; that no person acting for, or employed by the Owner is directly or indirectly 
interested in this Proposal, or in any Contract which may be made under it, or in expected 
profits to arise therefrom; and it is made without directly or indirectly influencing or 
attempting to influence any other person or corporation to bid or to refrain from bidding 
or to influence the amount of the bid of any other person or corporation; and that this 
Proposal is made in good faith, without collusion or connection with any other person 
bidding for the same work; and that this Proposal is made with distinct reference and 
relation to the Bid Documents prepared for this case, and herein mentioned. 

 
B. This bid will include any Addenda issued during the bid period. 

 
C. The bid prices are presented in the following schedule. The Bidder shall provide Unit 

and Total Prices for the project as follows. 
  



BID FORM 

00 30 00-2 

THE OWNER SOLICITS THE FOLLOWING BIDS: 

A. BASE BID 

The Bidder agrees to perform all the Work described in the Contract Documents for the following prices: 

B. BASE BID SCHEDULE 
 

Brief Description of Item Est.  

Quant. 

Unit Unit Price in Words Unit Price in 

Figures 

Total Amount in 

Figures 

1. Mobilization  
(Item 1) 1 LS 

                                                        dollars  

and                                  cents 

---- $  
 

2. Dredging and Disposal 
(Item 2) 100,000 CY 

                                                        dollars  

and                                  cents 

$ $  
 

3. Debris  
(Item 3) 100 Tons 

                                                        dollars  

and                                  cents 

$ $  
 

TOTAL BASE BID 

PRICE: 
     

$  

 
TOTAL BASE BID PRICE WRITTEN IN WORDS: 
 
___________________________________________________________________ DOLLARS 
 
___________________________________________________________________CENTS 
 

  



BID FORM 

00 30 00-3 

C. ADD ALTERNATIVE 1 - ADDITIONAL DREDGING 

The Bidder agrees to perform all the Work described in the Contract Documents for Additional Dredging 
at the presented unit prices. 

 

D. ADD ALTERNATIVE 1 BID SCHEDULE 

 

Brief Description of Item Est.  

Quant. 

Unit Unit Price in Words Unit Price in 

Figures 

Total Amount in 

Figures 

1. Dredging and Disposal 
(Add Alt Item 1) 25,000 CY 

                                                        dollars  

and                                  cents 

$ $  
 

2. Debris 
(Add Alt Item 2) 1 Tons 

                                                        dollars  

and                                  cents 

$ $  
 

TOTAL ADD 

ALTERNATIVE I 

BID PRICE: 

     
$  

 
 

TOTAL ADD ALTERNATIVE I BID PRICE WRITTEN IN WORDS: 
 
___________________________________________________________________ DOLLARS 
 
___________________________________________________________________CENTS 
 
 
BID PROPOSAL INCLUDES ADDENDA NUMBER(S) _____________________ 
 

 

DESCRIPTION OF PAY ITEMS 

Refer to Technical Specifications Section 01 20 00 – Price and Payment Procedures for 
descriptions of the work involved for each pay item. 
 
PROJECT FUNDING 

For performing or causing the performance of all services described in this IFB and the resulting 
contract, the respondent shall be paid an amount not to exceed Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000); 
the maximum amount. This maximum amount shall include all fees, expenses, overhead, general 
administrative costs, profit, and applicable taxes, if any, for all the respondent’s charges arising 
under the resulting contract. 
 
  



BID FORM 

00 30 00-4 

BASIS OF CONTRACT AWARD: 

If the Contract is to be awarded, Owner shall award the Contract to the “lowest responsible and eligible 
bidder” pursuant to General Laws Chapter 30, Section 39M, as amended, offering the lowest price for 
the Base Bid, or Base Bid plus Alternates at the Owner’s option, and whose Bid is in the best interests 
of the Project or Owner. Unit pricing for Alternatives must be the same as used in the Base Bid for the 
same items of work. Such a bidder shall possess the skill, ability, and integrity necessary for the faithful 
performance of the work, shall be able to furnish labor that can work in harmony with all other elements 
of labor employed, or to be employed, in the work, and shall otherwise comply with all applicable 
provisions of law. Contract award shall be subject to availability of an appropriation for funding. 

The Town of Wellfleet, MA reserves the right to add additional funding to the project should it be in its 
best interest for maximizing the construction for the available funding. 

A. The undersigned agrees that, if he/she is selected as Contractor, he/she will within five (5) 
calendar days, after presentation thereof by the Owner, execute the Contract in accordance 
with the terms of this bid and furnish a performance bond and a payment bond for the full 
amount of the Contract Price, each with a Surety company qualified to do business under 
the laws of the Commonwealth and satisfactory to the Owner, the premiums for which are 
to be paid by the Contractor and are included in the Contract Price. 

B. The bidder hereby certifies that in the event he/she is awarded the Contract he/she shall 
comply with the minority manpower ratio and all specific action steps contained in the 
State of Massachusetts Equal Employment Opportunity Anti-Discrimination and 
Affirmative Action Programs. 

C. The undersigned hereby certifies that he/she is able to furnish labor that can work in 
harmony with all other elements of labor employed or to be employed on this work. 

D. The undersigned further certifies under penalties of perjury that this bid is in all respects 
bona fide, fair, and made without collusion or fraud with any other person. As used in 
this subsection, the word "person" shall mean any natural person, joint venture, 
partnership, corporation, or other business or legal entity. 

E. I hereby certify that I have been informed that this project is sales tax exempt. I further 
certify that the bid prices contained herein do not include any calculations for sales tax. 

 

Date:     
 

(Name of General Bidder) 
 

By      
 
 
 
 

 

(Print Name as Signed Above) 
 

 
 

(Title) 
 

 
 

(Business Address) 



BID FORM 

00 30 00-5 

Note: If the bidder is a corporation, indicate State of incorporation; if a partnership, give full 
names and addresses of all partners; and if an individual, give residential address if different 
from business address.  Incorporated in what State:      

 

President: 

Treasurer: 

Secretary 
 

 

If a Partnership: (Name all Partners) 
 

Name of Partner: 

Residence: 

Name of Partner: 

Residence: 
 

 

If an Individual: 

 
 

Name: 

Residence: 
 

 

If an Individual doing business under a firm name: 
 

Name of Firm: 

Name of Individual: 

Business Address: 

Residence: 
 

 

The bidder will give below the name and address of the Surety Company who will sign the 
bonds. 

 

 
 

 
 

 



BID FORM 

00 30 00-6 

BIDDER'S QUALIFICATION 

The Bidder is required to state below work he/she has done of a character similar to that of the 
work included in the proposed contract and to give references that will enable the Owner to 
judge his/her experience and skills to successfully undertake this project. 

 

Project/Amount Description Contact Completion 

Date 

1.    

2.    

3.    



BID FORM 

00 30 00-7  

 

Project/Amount Description Contact Completion 

Date 

4.    

5.    

 

 

 

--- END OF SECTION --- 



 

AGREEMENT 

00 50 00-1  

SECTION 00 50 00 

AGREEMENT 

 

THIS AGREEMENT made as of the        day of in the year 2023 by and between the 
Town of Wellfleet, Massachusetts hereinafter called OWNER, and 
  with legal address and principal place 
of business at  , hereinafter called 
CONTRACTOR. OWNER and CONTRACTOR in consideration of the mutual covenants 
hereinafter set forth, agree as follows: 
 
ARTICLE 1.  WORK 

 

1.1 CONTRACTOR shall perform the Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents. 

 
ARTICLE 2.  ENGINEER 

 

2.1 The Project has been designed by GEI Consultants, Inc., 124 Grove Street Suite 300, 
Franklin, MA 02038 who will act as ENGINEER in connection with completion of the 
Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

 
ARTICLE 3.  CONTRACT TIME 

 

3.1 The Contract Time shall be until no later than March 31, 2024 for completion of all work. 
Work shall commence within TEN (10) CALENDAR DAYS following the effective 
date of this Agreement. In water work shall commence October 1, 2023 or as designated 
by regulatory authorizations. 

 
3.2 CONTRACTOR agrees that the Work shall be prosecuted regularly, diligently, and 

uninterruptedly and at such a rate of progress as will ensure full completion thereof within 
the Contract time stated above. It is expressly understood and agreed, by and between 
CONTRACTOR and OWNER, that the Contract Time is reasonable for the completion 
of the Work, taking into consideration the average climatic range and usual industrial 
conditions prevailing in this locality. 

 

ARTICLE 4.  CONTRACT PRICE 
 

4.1 OWNER will pay CONTRACTOR for performance of the Work, in accordance with the 
Contract Documents in current funds at the Bid Price agreed upon in the 
CONTRACTOR's Bid Form attached to this Agreement. 

 
4.2 The CONTRACTOR agrees to perform all extra work resulting in change orders at a 

Direct Labor Cost percentage as defined herein, or by mutually agreed lump sum basis. 
 

ARTICLE 5.  APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT 
 

5.1  CONTRACTOR shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with the Schedule 



 

AGREEMENT 

00 50 00-2  

indicated by the agreed Bid Form. 
 

ARTICLE 6. PROGRESS AND FINAL PAYMENTS 
 

6.1  OWNER will make progress and final payments on account of the Contract Price on the 
basis of CONTRACTOR's Applications for Payment as recommended by ENGINEER 
and approved by the OWNER, monthly during construction. 

 
ARTICLE 7.  LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 

 

7.1 OWNER and CONTRACTOR recognize that time is of the essence of this Agreement 
and that OWNER will suffer financial loss and inconvenience if the Work is not 
completed within the Contract Time specified in Article 3 above, plus any extensions 
thereof allowed in accordance with the General Conditions. They also recognize the 
delays, expense and difficulties involved in proving, in a legal or arbitration proceeding, 
the actual loss suffered by OWNER if the Work is not completed on time. Accordingly, 
instead of requiring any such proof OWNER and CONTRACTOR agree that as 
liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty) CONTRACTOR shall pay OWNER 
$0.00 per day for each calendar day of delay until the Work is completed. 

 
ARTICLE 8.  ASSURANCE 

 

8.1 CONTRACTOR has familiarized themselves with the nature and extent of the Contract 
Documents, Work, locality, and with all local conditions and Federal, State and local 
laws, ordinances, rules and regulations that in any manner may affect cost, progress or 
performance of the Work. 

 
8.2 CONTRACTOR has studied carefully all reports of investigations and tests of subsurface 

and latent physical conditions at the site or otherwise affecting cost, progress or 
performance of the Work which were relied upon by ENGINEER in the preparation of 
the Drawings and Specifications. 

 

8.3 CONTRACTOR has made or caused to be made examinations, investigations and tests 
and studies of such reports and related data in addition to those referred to in the above 
paragraph as he deems necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract Price 
within the Contract Time and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the 
Contract Documents; and no additional examinations, investigations, tests, reports, or 
similar data are or will be required by him for such purposes. 

 
8.4 CONTRACTOR has correlated the results of all such observations, examinations, 

investigations, tests, reports and data with the terms and conditions of the Contract 
Documents. 

 
8.5 CONTRACTOR has given ENGINEER written notice of any conflict, error or 

discrepancy that he has discovered in the Contract Documents and the written resolution 
thereof by ENGINEER is acceptable to CONTRACTOR. 



 

AGREEMENT 

00 50 00-3  

 
8.6 CONTRACTOR agrees that the Contract Documents are sufficient in scope and detail to 

indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for performance of the 
work. 

 
8.7 Contractor agrees that all disputes occurring outside of the terms herein shall be 

determined in accordance with the “Standard General Conditions of the Construction 
Contract”, prepared by Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee and issued and 
published jointly by the National Society of Professional Engineers and the Construction 
Specifications Institute, and endorsed by The Associated General Contractors of 
America. 

 
ARTICLE 9.  CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

 

9.1 The Contract Documents which comprise the Contract between OWNER and 
CONTRACTOR are attached hereto and made a part hereof and consist of the following: 

 
9.1.1 Notice to Bidders. 
 
9.1.2 Information for Bidders 
 
9.1.3 Bid Form. 
 
9.1.4 This Agreement. 
 
9.1.5 Certificate of Bidder Regarding Equal Employment Opportunity 
 
9.1.6 Certification of Compliance with Tax Laws 
 
9.1.7 Certificate of Non-Collusion 
 

9.1.8 Corporate Signatory Authorization 
 
9.1.9 Construction Performance Bond, and Construction Payment Bond, and any other 

required Bonds. 
 
9.1.10 Certificate of Insurance. 
 
9.1.11 Specifications (as listed in Table of Contents). 
 
9.1.12 Drawing numbered SHEETS 1 of 5 through 5 of 5, inclusive. 
 
9.1.13 Addenda numbers to , inclusive. 
 
9.1.14 Any modification, including Change Orders, duly delivered after execution of 

Agreement. 



 

AGREEMENT 

00 50 00-4  

 
ARTICLE 10.  MISCELLANEOUS 
 

10.1 Neither OWNER nor CONTRACTOR shall, without the prior written consent of the 
other, assign or sublet in whole or in part his interest under any of the Contract 
Documents; and, specifically but without limitation, CONTRACTOR shall not assign any 
monies due or to become due without the prior written consent of OWNER. In case the 
Contractor assigns all or any part of any monies due or to become due under this 
Contract, the instrument of assignment shall contain a clause substantially to the effect 
that it is agreed that the right of the assignee in and to any monies due or to become due 
to the Contractor shall be subject to prior claims of all persons, firms and corporations for 
services rendered or materials supplied for the performance of the Work called for in this 
Contract. 

 
10.2 OWNER and CONTRACTOR each binds himself, his partners, successors, assigns and 

legal representatives in respect to all covenants, agreements and obligations contained in 
the Contract Documents. 

 
10.3 The Contract Documents constitute the entire agreement between OWNER and 

CONTRACTOR and may only be altered, amended or repealed by a Modification. 
 

10.4 Any conflicts between the duties, authority and responsibilities of the Engineer as stated 
in this Agreement and the Engineering Agreement shall be governed by the Engineering 
Agreement. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have signed this Agreement in sextuple. Four 
copies each have been delivered to OWNER, and one copy each to CONTRACTOR and 
ENGINEER. All portions of the Contract Documents have been signed or identified by OWNER 
and CONTRACTOR or by ENGINEER on their behalf. 



 

AGREEMENT 

00 50 00-5  

 

This Agreement shall become effective on ,2023. 
 

OWNER  CONTRACTOR 

BY  BY 

(CORPORATE SEAL)  (CORPORATE SEAL) 

 
Attest 

  
Attest 

 
Address for giving notices 

  
Address for giving notices 

 

 
   

 
 

   

 

As required by Chapter 693 of the Acts of 1964 (M.G.L. Chapter 44 Section 31c), this is to 
certify that the Town of Wellfleet has an appropriation which is adequate to cover the cost of 
this contract and that the Officer executing the contract on behalf of the Town is authorized to do 
so. 

 

 
   

Date Signed 
 

 
   

Date Signed 

Note: If CONTRACTOR is a corporation, a current and valid certificate of corporate vote must 
be supplied when the Contract is signed indicating that the person signing same has the 
authority to do so, holds the office identified and a further certification by the clerk that 
said vote has not been rescinded, changed or modified if the vote is not current as of the 
date of signing. 

--- END OF SECTION --- 



CERTIFICATION OF BIDDER REGARDING EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY

00 55 00-1

SECTION 00 55 00

CERTIFICATION OF BIDDER REGARDING EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY

MUST BE SUBMITTED WITH BID FORM

Instructions:

This certificate is required pursuant to Executive Order 11246 (30 F.R. 12319-25). The 

implementing rules and regulations provide that any bidder or prospective 

CONTRACTOR, or any of their proposed SUBCONTRACTORs, shall state as an initial part 

of the bid or negotiations of the contract whether it has participated in any previous contract 

or subcontract subject to the equal opportunity clause, and if so, whether it has filed all 

compliance report within seven calendar days after bid opening. No contract shall be 

awarded unless such report is submitted.

Certification by Bidder

Name and Address of Bidder (include zip code)

1. Bidder has participated in a previous contract or subcontract subject to the Equal 

Opportunity Clause. Yes No 

2. Compliance reports were required to be filed in connection with such contract or 

subcontract. Yes No 

3. Bidder has filed all compliance reports due under applicable instructions, including 

Monthly Employment Utilization Report (257). Yes No 

4. Have you ever been or are you being considered for sanction due to violation of 

Executive Order 11246, as amended? Yes No 

Name and Title of Signer (please type)

Signature Date

--- END OF SECTION ---



CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH TAX LAWS

00 56 00-1

SECTION 00 56 00

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH TAX LAWS

MUST BE SUBMITTED WITH BID FORM

I, of , certify under 

(principal)              (corporation)

pains and penalties of perjury that said corporation has complied with all the laws of the 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts relating to taxes.

 

(date) (signature)

(title)

Federal Tax Identification Number

--- END OF SECTION ---



CERTIFICATE OF NON-COLLUSION

00 57 00-1

SECTION 00 57 00

CERTIFICATE OF NON-COLLUSION

MUST BE SUBMITTED WITH BID FORM

The undersigned certifies under penalties of perjury that this bid or proposal has been made 

and submitted in good faith and without collusion or fraud with any other person. As used in 

this certification, the word "person" shall mean any natural person, business, partnership, 

corporation, union, committee, club, or other organization, entity, or group of individuals.

By:    Duly 

Authorized Individual

Name of Business

Address

Date

--- END OF SECTION ---



CORPORATE SIGNATORY AUTHORIZATION

00 58 00-1

SECTION 00 58 00 

CORPORATE SIGNATORY AUTHORIZATION

IF APPLICABLE, SUBMIT WITH BID FORM

If the Bidder is a corporation, complete the following certification: At a 

duly authorized meeting of the Board of Directors of the

  held on  

(Name of Corporation) (Date)

at which all the Directors were present or waived notice, it was 

VOTED that, 

(Name) (Officer)

of this company is authorized to execute contracts and bonds in the name and 

behalf of said company, and affix its corporate seal thereto, and such 

execution of any contract or obligation in this company's name on its behalf 

by such of the

(Officer) 

company, shall be valid and binding upon this company.

I hereby certify that I am the Clerk of the 

that is the duly elected  

(Officer)

of said company, and that the above vote has not been amended or rescinded and remains in full 

force and effect as of the date of the Contract.

A true copy,

Attest  

(Clerk)

Place of Business 

(Corporate Seal)

--- END OF SECTION ---



PERFORMANCE BOND
SECTION 00 61 00-1

SECTION 00 61 00

CONSTRUCTION PERFORMANCE BOND

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: That we  

  a  
(Name of Contractor) (Corporation, Partnership, Joint Venture or Individual)

hereinafter called "Principal" and 
(Surety)

of hereinafter 
(Address) (City, State, Zip Code)

called the "Surety" and licensed by the State Division of Insurance to do business under the laws 
of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, are held and firmly bound to the Town of Wellfleet, 
Massachusetts, hereinafter called "Owner", in the penal sum of
  Dollars 
($ ) in lawful money of the United States, for the payment of which 
sum well and truly to be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators and 
successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents.

THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION is such that Whereas, the Principal entered 
into a certain contract with the Owner, dated the _ day of , 2023, 
a copy of which is hereto attached and made a part hereof for the construction described as 
follows:

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

NOW, THEREFORE, if the Principal shall well, truly and faithfully perform its duties, 
all the undertakings, covenants, terms, conditions, and agreements of said contract during the 
original term thereof, and any extensions thereof which may be granted by the Owner, with or 
without notice to the Surety, and if he shall satisfy all claims and demands incurred under such 
contract, and shall fully indemnify and save harmless the Owner from all costs and damages 
which it may suffer by reason of failure to do so, and shall reimburse and repay the Owner all 
outlay and expense which the Owner may incur in making good any default, then this obligation 
shall be void; otherwise to remain in full force and effect.

PROVIDED, FURTHER, that the said Surety, for value received hereby stipulates and 
agrees that no change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of the contract or to 
the work to be performed thereunder or the specifications accompanying the same shall in any 
way affect its obligation on this bond, and it does hereby waive notice of any such change, 
extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of this contract or to the work or to the 
specifications.

PROVIDED, FURTHER, that no final settlement between the Owner and the Contractor 
shall abridge the right of any beneficiary hereunder, whose claim may be unsatisfied.



PERFORMANCE BOND
SECTION 00 61 00-2

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this instrument is executed in six (6) counterparts, each one
of which shall be deemed an original, this the    
2023.

ATTEST:

day of ,

Principal

(Principal Secretary)
By 

    
(SEAL)
Witness as to Principal

(Address-Zip Code)

(Address-Zip Code)

ATTEST:

Surety

By  
(Attorney-in-Fact)

         
(SEAL)
Witness as to Surety

(Address-Zip Code)

(Address-Zip Code)
NOTE: Date of Bond must not be prior to date of Contract.  If Contractor is a Partnership, all 

partners should execute Bond.

--- END OF SECTION ---



PAYMENT BOND
SECTION 00 62 00-1

SECTION 00 62 00 

CONSTRUCTION PAYMENT BOND

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: That we 
(Name of Contractor) 

a , hereinafter called “Principal” and 
(Corporation, Partnership, Joint Venture or Individual)

 of ,  
(Surety) (City/Town) (State)

called the "Surety" and licensed by the State Division of Insurance to do business under the laws 
of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, are held and firmly bound to the Town of Wellfleet, 
Massachusetts, hereinafter called "Owner", in the penal sum of

(In Words)
Dollars ($ ) in lawful 

money of the United States, for the payment of which sum well and truly to be made, we bind 
ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators and successors, jointly and severally, firmly by 
these presents.

THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION is such that Whereas, the Principal entered
Into a certain contract with the Owner, dated the ____day of_______, 2023, a copy of which is 
hereto attached and made a part hereof for the construction described as follows: 

Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Wellfleet, Massachusetts

NOW, THEREFORE, if the Principal shall promptly make payment to all persons, firms, 
subcontractors, and corporations furnishing materials for or performing labor in the prosecution 
of the work provided for in such contract, and any authorized extension or modification thereof, 
including all amounts due for materials, lubricants, oil, gasoline, diesel fuel, repairs on 
machinery, equipment and tools, consumed or used in connection with the construction of such 
work, and all insurance premiums on said work, and for all labor, performed in such work 
whether by subcontractor or otherwise, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise to remain in 
full force and effect.

PROVIDED, FURTHER, that the said Surety, for value received hereby stipulates and 
agrees that no change, extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of the contract or to 
the work to be performed thereunder or the specifications accompanying the same shall in any 
way affect its obligation on this bond, and it does hereby waive notice of any such change, 
extension of time, alteration or addition to the terms of this contract or to the work or to the 
specifications.

PROVIDED, FURTHER, that no final settlement between the Owner and the Contractor 
shall abridge the right of any beneficiary hereunder, whose claim may be unsatisfied.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this instrument is executed in six (6) counterparts, each one
of which shall be deemed an original, this the    2023.



PAYMENT BOND
SECTION 00 62 00-2

ATTEST:
day of ,

Principal

(Principal Secretary)
By  

    
(SEAL)
Witness as to Principal

(Address-Zip Code)

(Address-Zip Code)

ATTEST:

Surety

By    
(Attorney-in-Fact)

    
(SEAL)
Witness as to Surety

(Address-Zip Code)

(Address-Zip Code)
NOTE: If Contractor is a Partnership, all partners should execute Bond.

--- END OF SECTION ---



CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE

SECTION 00 65 00-1

SECTION 00 65 00 

CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE

This is to certify that the (Company) has issued 
the policies listed below, that these policies are written in accordance with the Company's 
standard policies and endorsements, except as indicated below or as noted in the 
attachments hereto, which policies and endorsements will be made available to OWNER 
upon request, that they provide coverage and limits of liability shown with respect to the 
insurance indicated, that they are in force on this date, that all deductible amounts are 
indicated below, and that this Certificate is furnished in accordance with and for the 
purpose of satisfying the requirements of OWNER in connection with the award and 
performance of a contract or agreement between the Town of Wellfleet, MA (OWNER) 
and

1. Name of Insured  

2. Address of Insured  

3. Location and Description of Work  

Project Contract No.

Coverage and Limits of Liability
(at least as shown below)

Bodily Injury Property Damage
Liability Liability

Policy No. Effective Date Expiration Date Each Occurrence Aggregate

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

A. The General Contractor shall purchase and maintain such insurance as will 
protect him from claims under worker’s compensation acts and from claims 
for damages because of bodily injury, including death, and property damage 
which might arise from and during operations under this contract, whether 
such operations be by himself or by a Subcontractor or anyone directly 
or indirectly employed by either of them.

B. Contractor shall not commence work under this Contract until he has 
obtained all insurance required herein nor until such insurance has been 
approved by the Owner.  Contractor shall not allow any Subcontractor 
to commence work until the insurance required of the Subcontractor has 
been obtained and approved.



CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE

SECTION 00 65 00-2

C. Subcontracts: Contractor shall either (1) require each Subcontractor to 
procure and to maintain during the life of his Subcontract, Subcontractor 
General Liability and Property Damage Insurance of same type and in such 
manner as specified herein, or (2) Insure activities of his Subcontractors on 
his own policy.

D. All insurance required by this Document shall be provided by a Best “A+ 
VIII” rated company, or companies, authorized to do business in the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts and satisfactory to the owner and shall 
be written for not less than any limits of liability specified herein, or 
required by law, whichever is greater.

E. Certificates: Certificates of Insurance acceptable to the Owner shall be 
submitted in triplicate to the Owner simultaneously with the execution of 
the Contract. Certificates shall indicate that broad form Contractual 
Liability coverage is in force, as well as deletions of the XCU exclusions. 
Certificates shall contain a provision that the insurance company will 
notify the Owner by registered mail at least (60) calendar days in advance 
of any cancellation, non-renewal, change or expiration of the policies. 
Certificates shall include description of coverage, effective dates and 
expiration dates of policies and shall clearly indicate all exclusions (other 
than standard policy form exclusions contained in the basic policy) which 
will be added to the policies provided.

F. Deductibles: In the event of paid claims, Contractor shall bear costs of 
any amounts deductible.

G. The Owner shall be named as additional insured under all policies.

H. Before any blasting is done, Contractor shall present evidence that blasting 
damage is included in his insurance coverage.

COVERAGE AND LIMITS

A. Workers’ Compensation Insurance:

The Contractor shall maintain and cause all subcontractors and lower tier 
contractors to maintain Workers Compensation and Employers Liability 
Insurance in accordance with the law and regulations of the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts. The limits of liability provided shall be 
as follows:

Coverage A: Statutory
Coverage B: $500,000/$500,000/$500,000



CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE

SECTION 00 65 00-3

B. Contractor’s Liability Insurance

The Contractor shall purchase and maintain Commercial General Liability 
Insurance and cause all subcontractors and lower tier contractors to maintain the 
same throughout the term of the Work. Commercial General Liability Insurance 
must comply with all applicable broad form endorsements. Such insurance shall 
be on the 1986 standard insurance Service Office occurrence coverage form (or 
any later amendments or revisions thereto).

Limits of liability to be provided shall be as follows:
Bodily Injury and Property Damages $1,000,000
Personal Injury and Advertising Injury $1,000,000
General Aggregate $2,000,000
Products/Completed Operations Aggregate $2,000,000
Medical Payments $ 10,000

Coverage shall specifically include blanket contractual liability covering 
Contractor’s indemnity obligations as contained in this Document. The Town of 
Wellfleet, MA must be added as an additional Insured as their interest may 
appear.

C. Business Automobile Liability:

The Contractor shall maintain and cause all subcontractors and lower tier 
contractors to maintain business automobile liability insurance covering all 
owned, non-owned, leased, rented and hired automobiles (symbol 1). The limits 
of liability shall be as follows:

Bodily Injury and Property Damage:  $1,000,000 per occurrence

Automobile physical damage coverage shall be at the option of the Contractor, 
all subcontractors and lower tier contractors. The Owner shall not be liable for 
physical loss or damage to any owned, non-owned, leased, rented or hired 
automobile.

The Town of Wellfleet, MA must be added as an additional insured as their interest 
may appear.

D. Umbrella or Excess Liability

Umbrella or Excess Liability shall be provided in excess of the primary limits 
of liability required above. Coverage shall be at least as broad as provided in 
the primary coverage required. The limits of liability to be provided shall be as 
follows:



CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE

SECTION 00 65 00-4

$2,000,000 per occurrence Bodily Injury and Property Damage
$2,000,000 per occurrence Personal Injury and Advertising Injury
$2,000,000 General Aggregate
$2,000,000 Products and Completed Operations Aggregate

Coverage shall specifically include blanket contractual liability covering Contractor’s 
indemnity obligations as contained in this Document. The Town of Wellfleet, MA 
must be added as an additional Insured as their interest may appear.

INDEMNIFICATION

The Contractor shall take responsibility for the work and take all precautions 
for preventing injuries to persons and property in or about the work and shall 
bear all losses resulting to it on account of amount or character of the work. 
The Contractor shall pay or cause payment to be made for all labor performed 
or furnished and for all materials used or employed in carrying out the Contract. 
The Contractor shall assume the defense of, and indemnify and save harmless, 
the Engineer, the Owner, and their officers and agents from all claims relating to 
labor performed or furnished and materials used or employed for the work: to 
inventions, patents and patent rights used in and in doing the work unless injuries 
to any person or corporation received or sustained by or from the Contractor and 
its employees, and subcontractors and employees, in doing the work, or in 
consequence of any improper materials, implements or labor used or employed 
therein; and to any act, omission or neglect of the Contractor and its employees 
therein.

PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

The Contractor shall provide the Owner with a performance bond and a labor 
and materials or payment bond executed by a surety company licensed by the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

--- END OF SECTION ---



GENERAL CONDITIONS

00 70 00-i

SECTION 00 70 00

GENERAL CONDITIONS

Index

ARTICLE I - GENERAL

ARTICLE II - DEFINITIONS

ARTICLE III - INTERPRETATION OF CONTRACT 

ARTICLE IV - DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS 

ARTICLE V - NOT TO SUBLET OR ASSIGN 

ARTICLE VI - INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

ARTICLE VII - ALTERATIONS OF WORK 

ARTICLE VIII - EXTRA WORK

ARTICLE IX - PAYMENTS

ARTICLE X - GUARANTEE

ARTICLE XI - RIGHT OF THE OWNER TO TERMINATE CONTRACT 

ARTICLE XII - DISPUTED WORK, DETERMINATION OR ORDER 

ARTICLE XIII - MINORITY PROCUREMENT GOALS

ARTICLE XIV - OSHA 10 TRAINING



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

00 70 00-1

SECTION 00 70 00 

GENERAL CONDITIONS

ARTICLE I - GENERAL

A. Every provision of this Contract shall have the same force and effect as if included and 
repeated in every division or subdivision of the Contract under which it may apply.

B. Headings, letterings, and numbers of the various divisions and subdivisions of and in the 
Contract are intended for convenience of reference only and have no force or effect 
whatever on the intent of the Contract.

ARTICLE II - DEFINITIONS

Wherever the words defined in this Article or pronouns used in their stead occur in this Contract, 
they shall have the meanings here given.

A. The words "Contract Documents" and "the Contract" shall mean this Contract and shall 
include Notice to Bidders, Information for Bidders, Proposal, Bid Bond, Agreement, 
Performance and Payment Bond, General Conditions, Special Conditions, Construction 
Specifications, Drawings, Addenda, Notice of Award, Notice to Proceed, the Change 
Orders. The Contract Documents represent the entire and integrated agreement between 
the Owner and the Contractor. The Contract shall not be construed to create any contractual 
relationship of any kind between the Engineer and the Contractor, but the Engineer 
shall be entitled to performance of obligations intended for his benefit and to 
enforcement thereof. Nothing in the Contract Documents shall create any contractual 
relationship between the Owner or the Engineer and any Subcontractor.

B. The word "Owner" or "Project Sponsor" or "Awarding Authority," shall mean the Town of 
Wellfleet, MA.

C. The word "State" shall mean the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

D. The word "Commonwealth" shall mean the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

E. The words "Approval of the Owner" or "Approved by the Owner," "Approval of the 
Engineer" or "Approved by the Engineer," shall mean approval in writing.

F. The word "Contractor" shall mean the party termed as such by the Agreement, his/her 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, or assigns as regards the obligations of the 
Contract.

G. "Subcontractor." A person, firm, or corporation supplying labor and materials, or only 
labor, for work at the site of the project under separate Contract or agreement with the 
Contractor.



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

00 70 00-2

H. The word "Contract Drawings" or words of like effect shall mean the Drawings listed by 
that number and title herein.

I. The words "as permitted," "as required," or words of like effect shall mean that the 
permission or requirement of the Engineer is intended; the words "approved," 
"acceptable," "satisfactory," or words of like import shall mean approved by, or 
acceptable to, or satisfactory to the Engineer - and the words "necessary," "suitable," 
"equal," or words of like import shall mean necessary, suitable, or equal in the opinion of 
the Engineer.

J. The Owner is treated as if it were of singular number and neuter gender and the Contractor 
and the Engineer are treated as if each were of the singular number and masculine 
gender.

K. The words "Notice to Proceed" shall mean a written notice to the Contractor of the date 
on which he is to begin the prosecution of the work for which he has contracted.

L. Any communication to the Owner shall be addressed to the Town of Wellfleet, MA.

M. The word "work" shall mean all performance, including the furnishing of materials, labor, 
tools, equipment, and incidentals required of the Contractor under the terms of this 
Contract, including the transportation of the materials and supplies to or from the location 
of the project by employees of the Contractor and any subcontractor.

ARTICLE III - INTERPRETATION OF CONTRACT

The Contractor shall at his own proper cost and expense provide and do everything necessary to 
prepare for and perform everything required under the conditions and requirements of the 
Contract, and he hereby agrees that the Engineer shall in the first instance be the interpreter of 
the Contract Documents, and all the work contemplated and described therein shall be so done as 
to satisfy him that its intent is fulfilled. The Engineer shall promptly render impartial decision 
on all claims of either party against the other and on all other matters governed by this intent, 
including questions as to the execution and progress of the work, the quality and types of 
materials and workmanship, the suitability of methods, and costs and values. The determination 
and decision of the Engineer shall be final and binding on both parties and shall be a condition 
precedent to the right of the Contractor to receive any money hereunder, except as to those areas 
of disputed work covered under ARTICLE XII - DISPUTED WORK, DETERMINATION OR 
ORDER.

ARTICLE IV - DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

The Owner will furnish to the Contractor, at no charge electronic copies of the Contract Drawings, 
and Contract Specifications. Hard copies of the Contract Drawings and Contract Specifications 
shall be provided at the Contractor's expense.



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

00 70 00-3

The Plans, Drawings, Specifications and other data and documents prepared for use in 
connection with this Contract are intended to be complementary to each other, but should any 
discrepancy appear or any misunderstanding arise as to the import of anything contained in them 
or any of them, except to those areas of disputed work covered by ARTICLE XII - DISPUTED 
WORK, DETERMINATION OR ORDER the explanation or decisions of the Engineer shall be 
final and binding on the parties hereto.

Any errors or omissions in Plans, Drawings or Specifications or in other data or documents may 
be corrected by the Engineer when such correction is necessary for the proper fulfillment of their 
intention as construed by him, such correction to govern only from the time that the Engineer 
gives notice in writing thereof to the Contractor.

The Contractor shall not take any advantage or make any claim for damages on account of any 
omission, discrepancy or error in any soundings, borings, estimates, schedules, specifications, 
drawings, plans, or other data or documents furnished him, but shall report same to the Engineer 
as soon as it comes to his knowledge.

ARTICLE V - NOT TO SUBLET OR ASSIGN

The Contractor shall keep the Contract under his control; and shall not assign, by power of 
attorney or otherwise, any portion of said work, or any moneys payable under the Contract or his 
claim thereto, unless by the previous approval of the Owner and the Surety. No part of this work 
shall be sublet except to parties skilled in and equipped properly for the same and satisfactory to 
the Engineer and approved by the Owner.

ARTICLE VI - INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

A. The General Contractor shall purchase and maintain such insurance as will protect him 
from claims under worker’s compensation acts and from claims for damages because of 
bodily injury, including death, and property damage which might arise from and during 
operations under this contract, whether such operations be by himself or by a 
Subcontractor or anyone directly or indirectly employed by either of them.

B. Contractor shall not commence work under this Contract until he has obtained all insurance 
required herein nor until such insurance has been approved by the Owner. Contractor 
shall not allow any Subcontractor to commence work until the insurance required of the 
Subcontractor has been obtained and approved.

C. Subcontracts: Contractor shall either (1) require each Subcontractor to procure and to 
maintain during the life of his Subcontract, Subcontractor General Liability and Property 
Damage Insurance of same type and in such manner as specified herein, or (2) Insure 
activities of his Subcontractors on  his  own policy.



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

00 70 00-4

D. All insurance required by this Document shall be provided by a Best “A+ VIII” rated 
company, or companies, authorized to do business in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts 
and satisfactory to the owner and shall be written for not less than any limits of liability 
specified herein, or required by law, whichever is greater.

E. Certificates: Certificates of Insurance acceptable to the Owner shall be submitted in 
triplicate to the Owner simultaneously with the execution of the Contract. Certificates 
shall indicate that broad form Contractual Liability coverage is in force, as well as 
deletions of the XCU exclusions.   Certificates shall contain a provision that the insurance 
company will notify the Owner by registered mail at least (60) calendar days in advance 
of any cancellation, non-renewal, change or expiration of the policies. Certificates shall 
include description of coverage, effective dates and expiration dates of policies and shall 
clearly indicate all exclusions (other than standard policy form exclusions contained in 
the basic policy) which will be added to the policies provided.

F. Deductibles: In the event of paid claims, Contractor shall bear costs of any amounts 
deductible.

G. The Owner shall be named as additional insured under all policies.

H. Before any blasting is done, Contractor shall present evidence that blasting damage 
is included in his insurance coverage.

COVERAGE AND LIMITS

A. Workers’ Compensation Insurance:

The Contractor shall maintain and cause all subcontractors and lower tier 
contractors to maintain Workers Compensation and Employers Liability Insurance 
in accordance with the law and regulations of the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts. The limits of liability provided shall be as follows:

Coverage A: Statutory
Coverage B: $500,000/$500,000/$500,000

B. Contractor’s Liability Insurance

The Contractor shall purchase and maintain Commercial General Liability 
Insurance and cause all subcontractors and lower tier contractors to maintain the 
same throughout the term of the Work. Commercial General Liability Insurance 
must comply with all applicable broad form endorsements. Such insurance shall be 
on the 1986 standard insurance Service Office occurrence coverage form (or any 
later amendments or revisions thereto).



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

00 70 00-5

Limits of liability to be provided shall be as follows:
Bodily Injury and Property Damages $1,000,000
Personal Injury and Advertising Injury $1,000,000
General Aggregate $2,000,000
Products/Completed Operations Aggregate $2,000,000
Medical Payments $ 10,000

Coverage shall specifically include blanket contractual liability covering Contractor’s 
indemnity obligations as contained in this Document. The Town of Wellfleet, MA 
must be added as an additional Insured as their interest may appear.

C. Business Automobile Liability:

The Contractor shall maintain and cause all subcontractors and lower tier contractors 
to maintain business automobile liability insurance covering all owned, non-owned, 
leased, rented and hired automobiles (symbol 1). The limits of liability shall be as 
follows:

Bodily Injury and Property Damage:  $1,000,000 per occurrence

Automobile physical damage coverage shall be at the option of the Contractor, all 
subcontractors and lower tier contractors. The Owner shall not be liable for 
physical loss or damage to any owned, non-owned, leased, rented or hired automobile.

The Town of Wellfleet, MA must be added as an additional insured as their interest 
may appear.

D. Umbrella or Excess Liability

Umbrella or Excess Liability shall be provided in excess of the primary limits of 
liability required above. Coverage shall be at least as broad as provided in the 
primary coverage required. The limits of liability to be provided shall be as 
follows:

$2,000,000 per occurrence Bodily Injury and Property Damage
$2,000,000 per occurrence Personal Injury and Advertising Injury
$2,000,000 General Aggregate
$2,000,000 Products and Completed Operations Aggregate

Coverage shall specifically include blanket contractual liability covering Contractor’s 
indemnity obligations as contained in this Document. The Town of Wellfleet, MA must 
be added as an additional Insured as their interest may appear.



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

00 70 00-6

INDEMNIFICATION

A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, and in addition to any other 
obligations of Contractor under the Contract  or otherwise, Contractor shall indemnify and 
hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, 
employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against 
all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of 
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other 
dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the performance of the Work, provided 
that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, 
or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), 
including the loss of use resulting therefrom but only to the extent caused by any negligent 
act or omission of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity 
directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work or anyone for 
whose acts any of them may be liable.

B. In any and all claims against Owner or Engineer or any of their officers, directors, members, 
partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors by any employee (or the survivor 
or personal representative of such employee) of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, 
or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of 
the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the indemnification obligation 
under Paragraph A shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type 
of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for Contractor or any such 
Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity under workers’ compensation acts, 
disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts.

C. The indemnification obligations of Contractor under Paragraph A shall not extend to the 
liability of Engineer and Engineer’s officers, directors, members, partners, employees, 
agents, consultants and subcontractors arising out of:

1. the preparation or approval of, or the failure to prepare or approve maps, Drawings, 
opinions, reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, or Specifications; or

2. giving directions or instructions, or failing to give them, if that is the primary cause 
of the injury or damage.



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

00 70 00-7

PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS

The Contractor shall provide the Owner with a performance bond and a labor and materials or 
payment bond executed by a surety company licensed by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

ARTICLE VII - ALTERATIONS OF WORK

A. The Owner may make alterations in the form or character of any of the work done, or to 
be done, and in the requirements of the Contract Documents, and the Engineer may order 
in writing such alterations to be made. Such order shall be by means of a written Change 
Order, supplemented with drawings when in the opinion of the Engineer it is necessary, 
which shall include a description of the change with revised specifications, estimated 
quantities, and prices of the work involved in the alterations made. Each Change Order 
shall make provisions for revising the time of completion of all work to be done under 
this Contract or shall state that no revision of time is necessary. All such Change Orders 
shall be approved in writing by the Owner’s Chief Procurement Officer (Town 
Administrator) and accepted in writing by the Contractor before they become effective. 
If the Owner and Contractor do not agree on the revised prices of the work involved in 
the alterations, the work shall be paid for on the cost-plus basis as provided for Extra 
Work in ARTICLE VIII - EXTRA WORK.

B. All work involved in the alterations shall be made under the terms and as a part of this 
Contract, and the security for the performance of the Contract shall in no ways be 
invalidated but shall be held to secure in like manner the performance of the work 
involved in the alterations made under the Contract.

ARTICLE VIII - EXTRA WORK

A. For the purpose of this Contract all Change Orders which include extra work shall be 
referred to as Extra Work Orders.

B. The Contractor shall do any work in addition to the obligations required under the 
Contract in the original form of its Contract Documents and not herein otherwise provided 
for as ordered in writing by the Engineer. Such work shall be termed Extra Work. All 
orders for Extra Work shall contain particular reference to this Article. Before any work 
is commenced under any Extra Work Order, the order shall be approved by the Owner’s 
Chief Procurement Officer (Town Administrator) in writing and accepted in writing by the 
Contractor. It is understood that the Owner may, at its option, have other parties do work 
in connection with the work to be done under this Contract, which is not within the limits 
or is not an integral part of the work herein specified, in lieu of having such work done 
as Extra Work under this Contract.

C. All requirements of this Contract and its documents shall be applicable to Extra Work. 
The Contractor shall not receive any compensation for Extra Work, regardless of its 
nature, unless the work was ordered done in the manner prescribed above. The Contractor 
waives all rights to claim any compensation for any work done except (a) that provided 
for payment as stated in the Proposal, (b) alterations of the work as provided for in 



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

00 70 00-8

ARTICLE VII ALTERATIONS OF WORK, and (c) that provided for as Extra Work 
ordered done as described in this Article.

D. All written orders for Extra Work issued by the Engineer shall be accompanied by 
drawings, if in the opinion of the Engineer drawings are necessary: all orders shall 
describe the work to be done, shall make provisions for revising the time of completion 
of all work to be done under this Contract or shall state no revision of time is necessary, 
and shall prescribe unit prices or the total cost of the Extra Work agreed to by the Owner 
and Contractor for the work to be done. If the Owner and the Contractor do not agree on 
unit prices or the total cost of the Extra Work to be done, the orders for Extra Work shall 
provide for the work to be done on a cost-plus basis, so that the Contractor will receive 
for full compensation for providing and doing everything required to prepare for and 
perform everything included in the Extra Work Order the actual cost to him of the 
following items applicable to the Extra Work Order:

1. All labor directly on the Contractor's payroll at specified rates;

2. Salaries of Contractor's employees stationed at the field office, engaged at shops 
or on the road in expediting the production or transportation of material;

3. Fees for licenses and permits required particularly for the extra work involved and 
not required for the work as planned in the original Contract;

4. Minor expenses, such as telephone service, express, and similar petty cash items;

5. Cost of hand tools not owned by the workmen consumed in the prosecution of the 
work, and depreciation of such tools used but not consumed and which shall 
remain the property of the Contractor;

6. Cost of moving equipment from and to the Contractor's yard; and

7. Cost of Bonds

E. To the cost of items 1 to 7, inclusive, there shall be added a fixed fee to be agreed upon 
but not to exceed 15 percent of the total of items 1 to 7, inclusive. The fee shall be 
compensation to cover the cost of general supervision, overhead, profit, and other general 
expenses.

F. If the work is done by a subcontractor, and the cost is determined on the actual cost basis, 
there shall be added an additional fixed fee to be agreed upon but not to exceed 5 percent 
of the total of item 1 to 7, inclusive. This additional fee shall be compensation to cover 
the General Contractor. In no case shall the combined overhead and profit allowed to the 
Subcontractor and General Contractor exceed 20 percent.

G. The Contractor shall furnish to the Engineer an itemized statement of all costs incurred in 
Extra Work during any calendar month on or about the first of the next following month. 
All quantities (labor, equipment, etc.) shall be agreed upon on daily basis, in writing, by 
the Contractor and Engineer.



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

00 70 00-9

H. Unless otherwise specifically provided for in the Extra Work Orders, the compensation 
agreed to, whether unit prices, total cost or the cost-plus basis as described above, 
includes payment for any damages or expense caused the Contractor by any delays to 
other work to be done under the Contract resulting from or on account of Extra Work, 
and the Contractor waives all rights to any compensation for such damage or expense 
except as may be provided for in the Extra Work Orders.

ARTICLE IX - PAYMENTS

A. The Owner shall pay and the Contractor shall receive as full compensation for providing 
and doing everything required to prepare for and perform everything called for by this 
Contract, and as full compensation also for all loss or damage arising out of the nature of 
the work under the Contract, or from the action of the elements, or from fire, or from any 
unforeseen obstructions or difficulties which may be encountered in the prosecution of 
the said work; also for all expenses incurred by, or in consequence of, the suspension or 
discontinuance of said work in accordance with the Contract, including all work 
incidental thereto, the prices stated in the bid Schedule of Prices, or the prices revised, if 
such are revised as provided for in ARTICLE VII ALTERATIONS OF WORK, and also 
the cost of Extra Work authorized under ARTICLE VIII EXTRA WORK.

B. It is understood and agreed that the Contractor shall receive payment in accordance with 
the Schedule indicated under the lump sum item.

C. A retainage of 5 percent of the total amount of work invoiced shall be retained by the 
Town until the construction work has been completed to the approval of the Engineer. The 
full Contract price shall be paid to the Contractor only after completion of all work to be 
done and final acceptance has been given by the Owner and Engineer in writing.

ARTICLE X - GUARANTEE

A. The Contractor guarantees that the work and services to be performed under the Contract, 
and all workmanship, materials and equipment performed, furnished, used, or installed in 
the construction of the same, shall be free from defects and flaws, and shall be performed 
and furnished in strict accordance with the Drawings, Specifications and other Contract 
Documents, until notice of substantial completion following acceptance of the post dredge 
survey. Said guarantees are in addition to any other guarantees provided by law or 
otherwise.

B. If at any time within the said period of guarantee any part of the work requires repairing, 
correction or replacement, the Owner may notify the Contractor in writing to make the 
required repairs, corrections, or replacements. If the Contractor neglects to commence 
making such repairs, corrections, or replacements to the satisfaction of the Owner within 
seven (7) days from the date of receipt of such notice or having commenced failed to 
prosecute such work with diligence, the Owner may employ other persons to make the 
same, and all direct and indirect costs of making said repairs, corrections or replacements, 
including compensation for additional professional services, shall be paid by the 
Contractor.



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

00 70 00-10

ARTICLE XI - RIGHT OF THE OWNER TO TERMINATE CONTRACT

A. If the Contractor shall be adjudged bankrupt or if he shall make a general assignment for 
the benefit of his creditors, or if a receiver shall be appointed of his property, or if the 
work to be done under this Contract shall be abandoned, or if this Contract or any part 
thereof shall be sublet without the previous written consent of the Owner, or if the 
Contract or any claim thereunder shall be assigned by the Contractor otherwise than as 
herein specified, or if at any time the Engineer shall certify in writing to the Owner that 
the rate of progress of the work or any part thereof is unsatisfactory or that the work or 
any part thereof is unnecessarily or unreasonably delayed, or that the Contractor has 
violated any of the provisions of this Contract, the Owner may notify the Contractor to 
discontinue all work or any part thereof; and thereupon, the Contractor shall discontinue 
such work or such part thereof as the Owner may designate and charge the entire expense 
of so completing the work or part thereof to the Contractor; and for such completion, the 
Owner for itself or its contractors may take possession of and use or cause to be used in 
the completion of the work or part thereof any of such materials, machinery, implements 
and tools of every description as may be found upon the site of the Contractor's operations. 
The Owner may at its option require the surety or sureties to complete the Contract.

B. All expenses charged under this Article shall be deducted and paid by the Owner out of 
any money then due or to become due the Contractor under this Contract or any part 
thereof; and in such accounting, the Owner shall not be held to obtain the lowest figures 
for the work of completing the Contract or any part thereof, or for insuring its proper 
completion, but all sums actually paid therefore shall be charged to the Contractor. In 
case the expenses so charged are less than the sum which would have been payable under 
this Contract if the same had been completed by the Contractor, the Contractor shall be 
entitled to receive the difference, but only for work actually completed by the Contractor. 
If such expenses shall exceed the said sum, the Contractor shall pay the amount of the 
excess to the Owner upon completion of the work without further demand being made 
therefor.

ARTICLE XII - DISPUTED WORK, DETERMINATION OR ORDER

A. If the Contractor is of the opinion that any work ordered to be done as Contract work by 
the Engineer is in fact Extra Work and not Contract work, or that any determination or 
order of the Engineer violates the provisions of this Contract, he must promptly, and 
before proceeding with such work or complying with the determination or order, notify 
the Owner and Engineer in writing of his contentions with respect thereto and request a 
final determination thereon.

B. If the Owner determines that the work is Contract work and not Extra Work, or that the 
determination or order complained of is proper, it will direct the Engineer to order the 
Contractor to proceed and the Contractor must promptly comply. However, in order to 
reserve the right to claim compensation for such work or damages resulting from such 
compliance, the Contractor must, within five days after receiving notice of the Owner's 
determination, notify the Owner and Engineer in writing that the work is being performed 
or that the determination is being complied with under protest.



GENERAL CONDITIONS 

00 70 00-11

C. If the Contractor fails to so appeal to the Owner and Engineer, or having appealed, should 
the Contractor fail to notify the Owner and Engineer in writing of his doing the work 
under protest, the Contractor shall be deemed to have waived any claim for extra 
compensation or damages. No oral appeals or oral protests shall be deemed as 
compliance with the provisions of this Article.

ARTICLE XIII – MINORITY PROCUREMENT GOALS

A. Under Massachusetts Executive Order 237, it is the policy of the Commonwealth to 
promote the fullest participation of all citizens in resources provided by municipal 
government. Therefore, the Town of Wellfleet, MA invites the participation of minority 
and women owned businesses in any and all parts of the contract.

B. The Town of Wellfleet, MA invites all qualified women and minority owned business 
firms to respond to bid invitations.

ARTICLE XIV – OSHA 10 TRAINING

All employers must certify at the time of the bid that all employees to be employed at the jobsite 
have successfully taken an OSHA 10-hour course. Documentation of successful course 
completion for each employee must be submitted with the first certified payroll report (CPR) 
on which the employee’s name appears. Employers shall attach copies of the OSHA 10-hour 
cards to the first certified payroll report.

--- END OF SECTION ---



SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

00 80 00-i

SECTION 00 80 00

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Index

NUMBER TITLE

1. COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION

2. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES

3. SHOP DRAWINGS AND CERTIFICATES

4. PROTECTION OF WORK AND MATERIALS

5. CHANGED CONDITIONS

6. SUPERINTENDENCE, SKILLED LABOR, AND EMPLOYEES

7. PROTECTION OF UTILITIES

8. FIRE PROTECTION

9. USE OF PORTIONS BEFORE ENTIRE COMPLETION OF WORK

10. MASSACHUSETTS SALES TAX EXEMPTION

11. ANTI-DISCRIMINATION CLAUSE

12. MISPLACED MATERIALS

13. WAGE RATES

14. CONTRACT AND REFERENCE DRAWINGS



SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

00 80 00-2

SECTION 00 80 00

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

1. COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION

a. The Contractor shall commence work within ten (10) calendar days after the 
dates specified in the Notice to Proceed and shall fully complete the work as 
herein prescribed no later than December 31, 2023, unless otherwise approved in 

writing between the Town and Contractor.

b. It is specifically understood that "Fully Complete" as used herein shall mean full 
and complete dredging and disposal of dredge material and any other additional 
work by incorporation of Add Alternatives and/or change order including, without 
limitation, all incidentals. Substantial performance is not completion within the 
meaning of the contract.

2. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES

a. Contractor agrees to pay as liquidated damages, the sum of $0.00 for each 
consecutive calendar day that the Contractor is in default of completing the work.

b. It is hereby understood and mutually agreed by and between the Contractor and the 
Owner that the date of beginning and the time for completion are ESSENTIAL 
CONDITIONS of this Contract; and it is further mutually understood and 
agreed that the work embraced in this Contract shall be commenced as stated in 
the Contract Documents.

3. SHOP DRAWINGS AND CERTIFICATES

a. The Contractor shall submit so as to avoid delay in its work, or that of any 
Subcontractor, five copies or electronic files of all shop, detail or working 
drawings and samples, and certificates required for the work and the Engineer 
shall review them noting comments. If required, the Contractor shall make 
corrections and resubmit electronic files or five corrected copies or samples for 
final review and furnish such other copies as may be needed.

b. The Engineer's review of such Drawings and/or certificates shall not relieve the 
Contractor from responsibility/for deviations from the Contract Drawings or 
Specifications, unless it had in writing called the Engineer's attention to such 
deviations at the time of submission, and unless the Engineer shall have issued a 
written waiver of the pertinent Specification, nor shall it relieve him from 
responsibility for errors of any sort in Shop Drawings.

4. PROTECTION OF WORK AND MATERIALS

The Contractor shall protect all work, equipment and materials from deterioration and 
damage. All work of whatever kind, which during its progress or before the final acceptance 
of the work as established by the Engineer's Certificate of Completion may have become 



SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

00 80 00-3

damaged from any cause, shall be removed, and replaced by good and satisfactory work, 
and at no additional cost to the Owner, both for labor and materials.

5. CHANGED CONDITIONS

a. If, during the progress of the work, the Contractor or the Owner discovers that the 
actual sub-surface or latent physical conditions encountered at the site differ 
substantially or materially from those shown on the plans or indicated in the 
Contract Documents either the Contractor or the Owner may request an equitable 
adjustment in the Contract Price of the Contract applying to work affected by the 
differing site conditions. A request for such an adjustment shall be in writing and 
shall be delivered by the party making such claim to each other party as soon as 
possible after such conditions are discovered. Upon receipt of such a claim from 
a Contractor, or upon its own initiative, the Owner will make an investigation of 
such physical conditions, and, if they differ substantially or materially from those 
shown on the plan or indicated in the Contract Documents and are of such a 
nature as to cause an increase or decrease in the cost of performance of the work 
or a change in the construction methods required for the performance of the work 
which results in an increase or decrease in the cost of the work, the Owner will 
make an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price and the Contract will be 
modified in writing accordingly.

b. Any adjustment in compensation and/or any adjustment in Contract time because 
of any changes resulting from one or more of the conditions described in the 
foregoing paragraph will be made in accordance with the provisions of ARTICLE 
VII - ALTERATIONS OF WORK contained within the General Conditions.

6. SUPERINTENDENCE, SKILLED LABOR, AND EMPLOYEES

a. The Contractor shall employ qualified personnel for scheduling all materials and 
equipment to be used in the Project and for preparation of suitable working 
drawings. The Contractor shall employ a suitable superintendent and foremen to 
represent him at all the several parts of the work and they shall be present at all 
times while the work entrusted to them is in progress and shall be informed 
thoroughly regarding it. The foremen, workers, and others employed by the 
Contractor shall be skilled and experienced in the particular work which is given 
them to do.

7. PROTECTION OF UTILITIES

Location and depth of existing utilities are estimated and should not be relied upon by the 
Contractor. The Contractor shall check and verify the location of all existing utilities, 
both underground (by test pits or other approved means) and overhead before proceeding 
to begin the work or to order materials. Excavation, if any, shall be in accordance with 
Chapter 502 of the Acts of 1980 entitled, "An Act Further Regulating Excavation in 
Public Ways," which became effective in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts on 
October 12, 1980, including any amendments thereto, and all other statutes, by-laws,



SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

00 80 00-4

rules and regulations of any city, state or federal agency that may be applicable. Any 
damage to the existing utilities and any other costs arising out of said excavation or by 
reason thereof shall be the Contractor's sole responsibility.

8. FIRE PROTECTION

The Contractor shall take all necessary precautions to prevent fires adjacent to the work 
and its buildings and it shall prevent the spread of fires to areas outside the limits of the 
work.  It shall provide adequate facilities for extinguishing fires.

9. USE OF PORTIONS BEFORE ENTIRE COMPLETION OF WORK

The Owner and its duly authorized representative may enter upon and use any portions of 
the work for the Owner's benefit before final completion of the whole work to be done 
under this Contract, without any claim by the Contractor for payment for said use, or for 
any damage for delay caused by such use.

10. MASSACHUSETTS SALES TAX EXEMPTION

Materials for use in the work under this Contract are exempt from the Massachusetts 
Sales Tax.  The Tax Exemption number shall be provided.

11. ANTI-DISCRIMINATION CLAUSE

In connection with the performance of work under this Contract, the Contractor agrees 
not to discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, 
color, religious creed, national origin, age, or ancestry. The aforesaid provision shall 
include but not be limited to the following: employment upgrading, demotion or transfer; 
recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms 
of compensation; conditions or privileges of employment; and selection for training, 
including apprenticeship. The Contractor agrees to post hereafter in conspicuous places 
available for employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided by the 
Massachusetts Commission Against Discrimination setting forth the provisions of the fair 
employment practice law of the Commonwealth. The aforesaid provision shall be binding 
upon all subcontractors, except subcontractors for standard commercial supplies or raw 
materials.

12. MISPLACED MATERIALS

Should the Contractor during the progress of the work, lose, dump, sink, or misplace any 
material, plant, machinery, or appliance, which in the opinion of the Engineer or Owner 
is unsatisfactory, the Contractor shall recover and remove the same with the utmost 
dispatch. If such material must be removed by the Owner, the cost of such removal 
may be deducted from any money due the Contractor or may be recovered under its bond.

13. WAGE RATES

All construction work will be governed by the prevailing Minimum Wage Rages 



SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

00 80 00-5

established for this project as determined by the commissioner of the Massachusetts 
Department of Labor and Industries pursuant to M.G.L.C. 149, Sections 26 and 27, as 
attached to this Section.

14. CONTRACT AND REFERENCE DRAWINGS

The work shall conform to contract drawings.

--- END OF SECTION ---



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Summary of Work 01 11 00-1

SECTION 01 11 00

SUMMARY OF WORK

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1. SCOPE OF WORK

A. Perform all activities and furnish all labor, materials, equipment, Subcontractor services, 

and incidentals to implement the Work in accordance with the Contract between the Town 

of Wellfleet, MA (Town) and the Contractor.  The Wellfleet Harbor Dredging Project 

consists of the dredging, removal, and off-site disposal of sediment from the areas known 

as Area II or South Mooring Field, adjacent to Federal Channel.

B. The Town will remove and reinstall all moorings within the dredge footprint.

C. The Town has retained GEI Consultants, Inc. (GEI) to serve as the engineer of record for 

the Project (Engineer).  GEI will provide input on the review of submittals and Requests 

for Information (RFIs), and other ancillary services as may be requested by the Town.

D. All tasks, requirements, deliverables, etc. contained in the Contract Documents are the sole 

responsibility of the Contractor unless specifically assigned to Others.  Project Work to be 

performed by the Contractor includes, but is not limited to, the following:

1. Prepare and implement a Contractor Health and Safety Plan.

2. Install, operate, and maintain temporary facilities and controls, including:

a. Worker health and safety measures.

b. Vessel based sanitary facilities.

c. Sedimentation controls.

3. Establishing additional survey control points, as necessary.

4. Obtaining all construction-related permits and clearances as required for completion 

of the Work.

5. Read, understand, and abide by the provisions of all permits and provide coordination 

and adequate notice as may be required by the regulatory agencies.

6. Perform the Work:

a. Identify, temporarily relocate, or protect existing utilities and Site features to 

remain after the Project is complete.

b. Perform monitoring, surveys, and testing as required by the Contract 

Documents

c. Install, maintain, and remove turbidity controls around the work area.

d. Site mobilization and demobilization.

e. Dredge by mechanical method using an environmental bucket and remove 

sediment to the limits shown on the contract drawings.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Summary of Work 01 11 00-2

f. Removal, segregation, and disposal of debris found within the dredge limits 

shown. Rock is not considered debris.

g. Place sediments into scow and transport to the Cape Cod Bay Disposal Site. 

Certifications, monitoring, and reporting through Dredge Quality Management 

(DQM) system.

h. Reinstall all Site features and appurtenances that are damaged or relocated by 

the Contractor during the performance of the Work.

7. Demobilize and promptly remove all contractor supplies, equipment, and tools from 

the Site after completion of the Work.  Restore, repair, or replace utilities, and other 

features that were removed, damaged, destroyed, or disrupted during construction.

8. Provide and perform any other equipment, Work, or submittals required to facilitate 

items 1 through 7 above and the Work shown on the Contract Drawings.

1.2. PROJECT CONDITIONS

A. Information regarding Site conditions is intended to assist the Contractor in preparing their 

Bid.  The Town and GEI guarantee neither the accuracy of this information nor that this 

information is necessarily indicative of all conditions that may be encountered, therefore 

the Contractor agrees that it shall neither have nor assert against the Town or GEI any claim 

for damages by reasons of inaccuracy, inadequacy, incompleteness, or other deficiency of 

the information provided.  The Contractor shall satisfy/verify for himself all existing 

conditions, including understanding the site data presented in the Bid Documents, affecting 

his Work by personal investigation.  Failure by the Contractor to understand and verify all 

existing site conditions shall not result in additional charges to the Town.  Also, neither the 

information provided by GEI, the Town, or their agents or employees, shall act to relieve 

Contractor of any responsibility hereunder from fulfilling all the terms and requirements 

of the Contract Documents.

1.3. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

A. The Contract Documents include all Specifications, Contract Drawings, figures, and 

conditions included or referenced in the Request for Proposal package, and any 

subsequently approved Change Orders.

B. The organization and division of Work contained within the Contract does not make GEI 

or the Town representative an arbitrator to establish contract limits between the Contractor 

and any Subcontractor.

1.4. ORDER OF PRECEDENCE

A. In the event of a conflict between any of the Contract Documents, the following order of 

precedence will be applied to determine which document will govern (first document listed 

being of highest precedence):

1. Agreement.

2. Contract Supplemental Conditions issued by the Town.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Summary of Work 01 11 00-3

3. Contract Drawings.

4. Specifications.

5. MassDOT Standard Specifications.

B. Any conflicts discovered within the Contract Documents should be immediately brought 

to the attention of the Town.

1.5. CONTRACTOR REQUIREMENTS

A. Perform the scope of Work contained in the Contract Documents.

B. Comply with the requirements of the Contractor Health and Safety Plan.  Take precautions 

as necessary to protect the public and work force personnel from potential hazards.

C. For any Work performed in close proximity to residential or commercial properties, 

utilities, or any other third-party property, take appropriate precautions to protect the 

property, utility lines, fences, and other structures and/or related appurtenances from 

damage.

D. Repair any damage caused directly or indirectly by the Contractor outside the Project 

limits, as directed by the Town, at no additional cost to the Town.

E. Comply with all applicable OSHA safety regulations during the performance of the Work.

1.6. CONTRACT DRAWINGS AND SPECIFICATIONS

A. Maintain at the Site, two (2) copies of all Contract Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, 

approved Shop Drawings, Change Orders, schedules, and instructions, in good order.  Mark 

one set to record all changes made during construction and keep one set clean of all 

markings.  Make both sets readily available for review by the Harbormaster or other 

designated agent.

B. The Contract Drawings include notes.  Refer to the Contract Drawings in conjunction with 

the Specifications.

1.7. WORK BY OTHERS

A. The Town will perform a pre-dredge bathymetric survey prior to work commencing and 

will perform a post-dredge bathymetric survey at the conclusion of the Work.  These 

surveys will be used for verification of the pre and post dredge surfaces and to determine 

the final volume, for the purposes of measurement and payment.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

(Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION

(Not Applicable)

---END OF SECTION 01 11 00---



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Work Restrictions 01 14 00-1

SECTION 01 14 00

WORK RESTRICTIONS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1. SUMMARY

A. This section contains general restrictions to be followed during the performance of the 

Work.  Other sections of the specification may contain additional requirements/restrictions 

for the performance of their specific subject matter.

1.2. WORK HOURS

A. Work activities can be conducted 24 hours per day 7 days per a week.

1.3. SCHEDULE

A. All dredging work must be completed within the time of year restrictions established by 

the project permits.

B. Copies of the Project permits have been included as an appendix to the Bid Documents. 

Example Army Corps of Engineers permit is provided for bidding purposes. Actual permit 

approval is pending and will be provided as an amendment.

C. The Work must be completed before the end of the time of year restrictions established in 

the Project permits.

1.4. MARINE MAMMEL/TURTLE OBSERVER

A. A marine mammal/turtle observer must be provided when performing parts of the Work. 

Refer to the regulatory approval conditions that have been included in Attachment C for 

additional details.

1.5. SITE ACCESS

A. All sediments/debris must be removed from the site via barge.

B. Debris must be segregated and disposed of at an approved upland facility.

C. All Work must be performed from the water.

D. The Contractor may dock a launch at a Town owned facility. Town provided docking space 

is provided for the convenience of the Contractor only, the Town is not responsible for any 

delays or injuries incurred via the use of Town owned facilities.

E. Public parking is available on-site, coordinate location with Harbormaster.

1.6. COMMUNICATION WITH THIRD PARTIES

A. Representatives of regulatory agencies from the Town, USACE, and other local civic 

organizations may be on-Site to observe and inspect the Work.

1. Maintain a supply of additional Level D Personal Protective Equipment (except for 

safety boots) on-Site to provide to regulatory agency personnel, if needed.

B. Direct any communications received from regulatory agency personnel to the Town.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Work Restrictions 01 14 00-2

C. Do not communicate with the media/press, Project stakeholders, public, etc. regarding the 

Work.  Refer all external questions and comments to the designated Town representative.

1.7. LAY DOWN AND STORAGE AREA

A. The Town will permit the contractor to have a laydown area and temporary facilities by 

the Contractor on the Town pier for use during construction. The location and size of this 

area shall be approved by the town. The contractor shall assume a laydown area of 

approximately 10,000 SF will be available. 

1.8. SANITARY FACILITIES

A. Provide sanitary facilities on-board the dredging barge for use by the Contractor personnel, 

Subcontractors, and visiting agency representatives during the performance of the Work.

1.9. NOISE CONTROL

A. Comply with all noise ordinances for the Town of Wellfleet during the performance of the 

Work.

B. Equip motorized equipment with appropriate noise control devices to maintain noise levels 

that conform to current OSHA standards and State and local regulations.  Take immediate 

steps to correct any deficiencies noticed, or as directed by the Town.

C. Properly maintain all mufflers and noise control devices and replace when necessary.  

Operate all construction equipment in the manner that it was intended.  Excessive amount 

of noise and vibration due to the improper use of equipment, is prohibited.

D. All equipment that is required to operate beyond standard work hours will, to the maximum 

extent possible be, electrically driven.

1.10. EQUIPMENT LEFT ON-SITE

A. Secure all equipment left on-Site outside of standard work hours and remove ignition keys 

from all equipment.

B. Ensure that all equipment, where feasible, is de-energized when left on-Site and not in use 

to prevent electrical/fire/explosive hazards.  The Contractor is responsible for the security, 

operation, and maintenance of any systems that require such services outside standard work 

hours.  If systems are operational outside the standard work hours, provide oversight at all 

times when equipment is in operation, or provide an electronic monitoring system with a 

remote communication feature to alert the appropriate personnel of a system failure.  

Repair system failures in a timely manner such that the Project schedule is not affected.

C. Any generators running on-Site overnight must be enclosed and/or baffled such that their 

noise producing levels do not exceed applicable State and local regulations.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

(Not Applicable)



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Work Restrictions 01 14 00-3

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.1. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

A. For the purposes of this specification, environmental protection is defined as the retention 

of the environment in its natural state to the greatest extent possible during construction.  

Comply with all applicable or relevant and appropriate, Federal, State, local laws, and 

permit conditions to provide for the abatement and control of any potential environmental 

impacts arising from the performance of the Work.

B. Comply with all project permits and provide notices and other submittals as required by 

the project permits.

C. The Town will notify the Contractor of any instances of non-compliance with Federal, 

State, local laws, or permit conditions and identify corrective actions to be taken.  State or 

local agencies may also provide notification of non-compliance with state or local 

requirements.  After receipt of any notice of non-compliance, the Contractor shall 

immediately inform the Town of the proposed corrective action and take such actions once 

they are approved by the Town.  Failure or refusal to promptly comply may result in the 

Town issuing an order suspending or halting all or parts of the Work until satisfactory 

corrective action has been taken.  Claims for extensions of time or for excess costs or 

damages due to the stop Work order described above, will be denied.

D. Do not pollute any stream, river, waterway, roadway, or soil with fuel, oil, grease, 

lubricant, hydraulic fluid, bitumen, calcium chloride, acid, base, or other harmful materials.  

Comply with the appropriate Federal, State, and local regulations and guidelines for the 

handling and disposal of any encountered contaminated materials.

E. Properly dispose of any debris resulting from the performance of the Work.  Disposing of 

any contaminated soil, water, effluent, byproduct, waste, trash, chemical, fuel, oil, grease, 

lubricant, bitumen, calcium chloride, acid, base, or other harmful material etc., in or 

adjacent to the Project area is not acceptable.  Remove any unauthorized dumped materials 

and restore the area as directed by the Town.  If necessary, areas contaminated because of 

unauthorized activity, failure of environmental controls, or dumping by the Contractor will 

be remediated at no additional cost to the Town.

F. If encountered, dispose of all contaminated materials (debris, soil, water, effluent, by-

product, waste, trash, chemical, fuel, oil, grease, lubricant, bitumen, calcium chloride, acid, 

base, used erosion controls, or other harmful material, etc.) resulting from the Work in 

accordance with all applicable, or relevant and appropriate, Federal and State laws at a 

Town approved disposal facility prior to completion of the Work.

---END OF SECTION 01 14 00---



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Utility Protection 01 18 00-1

SECTION 01 18 00

UTILITY PROTECTION

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1. SUMMARY

A. This specification contains the requirements for the location and protection of utilities that 

could potentially be affected by the performance of the Work.

1.2. UTILITY COORDINATION

A. The Contractor is solely responsible for any and all required notifications to utility 

companies prior to commencing the Work, and for response to any emergencies that may 

arise during the Work.  Certain active and inactive utilities may currently be present at the 

Site.  The exact location and type of utility is to be determined by the Contractor without 

reliance on information provided by the Town or GEI.

1.3. PROTECTION OF EXISTING UTILITIES

A. Comply with the requirements of all applicable utility protection laws or regulations.

B. Contact and cooperate with utility companies to locate all utilities (including pipelines, 

cables, and other structures) on the Site prior to beginning the Work.

C. Protect all utilities from damage during construction, unless otherwise indicated to be 

removed or abandoned.  If damaged, repair the utilities as required by the utility’s owner 

at the Contractor's expense.

D. If a utility is encountered that is not shown on the Contract Drawings, or otherwise not 

made known to the Contractor prior to beginning the Work, promptly take the necessary 

steps to assure that the utility is not damaged and notify the Town of the presence of the 

utility.  The Town will review the conditions and determine the extent, if any, to which a 

change is required in the Contract Documents to reflect and document the consequences of 

the existence of the utility.

E. Immediately notify the Town of any incident involving a utility.

1.4. SUBMITTALS

A. If a utility, either known or unknown, is damaged during the performance of the Work 

submit a written description of the incident to the Town within 48 hours of the incident.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

(Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION

(Not Applicable)

---END OF SECTION 01 18 00---



Technical Specifications
2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Price Payment Procedures 01 20 00-1

SECTION 01 20 00

PRICE AND PAYMENT PROCEDURES

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1. SUMMARY

A. This specification contains the requirements for measurement for payment of the Work and 
descriptions of the pay items.

1.2. PAYMENT TERMS

A. Payment will not be made unless the proper supporting documentation has been submitted 
and approved by the Town.

B. Payment includes full compensation for all required labor, products, tools, equipment, 
transportation, services, permits, surveys, supervision, testing, incidentals, erection, 
application, supply, or installation for completion of an item of the Work, including 
overhead and profit.

C. Payment will not be made for any of the following:

1. Products wasted or disposed of in a manner that is not acceptable.

2. Products determined unacceptable before or after work.

3. Products not completely unloaded from the transporting vehicle.

4. Products placed or removed beyond the lines and levels of the required Work.

5. Any rejected work.

6. Loading, hauling, and disposing of rejected materials.

7. Products remaining on hand after completion of Work.

8. Additional Work undertaken to expedite Contractor’s operations.

9. Repair or replacement of property located within or adjacent to the Work area.

D. Payment will be made for all Work actually performed during a particular payment period.  
Payments for lump sum items will be made based on the percent completion of the pay 
item, upon approval by the Town.

1.3. SUBMITTALS

A. Submit a Town supplied Project Price Schedule with the Bid that has been signed by a 
company officer who is authorized to contractually bind the company.

B. Submit monthly invoices in a format that is acceptable to the Town.

1.4. QUANTITY ESTIMATES

A. For all unit price Work, the Contract price will include an amount equal to the sum of the 
unit price for each pay item times the estimated quantity of each item as indicated in the 
Project Price Schedule.  The estimated quantities shown on the Project Bid Proposal are 



Technical Specifications
2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Price Payment Procedures 01 20 00-2

not guaranteed and are solely for the purpose of comparison of bids and determining an 
initial Contract price.  Quantities and measurements supplied or placed in the Work in 
accordance with the Specifications and Contract Drawings, and verified by the Town, will 
determine payment.

B. The Town will verify the quantities and classifications of unit price Work invoiced by the 
Contractor. The Town will review their preliminary determination with the Contractor 
before rendering a decision on an application for payment.

C. If the actual Work requires more or fewer units than the estimated units indicated on the 
Bid Proposal, provide the required units at the contracted unit price.  Under no 
circumstances may the Contractor exceed estimated quantities without prior written 
approval from the Town in the form of a Change Order.

D. The Town reserves the right to increase (via a Change Order) or decrease any pay item 
quantity, or to eliminate any pay item, as a result of the actual conditions encountered 
during the performance of the Work.

1.5. MEASUREMENT OF QUANTITIES

A. Measurement by Weight:

1. Weigh Scales: Certified in accordance with applicable laws and regulations for the state 
in which the scales are located.  Certification must be within a period of not more than 
one year prior to the date of use.

2. The term “ton” will mean the short ton consisting of 2,000 pounds.

3. For shipments to off-Site disposal facilities, trucks will be weighed at the receiving 
facility for the purpose of measuring the quantity of Work for payment.

B. Measurement by Volume:

1. All volume will be measured as in-place and determined by survey.

2. Material dredged and disposed by mechanical method and disposed of at the Cape Cod 
Bay Disposal Site shall be measured by computing the volume between the bottom 
surface shown by sounding of the last Owner survey made before dredging and the 
bottom surface shown by sounding of the final Owner survey made within one week, or 
as otherwise practicable, after the Work has been completed. No measurement will be 
made for material dredged from outside the payment limits indicated on the Contract 
Drawings.

3. For applications for progress payments (if made), retain the services of an independent 
surveyor that is licensed in the State of Massachusetts.  To compute in-place volumes, 
use the surface comparison function in the surveying software program, or other 
methods acceptable to the Town.

4. Unless stipulated otherwise, all pay items that refer to being measured for payment by 
volume will be interpreted to mean in-place volume.



Technical Specifications
2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Price Payment Procedures 01 20 00-3

C. Measurement by Time:

1. Measure by the actual time, rounded to the nearest time unit, and verified by the 
Harbormaster.

D. The Town reserves the right to reject measurements for progress payments provided by the 
Contractors licensed surveyor and have the units re-measured for payment at their own 
expense by a licensed surveyor under separate Contract to the Town.

1.6. ASSESSMENT OF NON-CONFORMING WORK

A. Replace Work, or portions of the Work, that do not conform to the requirements of the 
Specifications and Contract Drawings, as assessed by the Town.

B. If, in the opinion of the Town, it is not practical to remove and replace the non-conforming 
Work, the Town will direct one of the following remedies:

1. The non-conforming Work may remain, but the price will be adjusted to a new price at 
the discretion of the Town.

2. Partially repair non-conforming Work to the instructions of the Town, and the price will 
be adjusted to a new price at the discretion of the Town.

C. The individual Specification sections specific to the Work in question may modify these 
options or may identify a specific formula or percentage price reduction.

D. The authority of the Town representative to assess non-conforming Work, and identify 
payment adjustment, is final.

1.7. ELIMINATED ITEMS

A. If any items contained in the Contract Drawings or Specifications are found unnecessary 
for the proper completion of the Work, the Town may, upon written order to the Contractor, 
eliminate such items from the Work, and such action will in no way invalidate the Contract.

B. The Contractor will be paid for all Work performed and all documented costs incurred, 
including the mobilization of materials, prior to the elimination of such items.

1.8. MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT OF BID ITEMS

A. The Project Bid Proposal lists the pay items for the Work.

B. At the direction of the Town, the Contractor may be asked to perform additional Work.  
The unit rate schedule included in the Contractor’s proposal will be the basis for 
measurement and payment of equipment and labor for any additional Work.  Include 
overhead and profit on the Contractor unit rate schedule for all additional Work.

C. For all pay items, payment to the Contractor for completed Work will constitute full 
compensation for all labor, supervision, submittal preparation, materials, equipment, 
incidentals and all other costs necessary to complete the pertinent pay item.

D. The following paragraphs specify measurement and payment of the pay items listed on the 
Project Bid Proposal:



Technical Specifications
2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Price Payment Procedures 01 20 00-4

Item 1 Mobilization

A. Mobilization shall be measured by the Contract Price LUMP SUM (LS) and shall be 
measured once only for the entire Contract. Lump sum shall not exceed the lesser of 15% 
of total Base Bid price or $750,000.

B. Payment to complete Mobilization shall include, but is not limited to:

1. Movement of personnel, equipment, and materials to the Site, if such movement is not 
included in any other bid item.

2. Participating in preconstruction coordination meetings.

3. Preparation, submittal, and revision (if required) of all pre-mobilization submittals 
described in Specification Section 01 33 00 - Submittal Procedures.

4. Relocation of equipment and remobilization to suit vessel operations.

5. Provide Project management oversite.

6. All office and field engineering and survey support, surveys, supervision, notifications, 
coordination, reports, and compliance.

7. Participation in preconstruction and periodic project coordination meetings.

8. Preparation, submittals, and revisions (if required) of all submittals.

9. Implement the health and safety requirements specified in the Contract health and safety 
plan.

10. Install and maintain temporary facilities and controls unless specifically identified as 
being provided by Others.

11. Site preparation and project clean up.

12. Take any required correction action, as may be directed by the Town, to remediate 
conditions associated with a failure of the turbidity controls.

13. Installation, operations, maintenance, and removal of the marine signaling equipment.

14. Compliance with all applicable U.S. Coast Guard regulations for the use of temporary 
signaling equipment, including any required coordination, during the performance of 
the Work.

15. Demobilization of all personnel, equipment, and materials used to complete the work 
that is not already included in any other bid item.

16. Restoration of any features or structures that were removed or damaged during the 
performance of the Work.

17. Removal and lawful disposal of all environmental controls used during the performance 
of the Work.



Technical Specifications
2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Price Payment Procedures 01 20 00-5

18. All other costs for work or activities not included in another pay item, or specifically 
identified as being the responsibility of Others, not specifically identified but required 
to complete the work specified.

19. Mobilization will be paid Sixty Percent (60%) of the lump sum price upon completion 
of mobilization to the work site. An additional twenty-five percent (25%) will be paid 
to the Contractor upon the acceptance of his verification survey. The final fifteen percent 
(15%) will be paid only after the Contractor has received the written notice from the 
Town to proceed with final demobilization and has successfully demobilized to the 
satisfaction of the Town.

Item 2  Dredging & Disposal – Cape Cod Bay Disposal Site

A. Materials dredged by mechanical methods shall be measured by the CUBIC YARD (CY) 
of the material dredged by computing the volume between the bottom surface shown by 
sounding of dredge survey. Progress payment, if desired, will require intermediate dredge 
surveys.

B. No measurement or payment will be made for materials dredged beyond the payment limit 
indicated in the Contract Drawings.

C. No separate measurement or payment will be made for costs in connection with 
transportation of dredge spoils to the designated offshore disposal site. 

D. Work required to complete Dredging & Disposal – Cape Cod Bay Disposal Site includes, 
but is not limited to:

1. The removal of sediments and debris to the lines and grades shown on the Contract 
Drawings.

2. The loading of sediments and debris onto barges.

3. Segregating debris from sediments as needed to meet the requirements for use of the 
approved offshore disposal site.

4. Changeout of dredge buckets, as needed, to remove any debris encountered during the 
performance of the Work.

5. Transportation of sediment to the approved offshore disposal site.

6. The lawful offloading and disposal of sediment at the Cape Cod Bay Disposal Site

7. All required permits and submittals. 

E. Dredging and Disposal Work will be measured for payment on an in place cubic yard basis, 
as verified by surveys.

Item 3 – Transportation and Disposal – Debris

A. Transportation and Disposal – Debris will be measured on a per TON (TON) basis, as 
documented by disposal facility scale weight tickets.



Technical Specifications
2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Price Payment Procedures 01 20 00-6

A. Work required to complete the Transportation and Disposal – Debris pay item includes, 
but is not limited to:

1. All labor, equipment, dumpsters, and work associated with the segregation, shipping/ 
hauling of the debris from the project site to the disposal facility

2. Transportation and disposal of debris dredged from the Project Site to a Town-approved 
disposal facility.

B. Transportation and Disposal – Debris will be measured for payment on a per ton basis, as 
documented by disposal facility scale weight tickets.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

(Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION

(Not Applicable)

---END OF SECTION 01 20 00---



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Administrative Requirements 01 30 00-1

SECTION 01 30 00

ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1. SUMMARY

A. This Section describes Project administrative requirements; the minimum level of 

coordination and meetings required to execute the Work and required pre-mobilization 

submittals.

1.2. ON-SITE CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL

A. The Contractor is to maintain a full-time on-Site Superintendent, who will be responsible 

for quality assurance, Contractor health and safety, and competent person(s) for the 

duration of the Work.  The Superintendent will be responsible for the supervision and/or 

coordination of all Contractor employees, Subcontractors, manufacturers, fabricators, 

suppliers, distributors, installers, and testing agencies whose services, materials or 

equipment are required to ensure the completion of the Work.  The Superintendent will 

have sufficient qualifications, experience, and authority to act as a single point of contact 

for the on-Site staff, and to make adjustments to the means and methods as needed and as 

requested by the Town.

B. The Engineer will make periodic visits to the Site to observe the Work.  The Engineer will 

not direct the Contractor with regard to their means and methods of construction but may 

identify areas of non-conformance with the Specifications that require redress by the 

Contractor.

1.3. MEETINGS

A. Attend all Project meetings as deemed necessary by the Town during the term of the 

Contract.

B. A pre-construction meeting will be held at the Site prior to the start of the Work.  At a 

minimum, the Contractor’s project manager and Superintendent for the Project will attend 

the meeting.  It is recommended that the Contractor assemble input from primary 

Subcontractors prior to this meeting.

1. This meeting is intended to make certain that the Work is properly scheduled, 

responsibilities are coordinated among Subcontractors and suppliers, and that those 

responsibilities are reflected on the Contractor submittals.  Questions concerning any 

other aspect of the Project may also be addressed.

C. Beginning with the mobilization to the Site, at a location designated by the Town, the 

Contractor will facilitate weekly on-site construction meetings among contractor, GEI, 

Harbormaster and Town Representative for the duration of the Work.  Present a progress 

update at weekly construction meetings that includes tasks completed from the prior week, 

currently active tasks, and tasks/activities planned for the next two weeks along with an 

updated Project schedule.  The format of the two-week look ahead must be submitted and 

approved prior to use.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Administrative Requirements 01 30 00-2

D. The standard day and time for the weekly construction meeting will be established based 

on mutual agreement between all regular participants.

E. Individuals authorized to discuss and make decisions on behalf of the Contractor, relative 

to the meeting agenda, must participate in all weekly construction meetings.

F. All expenses associated with attending the meetings, except those that are incurred by the 

Town, their representatives, or consultants, are to be borne by the Contractor.

1.4. REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION, CLARIFICATIONS, AND CHANGES

A. All requests for Project information, clarifications, or changes in the requirements of the 

Contract Documents must be made in writing to the Town.

B. Written requests must be provided regardless of any preceding conversations and 

preliminary decisions regarding the subject matter(s).

C. At the discretion of the Town, e-mail communications may qualify as “requests made in 

writing” for the purposes of this provision.

D. The Town will provide written responses to each request.

E. The Town may also issue clarifications and/or amendments based on their own assessment 

of Project needs.

F. Any potential increases or decreases in Contractor compensation due to amendments will 

be in accordance with the provisions of the Supplemental Conditions.

G. If latent or unforeseen conditions require modifications to the Contract, the Contractor must 

propose changes in the Work by submitting a detailed request to include labor rates, 

equipment rates, material costs, etc. for a change to the Town.

1.5. RECORDS

A. Maintain copies on-site of all Project correspondence and Project documents generated 

during the Work.

1.6. PRE-MOBILIZATION SUBMITTALS

A. All submittals are subject to review and approval by the Town and/or the Engineer.  Provide 

all submittals to the Town who will then forward them onto the appropriate party for 

review.  Submittals will not be approved until the reviewing party has determined that they 

meet the minimum requirements of these specifications.  Claims for lost time or requests 

for extensions based on rejected pre-mobilization submittals will be denied.

B. Contractor Health and Safety Plan:

1. Prepare and submit a site-specific Contractor Health and Safety Plan.

2. Refer to Specification Section 01 35 00 for details on what must be included in the 

Contractor Health and Safety Plan.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Administrative Requirements 01 30 00-3

C. Project Schedule:

1. Prepare a Critical Path Method (CPM) or bar chart project schedule and provide it to 

the Town at the first post-award meeting.  Update and disseminate the schedule on a 

weekly basis. 

2. Contractor must achieve a minimum of 30,000 Cubic Yards per calendar month. If 

the contractor fails to achieve the specified production rate in any month, the 

contractor shall implement remedial action immediately and shall submit a written 

recovery plan within 2 days. The Recovery Plan shall add sufficient resources, 

equipment, etc. such that the contractor achieves he prescribed cumulative production 

by end of that month.

D. Pre-Construction Condition Documentation:

1. Perform a pre-construction condition documentation of the site to 50 feet beyond the 

Project limits under the supervision of the Town.

a. Submit the findings of the pre-construction condition documentation to the 

Town prior to mobilization.

b. Include video/photographic documentation of the existing conditions of the Site 

and surrounding structures, including rip rap slopes, floating docks, piers, and 

building or other structures in-place at the harbor.

c. Claims determined to be resulting from pre-existing structural and/or cosmetic 

damage, not identified during the pre-construction survey, will be the sole 

responsibility of the Contractor to remedy to the satisfaction of the applicable 

owner(s).

E. Dredging Plan:

1. Refer to Specification Section 35 20 23 – Dredging by Mechanical Methods for 

details on the information required to be included in the Contractor supplied Dredging 

Plan.

F. Turbidity Control Plan:

1. Contractor shall establish the following minimum turbidity controls and monitoring 

procedures.

a. Monitoring shall be completed utilizing a turbidity meter, at a depth of four 

feet (4’) below the water surface and down current from where dredging 

operations are occurring. 

b. Prior to dredging commencing each day, background baseline 

measurements shall be taken and utilized for control. Three background 

measurements shall be taken and averaged each day dredging is occurring. 

Measurements shall be taken at a location seven hundred fifty (750’) feet 

up current of where dredging will be occurring that specific day. 



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Administrative Requirements 01 30 00-4

c. During dredging, measurements must be taken every hour. Measurements 

shall be taken at a distance twenty (200’) feet down current from the dredge 

area and four feet (4’) below the water’s surface.

d. In the event of a turbidity exceedance warning the Contractor shall 

implement corrective measures to reduce turbidity such as slowing bucket 

operations. A turbidity exceedance warning shall constitute a reading that 

is 30 NTUs greater than baseline. 

e. In the event of a turbidity exceedance event, dredging operations need to be 

stopped immediately and mitigation measures should be taken immediately 

to contain turbidity. A turbidity exceedance event shall constitute a reading 

that is 50 NTUs greater than the baseline for the sampling location. A 

turbidity exceedance event shall be reported to the Engineer and MassDEP.

f. Records for turbidity monitoring shall be maintained for submittal to 

regulatory agencies.

2. Contractor shall prepare a Turbidity Control Plan indicating means and methods for 

minimizing turbidity and how permit requirements for turbidity control will be met. 

Alternative turbidity controls and monitoring measures may be submitted for 

consideration by the regulatory agencies and would require approval before 

implementation. 

G. Schedule of Permits:

1. Submit copies of all supplemental and/or recurring data required by the permits to 

the Town, as needed.  Include documentation that the supplemental data was provided 

to the entity that issued the permit, according to the schedule required by the permit.

2. Submit copies of any Contractor obtained permits to the Town.

1.7. DAILY REPORT

A. Prepare a daily report summarizing the staff and equipment used and Work performed.  

The Contractor’s internal documentation used for this purpose may fulfill this requirement, 

subject to approval by the Town.  At a minimum, the daily report will include the following 

additional items:

1. Summary of any safety related issues including a summary of the daily safety meeting 

and running total of safe hours worked.

2. Approximate dredging rate for the reporting period and a brief description of where the 

Work was being performed.

3. Approximate disposal rate for the reported period and a brief description of where the 

Work was being performed.

4. Status of all marine signaling equipment.  Note the date and time that any irregularity 

in the system (e.g., inoperable lights, markers off station, markers removed) is 

discovered, and the data and time that irregularities are corrected.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Administrative Requirements 01 30 00-5

5. Status of the turbidity controls.  Note any maintenance performed on the systems, 

unsatisfactory performance observed, and corrective actions taken.

B. Submit the daily report to the Town by 10 AM of the next calendar day.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

(Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION

(Not Applicable)

---END OF SECTION 01 30 00---



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Submittal Procedure 01 33 00-1

SECTION 01 33 00

SUBMITTAL PROCEDURES

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1. SUMMARY

A. This section summarizes the protocol and procedures for the preparation and delivery of 

submittals to the Town.

1.2. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

A. The Contractor shall review and approve all submittals prior to submittal to the Town.

B. Provide all submittals in electronic format directly to the Town.  The Town may require 

review and recommendation by Engineer prior to approval. The Town reserves the right to 

request that any submittal be provided via paper copy.

A. For all submittals requested via paper copy, provide five (5) copies unless otherwise 

directed.

B. Include calculations, shop drawings, plans, reports, records, photographs, diagrams, and 

details with submittals, as needed, to facilitate the review and/or approval process.

C. Contractor shall submit all submittals to the Town and Engineer in sufficient time for 

checking and processing. Shop Drawings shall be of sufficient clarity so that copies thereof 

will be legible.

D. All submittals by subcontractors for approval shall be sent directly to the Contractor for 

approval. The Contractor shall be responsible for their submission to the Town and 

Engineer at the proper time so as to prevent delays in delivery of materials.

E. All Submittals shall be referenced properly to clearly indicate the location, service, and 

function of each particular item and the specification paragraph under which it is being 

furnished.

F. Submittals that are related to or affect each other shall be forwarded simultaneously as a 

package to facilitate coordinated review. Uncoordinated submittals will be rejected.

G. The Engineer reserves the right to require submittals in addition to those called for in 

individual sections.

H. The term “Shop Drawings” include drawings, diagrams, schematics, descriptive literature, 

illustrations, schedules, performance and testing data, and similar materials furnished by 

the Contractor to explain in detail specific portions of the work required by the contract.

I. Provide submittals electronically in the format requested (i.e. document file, drawing file, 

image file, etc.).  For electronic drawings, submit AutoCAD 2018 (or later) file using the 

e-transmit feature (i.e. include external references, image files, color table file, font file, 

line file, etc.).  Convert all AutoCAD add on data to AutoCAD format.  Use descriptive 

layer titles (i.e. not numbers or internal use acronyms).  Use extensive layer control and 

use line color by layer and line type by layer management.  AutoCAD files of the Contract 



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Submittal Procedure 01 33 00-2

Drawings will be made available to the Contractor selected to perform the Work, upon 

request.

J. Certifications must be signed by an officer or other individual authorized to sign on behalf 

of the entity.  Submittals requiring preparation by an engineer or surveyor must be signed 

and sealed by a Professional Engineer/Surveyor licensed to practice engineering in the 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

K. Schedule submittals to expedite Work.  Provide the Town a minimum of five (5) Business 

Days, excluding transmittal time, for review.

1.3. SUBMITTAL PROCEDURES

A. Each Submittal shall be numbered with the project name (abbreviated), Specification 

section and submittal number in consecutive order (Ex NAME-013300-#). Where 

resubmission is required a letter shall be assigned to designate each resubmission (Ex. 

NAME- 013300-#A, NAME-013300-#B, etc.) 

B. Use a cover form for each submittal.  Include the Project name, Project number used by 

the Town, date, submittal number, submittal description/title, submittal exclusions, and 

deviations from the Contract Documents (if any) on each cover form.  The submittal cover 

form must be signed by an individual authorized to sign documents on behalf of the 

Contractor.

C. Use the same units of weights and measures on submittals that are used in the Contract 

Documents.

D. Identify variations from the Contract Documents and product or system limitations that 

may be detrimental to successful performance of the completed Work.

E. Resubmit submittals if requested by the Town.  When performing a submittal revision, 

identify all changes made since previous submission.  For each re-submittal allow the same 

number of workdays required for review as the original submittal.

F. Submittals not requested will not be recognized or processed.

G. The Contractor shall distribute approved submittals to job site and record documents files 

and to suppliers and subcontractors as required.

1.4. SUBMITTAL REGISTER

A. Maintain a technical submittal register at the Site.  Including the submittal number, 

description, date submitted, status, and date of approval/rejection.

1.5. SUBMITTAL REVIEW

A. Submittals will be reviewed solely for the purpose of determining whether the information 

contained in the submittal conforms to the design concept of the Contract Documents.  

Submittals will be returned with the following classifications:

1. No Exceptions Taken:  Work may proceed, no exceptions taken.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Submittal Procedure 01 33 00-3

2. Furnish as Corrected:  Work may proceed subject to comments, resubmittal not 

required.

3. Revise and Resubmit:  Work may not proceed, resubmittal required for indicated 

items.  Proceed with Work on other items subject to comments.

4. Rejected:  Work may not proceed, resubmittal required, submittal unresponsive 

and/or not in conformance with Contract Documents.

B. Any review performed by the Town or Engineer is for the limited purpose of checking for 

conformance with the information given and the design concept expressed in the Contract 

Documents.  Review is not conducted for the purpose of determining the accuracy and 

completeness of other details such as dimensions or quantities.  Approval of a specific item 

does not constitute approval of an assembly of which the item is a component.  The review 

and approval of the Contractor's submittals does not relieve the Contractor from complying 

with the requirements of the Contract Documents.  The Contractor is responsible for: 

dimensions to be confirmed and correlated at the jobsite; fabrication processes and 

construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures; coordination of the 

Work of all trades; and performing all Work in a safe and satisfactory manner.

1.6. CERTIFICATES OF COMPLIANCE

A. Certificates must be signed by an official authorized to sign on behalf of the manufacturing 

or testing company.

B. For each certification, include the name and address of the Subcontractor, name of the 

requestor, the Project name and location, relevant test data (if required), and the dates of 

shipment and delivery.

C. Certifications do not relieve the Contractor from the requirement for furnishing materials 

that comply with the requirements of the Contract Documents.

1.7. INVOICES

A. Submit monthly invoices in accordance with the provisions of the Supplemental 

Conditions.

1. Submit invoices on a form approved by the Town with an updated schedule showing 

contract values, approved Change Orders, Work completed to date, current invoice 

and quantity amounts, and balance to complete for each bid item.

2. No payment will be made unless all the proper supporting documentation has been 

submitted and accepted by the Town.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

(Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION

(Not Applicable)

---END OF SECTION 01 33 00---



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging-Area ii

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Health and Safety Regulations 01 35 00-1

SECTION 01 35 00

HEALTH AND SAFETY REQUIREMENTS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1. SUMMARY

A. The Work required under this section includes furnishing all labor, materials and 

equipment, and performing all operations required to conform to all Federal, State, and 

local health and safety requirements during the performance of the Work.

1.2. SUBMITTALS

A. Prior to mobilization, submit the Contractor’s Health and Safety Plan, and documentation 

of OSHA training as described in Section 3.1 – Work Qualifications of this Specification.

1.3. CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR HEALTH AND SAFETY

A. Comply with any and all applicable state, federal, and local ordinances, laws and 

regulations.

B. The Contractor is responsible for the Health and Safety their employees, its Subcontractors, 

suppliers, agents, inspectors, visitors, the general public, and any Others associated with, 

or interacting with Contractor who provides labor, goods, or other services on the Site.

C. The Contractor is responsible for emergency response planning and notification and for 

actual response to all emergencies that may occur during the course of the Work, including 

emergencies that may occur when the Contractor is not present at the Site.

D. Designate a Site Safety and Health Officer (SSHO).

E. The SSHO shall enforce the health and safety requirements for all Contractor personnel 

on-Site at all times.  The SSHO shall ensure that all Contractor personnel, Subcontractor 

personnel, and Contractor visitors follow the Contractor’s site Health and Safety Plan 

(HASP), including wearing the designated level of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE).  

If the SSHO elects to require a higher level of protection, the extra costs associated with 

such higher level shall be borne by Contractor, unless such extra costs are approved in 

advance in writing by the Town.

F. Prior to mobilization and continually through the duration of the Work, the SSHO shall 

inspect the Site and document area-specific and worker-specific protection requirements.

G. After mobilization, the SSHO shall monitor Work activities and document the need for 

additional worker protection, as required, based on the Work being performed and action 

levels specified in the Contractor HASP.

H. The SSHO shall verify that all activities are performed in accordance with the HASP and 

all federal, state, local, and Health and Safety standards, Laws and Regulations, and 

guidelines.

I. In the event of a health or safety risk, as determined by the SSHO, other Contractor 

personnel, or by the Town, stop Work until a method for handling the risk has been 



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging-Area ii

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Health and Safety Regulations 01 35 00-2

determined and implemented.  Report any health or safety risk resulting in a Work stoppage 

to the Town.

J. The Contractor is responsible for implementing a behavior-based safety process and 

providing site training, observation, and feedback for Contractor personnel employed at 

the Site.

1.4. CONTRACTOR’S HEALTH AND SAFETY PLAN

A. Prepare and submit a Site-specific Health and Safety Plan (HASP) to the Town prior to the 

start of the Work.  Follow all applicable local, state, and federal Health and Safety 

standards, Laws and Regulations, and guidelines implemented through, but not limited to, 

the OSHA, NIOSH, ACGIH, and USEPA.  Where these references are in conflict, follow 

the more stringent requirement.  At a minimum, address the following topics in the 

Contractor HASP:

1. Names of key personnel and alternates responsible for Health and Safety, including 

a Contractor Health and Safety Representative and SSHO.

2. Documentation of employee and Subcontractor training and medical certifications 

required by 29 CFR 1910.120, as described in Part 3 of this Section.

3. PPE to be used for each of the tasks and operations being conducted, as required by 

the PPE program in 29 CFR 1910.120, 29 CFR 1910 Subpart I, 29 CFR 1926.28, and 

29 CFR 1926 Subpart EA list of Health and Safety and emergency equipment 

available on the Site.

4. A description of engineering controls used to reduce the hazards of equipment 

operation.

5. Heat stress program.

6. Cold stress program.

7. Lockout/Tagout procedures where the sudden start up or release of stored energy 

could cause injury to personnel.

1.5. NOTIFICATIONS

A. Notify the Town as soon as practical, but no more than twenty-four hours, after any 

mishaps, including recordable accidents, incidents, and near misses, as well as, any report 

of injury, illness, or any property damage.  

B. Notify the Town of load handling equipment or rigging mishaps, as soon as practical but 

not more than 4 hours after mishap.  

C. The Contractor is responsible for obtaining appropriate medical and emergency assistance 

and for notifying fire, law enforcement, and regulatory agencies.  

D. Immediate reporting is required for electrical mishaps, to include Arc Flash; shock; 

uncontrolled release of hazardous energy (includes electrical and non-electrical); load 

handling equipment or rigging; fall from height (any level other than same surface); and 



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging-Area ii

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Health and Safety Regulations 01 35 00-3

underwater diving.  These mishaps must be investigated in depth to identify all causes and 

to recommend hazard control measures.

E. Immediately notify the Town of any hazard the Contractor discovers or observes on the 

Site, and the corrective measures planned or taken to eliminate or minimize the hazard 

Within notification include Contractor name; contract title; type of contract; name of 

location where accident occurred; date and time of accident; names of personnel injured; 

extent of property damage, if any; extent of injury, if known, and brief description of 

accident (for example, type of construction equipment used and PPE used).  Preserve the 

conditions and evidence on the accident site until all possible Town investigations are 

conducted.  Assist and cooperate fully with the Town investigation(s) of any mishap.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.1. EQUIPMENT AND FACILITIES

A. Provide all equipment, temporary facilities, and controls required to perform the Work 

safely in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations and the Contractor’s HASP.

2.2. PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT

A. The appropriate level of PPE is to be determined by the Contractor for the specific tasks as 

described in the Contractor’s HASP.  If hazards are identified that require a level of 

protection greater than Level D (defined in paragraph C below), Work shall be suspended, 

and the Town notified.

B. Furnish and maintain materials and equipment for the health and safety of Contractor 

employees, Subcontractors, Suppliers, and visitor personnel.  Provide all required first aid 

equipment, tools, monitoring equipment, PPE, and ancillary equipment required to comply 

with the Contractor’s HASP.

C. Level D protection will be required at all times for all personnel and visitors on the Site.  

Level D PPE consists of:

1. Hard hat.

2. Steel-toed boots.

3. Safety glasses with permanent side shields.

4. Work clothes (long pants, shirts with sleeves).

5. Work gloves.

6. Hearing protection (as needed to prevent exposure exceeding 85 dB level).

7. High visibility reflective safety vests, or;

8. U.S. Coast Guard approved Personal Flotation Devices for personnel working on or 

near the water.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging-Area ii

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Health and Safety Regulations 01 35 00-4

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.1. WORKER QUALIFICATIONS

A. Provide the following training to workers.

1. Current cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) and first aid certification for at least 

two workers assigned to Work on the Site.

2. OSHA 10 Hour training course.

3. For any worker who is assigned the role of a “competent person,” provide 

documentation of sufficient and relevant training and experience to perform the 

assigned duties and responsibilities of that role.  As defined in 29 CFR 1926.31, the 

competent person shall be “one who is capable of identifying existing and predictable 

hazards, and who has authority to take prompt corrective measures to eliminate 

them.”  Relevant training and experience shall be in the same type of Project activities 

included in the Work under this Contract.

3.2. WORK PLANNING AND MEETINGS

A. Conduct a daily health and safety meeting, prior to beginning Work for that day, to address 

health and safety issues, changing conditions, activities, and personnel.  All Contractor and 

Subcontractor employees working on the Site on that day must attend the meeting.  

Document all meetings and have attendees sign a form acknowledging their presence at the 

meeting.  Include as part of the daily meeting, an evaluation of the Work to be conducted 

and the hazards associated with the work.

B. Contractor personnel who are not in attendance for the daily Health and Safety must be 

briefed on the meeting notes prior to commencing any Work-related activities.

C. Hold and document additional safety meetings at the start of each major task, and whenever 

site conditions change such that it could potentially affect worker safety.

3.3. MONITORING

A. Perform heat exposure and cold exposure monitoring activities as required by weather 

conditions.

---END OF SECTION 01 35 00---



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Regulatory Requirements 01 41 00-1

SECTION 01 41 00

REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS - PERMITS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1. SUMMARY

A. This Section establishes responsibility for obtaining Project permits between the Engineer, 

the Town, and the Contractor.

1.2. TOWN APPROVALS

A. The Town has obtained the following Project permits. The Contractor will be required to 

comply with all approved permit requirements. 

1. MA DEP 401 Water Quality Certification. 

2. MA DEP Waterways Chapter 91 permit.

3. Town of Wellfleet - Wetlands Protection Act Order of Conditions.

B. The Town is awaiting approval of the following permits. Example conditions are provided 

for bidding. The Contractor will be required to comply with all approved permit 

requirements. 

1. Section 401/404 USACE permits

1.3. CONTRACTOR PERMITS

A. Obtain the following Project permits/acceptances:

1. Coast Guard Notice to Mariners.

2. Local construction permits/notifications, as needed.

3. Permits required for transportation and disposal of dredge material.

4. Permits required for any off-Site parking that is negotiated between the Contractor and 

the Town, and/or private parking facilities, as needed.

B. This Section does not describe all permits required for performance of the Work.  Any 

permits not identified in this Section, or elsewhere in the Contract Documents, are the 

responsibility of Contractor.

C. Regardless of who is responsible for obtaining a permit, the Contractor is responsible for 

performing in accordance with the Supplemental Conditions of all permits.

1.4. COORDINATION/ASSISTANCE

A. Provide all data, as may be requested, by the Town to support permit applications.  When 

necessary, the Town may provide data summaries or other Project information in support 

of Contractor permit submittals.

B. Any coordination and/or assistance between the Contractor and the Town or Engineer is 

provided in the interest of expediting the Project.  The provision of coordination and/or 



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Regulatory Requirements 01 41 00-2

assistance does not relieve the Contractor of their obligations to obtain, or abide by, a 

permit.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

(Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION

A. Comply fully with all requirements and conditions of all Project Permits including 

performance of any miscellaneous work required to ensure full compliance and not 

otherwise covered by individual items in the contract.

B. Comply fully with all requirements and conditions of US Army Corps of Engineers, US 

Coast Guard, Harbormaster, and other authorities including, but not limited to, 

coordination, notification, and performance of any other miscellaneous work required to 

ensure full compliance and not otherwise covered by individual items in the contract.

C. Perform all other miscellaneous work obviously required to complete the project, but not 

covered by individual items in the contract.

D. Obtain governing authorities written permission, when required to close or obstruct street, 

walks, or adjacent facilities. Provide alternate routes around closed or obstructed traffic 

ways, when required by governing authorities.

E. Contractor shall perform all notifications as required within the regulatory permits and 

approvals.

---END OF SECTION 01 41 00---



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Temporary Facilities and Controls 01 50 00-1

SECTION 01 50 00

TEMPORARY FACILITIES

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1. SUMMARY

A. The Work required under this section includes furnishing all labor, equipment, supplies, 

materials, and performing all operations required for providing temporary facilities during 

the performance of the Work.

1.2. GENERAL

A. All furnished materials must be suitable for their intended use and conform to all applicable 

codes and standards.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.1. WATER

A. Provide a ready supply of potable water for the Contractor, Subcontractor, and visiting 

personnel during the performance of the Work.

2.2. RADIOS

A. Provide a two-way radio with spare batteries for use by the Town during the performance 

of the Work.  The radio provided to the Town must be able to receive and send on all 

frequencies that will be used by the Contractor during the performance of the Work.

2.3. SANITARY FACILITIES

A. Provide on-board sanitary facilities for all Contractor employees, Subcontractor personnel, 

and visiting personnel.

B. Maintain a supply of soap and water for hand cleaning during the performance of the Work.

C. Provide on-shore sanitary facilities for all Contractor employees, subcontractor personnel 

and, and visiting personnel.

2.4. ON-SITE UTILITIES

A. There are currently no on-site utilities available for use by the Contractor.

B. It is the responsibility of the Contractor to provide any and all utility services needed to 

complete the Work.

2.5. LAYDOWN AREA

A. Upon request, and pending availability, the Town will designate a laydown area for the use 

and storage of trailers, equipment, and materials.  This area will be located at the Town 

Pier. Contractor shall be responsible for the designated laydown area(s). The area will be 

maintained in a clean and orderly fashion and secured, if needed to protect supplies and 

equipment. Construct a temporary 6 foot high chain link fence around laydown area. 

Restore areas used during the contract to original or better condition.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Temporary Facilities and Controls 01 50 00-2

PART 3 EXECUTION

(Not Applicable)

---END OF SECTION 01 50 00---



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Closeout Procedures 01 77 00-1

SECTION 01 77 00

CLOSEOUT PROCEDURES

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1. SUMMARY

A. Closeout procedures covers the administrative and technical requirements for final 

cleaning, inspection, Project as-built documents, warranties, bonds, final payment, and 

other procedures for Project closeout in accordance with the Contract Documents.

1.2. CLOSEOUT PROCEDURES AND REQUIRED SUBMITTALS

A. For this Project, Substantial Completion will be defined as all dredging work complete, 

and all sediment and debris transferred to the offshore disposal site.  The Town has sole 

and final discretion for determining whether the Work has progressed to the point of 

Substantial Completion or not.

1. Substantial Completion defined as:

a. Completion of 3 month minimum production rate of dredge material within Area 

II – South Mooring Basin. (90,000 CY)

b. Hydrographic survey of final dredge area extending 200 feet beyond dredge limits.

2. Submit written certification that project, or designated portion of the project, is 

substantially complete, and request, in writing, a final inspection.  The Town’s 

representative will perform the final inspection.

3. Should the Town’s representative determine that the work is substantially complete, he 

will prepare a punch list of deficiencies that need to be corrected before final acceptance 

and issue a notice of substantial completion with the deficiencies noted.

4. Should the Town’s representative determine that the work is not substantially complete, 

he will immediately notify the Contractor, in writing, stating reasons. After the 

Contractor completes the work, he shall re-submit certification and request for final 

inspection.

5. Failure to complete parameters for Substantial Completion:

a. Contractor shall be paid for the Cubic Yards dredged and disposed of within the 

dredge limits.

B. Record Drawings:

1. If progress payment applications are submitted by the Contractor, the data collected to 

substantiate the progress payment is to be submitted to the Town at the conclusion of 

the Work to be incorporated into the Record Drawings for the Project.

2. Submit record surveys in electronic format (.dwg AutoCAD file) and provide two (2) 

hard copies to the Town that have been signed and sealed by a surveyor licensed to 

practice in the State of Massachusetts.  At a minimum, Record Drawings are to include:



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Closeout Procedures 01 77 00-2

a. Approved pre-dredge survey.

b. Encountered structures left in place.

c. Bottom of dredging grade.

d. Benchmark coordinates and elevation.

3. Quantities that are designated to be determined by survey are to be included on the 

Record Drawings when/if making an application for a progress payment.  The Record 

Drawing must clearly indicate the pay item and total quantity of measured units. Final 

payment will be based off difference between the Town pre and post dredge surveys.

4. Provide the Town with an electronic version of the Record Drawing as an AutoCAD 

file with .xyz file and in a color-PDF format that bears the seal of the Project surveyor 

who oversaw the preparation of the Record Drawings.

C. Provide copies of all Project records including, but not limited to, the following:

1. Health and Safety reports.

2. Copies of closed permits.

3. Marine Mammal Observer Reports (combined document of all reports)

4. ACOE Disposal Reports (combined document of all reports)

D. Permit Closeout:

1. Submit written confirmation that all permits have been closed with their governing 

authority and that any and all remaining fees (if applicable) have been paid in full.

E. Other Close-out Submittals

1. Refer to EXECUTION portion of each specification section for closeout requirement, 

including operating and maintenance manuals; instruction of Town’s personnel in 

maintenance and operation of systems; submission of certifications, test reports, etc.; 

provisions of spare parts and maintenance materials, all of which shall be neatly 

wrapped or packaged in standard sizes and clearly labeled.

2. Submissions specified elsewhere in the Contract Documents, include consent of surety 

to final payment; affidavit that all bills and indebtedness from subcontractors and 

suppliers, or bond satisfactory to the Owner indemnifying the owner against liens or 

other claims.

1.3. ACCEPTANCE OF WORK

A. After all deficiencies have been corrected, a Letter of Final Acceptance will be issued. If 

only designated portions of the project have been inspected, a Letter of Partial Acceptance 

will be issued for that portion of Work.

B. Acceptance may be given prior to correction of deficiencies that do not preclude operations 

and use of the facility; however, final payment will be withheld until all deficiencies are 

corrected.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Closeout Procedures 01 77 00-3

C. Until receipt of Letter of Final Acceptance, the Contractor shall be responsible for the work 

of this Contract.

PART 2 MATERIALS

(Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION

(Not Applicable)

---END OF SECTION 01 77 00---



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Marine Signaling Equipment 35 12 13-1

SECTION 35 12 13

MARINE SIGNALING EQUIPMENT

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1. SUMMARY

A. The Work required under this section includes furnishing all labor, materials, equipment, 

and performing all operations required for the installation, maintenance, and removal of all 

marine signaling equipment required for completing the Work.

1.2. SUBMITTALS

A. Submit a Notice to Mariners to the U.S. Coast Guard for the deployment of any temporary 

marine signaling equipment.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.1. GENERAL

A. Furnish marine signaling equipment that is commercially available and designed for marine 

use.

1. Anchors, if applicable, must be of sufficient weight and strength to hold the 

equipment in position under typically expected range of operating conditions for the 

area.

2.2. LIGHTS

A. Furnish navigation warning lights that conform to the United States Coast Guard 

requirements for location, visibility, and color.

B. Provide navigational lighting on all vessels, including scows and dredge equipment, which 

complies with applicable U.S. Coast Guard regulations.

C. Provide lighting for turbidity curtains and all other potential hazards to navigation put in 

place during the Work, in compliance with all applicable U.S. Coast Guard regulations and 

permit requirements.

2.3. BUOYS

A. Provide buoys that are in compliance with all applicable U.S. Coast Guard regulations.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.1. INSTALLATION AND OPERATION

A. Coordinate with the U.S. Coast Guard and obtain all required permits and file all required 

notifications prior to mobilizing to the Site.

B. Furnish and maintain all marine signaling equipment required by permit and/or U.S. Coast 

Guard regulations while the Work is being performed.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Marine Signaling Equipment 35 12 13-2

3.2. MAINTENANCE

A. Inspect marine signaling equipment daily.  Take immediate corrective action to 

repair/replace a malfunctioning marine signaling device.

3.3. REMOVAL

A. Remove the marine signaling equipment within 72 hours when instructed by the Town.

B. Coordinate demobilization and removal of the marine signaling equipment with the U.S. 

Coast Guard.

---END OF SECTION 35 12 13---



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Dredging By Mechanical Method 35 20 23-1

SECTION 35 20 23

DREDGING BY MECHANICAL METHOD

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1. SUMMARY

A. The Work required under this section includes furnishing all labor, materials, equipment, 

and performing all operations required for completing the mechanical dredging portion of 

the Work.

1.2. GENERAL

A. The work under this section shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

1. Site mobilization & demobilization.

2. Project scheduling and phasing.

3. Dredging by mechanical method of sediment within the harbor to the depths and 

limits shown on the Contract Drawings.  The dredging must be completed within 

the Time of Year (TOY) set by the Project permits and completed entirely from the 

water. The Contractor must comply with all permit conditions and shall schedule his 

work to meet this condition.

4. Performing all dredging work in accordance with turbidity controls measures 

including turbidity curtains and turbidity monitoring.

5. Placement of dredged material into scows or other approved transport container, in 

conformance with the Contract Documents and all regulatory approvals.

6. Transportation and placement of dredged material in the Cape Cod Bay Disposal 

Site in conformance with these specifications, USACE requirements, and all 

regulatory approvals.

7. Compliance with USACE National Dredge Quality Management Program (DQM) 

and Section 35 20 23.13

8. Removal and proper disposal of debris and other obstructions as defined within these 

Specifications.

9. Preparing, receiving, and acceptance by the Town of all submittals outlined in 

Section 1.5. of this Specification.

B. Comply with all applicable regulations, rules, laws, and ordinances of the Commonwealth 

of Massachusetts, and all other authorities having jurisdiction including, but not limited to, 

the USACE, U.S. Coast Guard, and the Town of Wellfleet

C. Compliance with all conditions with the Regulatory Approvals including, but not limited 

to, the following:

1. US Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) permits (Pending)

2. MA DEP Waterways Chapter 91 License



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Dredging By Mechanical Method 35 20 23-2

3. Coastal Zone Management (CZM) Consistency

4. MA DEP Water Pollution Control: 401 Water Quality Certificate

D. Contractor shall assume permit requirements include:

1. Providing qualified marine mammal/turtle observer

2. Providing qualified fisheries observer

3. Monitoring during dredging and disposal events

4. Preparation of a turbidity control plan(s)

5. Preparation and submission of all required reports

E. Comply with all conditions and perform monitoring and reporting as required by the 

Regulatory Approvals.

F. In the event that any conflict between conditions in the Regulatory Approvals and the 

Contract Document occurs, the Contractor shall comply with the more stringent 

requirement at no additional cost to the Town.

G. Comply with all applicable regulations, rules, laws, and ordinances of the Commonwealth 

of Massachusetts, and all other authorities having jurisdiction including, but not limited to, 

the USACE, US Coast Guard, and the Town of Wellfleet.

H. Examine all Contract Drawings and sections of the Specifications for requirements and 

provisions of the Work that this Section affects.

1.3. QUALIFICATIONS

A. The Contractor shall have completed at least 3 dredging projects of similar size and scope 

using mechanical methods.

B. The dredging supervisor shall have a minimum of 5 years of experience with dredging 

projects in the role of dredging supervisor or superintendent.

C. The Contractor’s equipment operators, supervisory engineering staff, and technical staff 

shall have a minimum of 2 years of experience with dredging via mechanical methods.

1.4. QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Comply with all applicable local, state, and federal requirements, as well as industry 

standards and practices regarding materials, methods of work, proper disposal, safety of 

workers, and safety of the public.

B. Copies of the Regulatory Approvals and Conditions for performing the work or examples 

thereof are included within Appendix A of the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall 

be responsible for understanding and implementation of the stipulated conditions as a 

condition of the contract. The Contractor shall note that not all regulatory approvals for the 

Project have been received and examples have been provided for bidding purposes. 

Contractor shall comply with final regulatory approvals once received.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Dredging By Mechanical Method 35 20 23-3

C. All the Contractor’s dredging equipment and dredge scows shall be in good working 

condition and suitable for the intended task.

D. Dredging and disposal will only be allowed during specified times established by the 

project permits. The Contractor shall be responsible for adhering to all local, state, and 

federal requirements for endangered and threatened water mammals and other marine life.

E. Should it become necessary for work under this section to extend into the no 

dredging/disposal windows, the Contractor will be responsible, at his expense, to obtain 

approvals for any time extensions, re-permitting, or changes that may be necessary.

F. Contractor’s equipment shall comply with all requirements of the USACE Dredge Quality 

Management (DQM) System.

1.5. SUBMITTALS

A. Dredging Plan:

1. Within fifteen (15) calendar days from the date of the Notice to Proceed, or at the 

pre-construction meeting, whichever occurs first, submit the Dredging Plan to the 

Town for review and acceptance.

2. Include the name, address, and 24-hour emergency contact information of the person 

who will be in responsible charge of the dredging and disposal operation.

3. Include the name, address, and 24-hour emergency contact information of all 

Subcontractors who will be involved in the Project.

4. Identification and list of dredge equipment to be used. Certify that all the 

Contractor’s dredging equipment and dredge scows are in good working condition 

and suitable for the Work.  All equipment is subject to inspection and approval prior 

to use on the Project.

5. USACE Certifications for Contractors DQM System to be used.

6. Plan for dredge area and dredge disposal location monitoring.

7. The Contractor is responsible for adhering to the USACE Dredge Quality 

Management (DQM) System Requirement.  It is the responsibility of the Contractor 

to notify the USACE prior to commencing dredging and to request the exact 

coordinates for the disposal of the dredged materials from USACE at least ten (10) 

days prior to the start of the project.  Confirmation of notification and the disposal 

coordinates from USACE shall be submitted to the Town prior to proceeding with 

the dredging.

8. As part of the Dredging Plan, submit a Spill Management Plan which will be utilized 

to prevent and/or mitigate fuel and material spillage.

B. Progress Plans:

1. The Contractor is required to plot the locations of all obstructions encountered 

during the progress of the Work on the progress plan and on the Daily Reports.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Dredging By Mechanical Method 35 20 23-4

2. Maintain a dredging progress plan onsite and update it daily.  This plan shall be 

colorized and show the locations dredged and the date of the work.  The dredging 

progress plan will be submitted to the Town at the completion of the Work.

3. Maintain a disposal progress plan onsite that is updated daily to show all disposal 

work in the Cape Cod Bay Disposal Site.  This plan shall show locations of all 

disposal locations and dates/time of each disposal.  The disposal progress plan will 

be submitted to the Town at the completion of the Work.

4. The contractor’s hydrographic surveys, when performed, shall be provided at the 

same size and scale as the Contract Drawings and shall show the final elevations of 

the dredged area with all pertinent data, landmarks, baseline, and shall be based on 

the datum established for the project on the contract documents. Data grid used shall 

be sufficient to provide adequate details of the side slope and the limit of dredging. 

The Town may request additional data sets as required to review the Contractor’s 

data. Submittal shall include hard copies as well as supporting electronic files. All 

surveys shall be performed using the same horizontal coordinate system and vertical 

datum based on Mean Low Water datum, unless noted otherwise.

C. Submit a Turbidity Control Plan for review and acceptance by the Town and Regulatory 

Agencies prior to mobilizing any materials to the Site.

D. Certificate of Compliance

1. The Contractor shall provide name and contact information for the Registered Land 

Surveyor and/or Registered Professional Engineer, experienced in hydrographic 

surveys, to perform its verification survey and prepare the required plan.

2. The Contractor's verification survey shall be the same size and scale as the Contract 

Drawings and shall show the final elevations of the dredged area with all pertinent 

data, landmarks, baseline and shall be based on the Datum established for the 

project.

3. The Contractor's verification survey must be sufficient in detail and accuracy to 

satisfy the Town that the Town’s final survey can be ordered.

E. Surveys submitted for consideration shall have an original stamp by a licensed professional 

land surveyor or licensed professional engineer.  Surveys shall be provided in AutoCAD 

with .xyz file and stamped plans on paper copies for the following purposes:

1. Pre-dredge conditions prior to commencing dredging activities.

2. Disagreement with pre-dredge condition – must be submitted at least 3 days prior to 

performing any dredge activities.

3. Requests for partial payment of dredge activities.

4. Verification survey to confirm work is complete.

5. Disagreement with post-dredge condition and payment volumes



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Dredging By Mechanical Method 35 20 23-5

F. The Contractor will be required to maintain daily records of dredging operations. A plan 

will be marked and colored coded showing daily progress, and a sketch of this progress 

plan indicating the work accomplished for that period will be drawn on the back of the 

record forms. The record forms shall be submitted to the Authority on a weekly basis. The 

progress plans will be turned over to the Authority at the completion of work.

1.6. NOTIFICATIONS

A. Provide notifications required by Project permits in compliance with the notice period prior 

to the beginning of dredging including, but not limited to:

1. Notify the USACE of intent to start Work at least 10 days prior to the beginning of 

dredging.

2. The Department of Environmental Protection

3. At least ten (10) working days in advance of the start date, the Contractor shall notify 

the First Coast Guard District, Aids to Navigation Office, of the location and 

estimated duration of the dredge and disposal operations.

4. Notify and coordinate all work with the Town of Wellfleet.

B. It is the Contractor's responsibility to notify the US Coast Guard prior to the start of this 

Project.

C. Before beginning any dredge or disposal operations, the Contractor shall coordinate with 

the US Coast Guard to issue a “Notice to Mariners”.

D. If the Town is not present onsite, it is the Contractor's responsibility to immediately notify 

the Town of any changes in the Site so that the Town may inspect the conditions.

E. Upon completion of dredging, submit a letter notifying the Town of completion and when 

the Contractors final bathymetric survey will be completed. Town will complete its own 

independent bathymetric survey within one week for verification of project completeness 

and volume confirmation prior to approving final payment request. 

1.7. SITE CONDITIONS

A. PROJECT STAGING

1. Upland area may be available for the dredge contractor staging and for material 

handling and disposal associated with material not suitable for disposal at the CCBDS 

site. Any use of the upland area for these activities shall be subject to the review and 

approval of the Town of Wellfleet. If not available Contractor shall provide their own 

site for these activities at no additional cost to the project. 



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Dredging By Mechanical Method 35 20 23-6

B. SITE ACCESS

1. Contractor shall note that the dredge site has limited access and size restrictions and 

will require selection of materials and equipment that are capable of safely navigating 

within the site restrictions shown on the contract plans.

2. Contractor shall note that the work includes dredging of shallow and intertidal areas.  

Limitations on the duration of dredging within each tide cycle should be anticipated.  

1.8. CONTRACTOR SURVEYS

A. QUALIFICATIONS

1. If needed to support applications for progress payments, subcontract with a 

Professional Surveyor licensed in the State of Massachusetts to serve as the 

independent surveyor for the Project.

2. The selected surveyor shall have served in a similar role on at least two previous 

Projects with a dredging component of a similar or greater size.

3. The selected surveyor may not be replaced unless the Contractor submits a written 

request to the Town for approval that details the reason(s) for the requested change 

and includes any noted deficiencies.

B. REFERENCE POINTS

1. Establish horizontal control points and benchmarks, as needed.  Protect the reference 

points from disturbance during performance of the Work.

2. When laying out and controlling the performance of the Work, use horizontal and 

vertical datums that are consistent with those used in the Contract Drawings.

C. BATHYMETRIC SURVEYS

1. Bathymetric surveys shall be conducted to meet USACE accuracy standards defined 

in EM 1110-2-1003, Hydrographic Surveying.  Surveys will be performed by single 

vertical beam transducer, or multiple vertical beam transducer sweep, or multibeam 

sweep methods.  When vertical single beam or multiple sweep beam transducers are 

employed, an acoustic frequency of 200 kHz (± 20%) shall be used.  When utilizing 

multibeam technology, the operating acoustic frequency will range from 180 kHz to 

250 kHz.  All depth measurement devices, positioning, and motion compensation 

systems will be calibrated following the quality control procedures outlined in EM 

1110-2-1003.  

2. At the start of each day's soundings, the system shall be calibrated in strict accordance 

with Corps of Engineer’s Manual EM 1110-2-1003 (2004). The Contractor will be 

required to submit to the Town sufficient field data, including all digital fathometer 

data in a usable format, corrected for tide, and corresponding boat plots and track 

sheets, so that the Contractor's submitted survey plot may be reproduced by the Town 

by referring only to this field data.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Dredging By Mechanical Method 35 20 23-7

3. After completion of the Contractor's survey, the results will be plotted and reviewed 

by the Contractor to ensure that all Work was completed in accordance with contract 

requirements, and then submitted to the Town on CD-ROM, DVD-ROM, or by 

electronic file transfer in digital ASCII format.  If deficiencies are noted, a re-survey 

of the area after correction of deficiencies will be required to assure the Town that 

appropriate corrections have been made.

4. Submission of all Contractor quality control survey data, including plots, is required 

prior to the performance of the final examination and acceptance survey to be 

performed by the Town.  The results of the quality control surveys should be used by 

the Contractor to ensure that Work was performed in accordance with the Contract 

Documents.

5. If requesting a progress payment, surveys shall be performed by the Contractor for 

all completed areas of dredging being submitted for payment.  All data shall be 

submitted on CD-ROM, DVD-ROM, or by electronic transfer with X, Y, and Z 

ASCII files containing Easting, Northing, and true Elevations.  Data shall be provided 

to the Town denoted by shallowest soundings in a 3-foot grid pattern.  The files shall 

be referenced to state plane coordinates, NAD83 Massachusetts Mainland Zone 

2001, and vertical datum referenced to MLW.

1.9. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

A. The Contractor shall provide the services of a Marine Mammal/Turtle Observer.  The 

Marine Mammal/Turtle Observer will be responsible for prohibiting harassment of marine 

mammals and sea turtles during transit and disposal work.

B. The Contractor shall provide the services of a Fisheries Observer. The Fisheries Observer 

will be responsible for prohibiting harassment and adverse effects to fisheries during 

dredging, transit, and disposal work.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

(Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.1. SCOPE OF WORK

A. General

1. The Contractor shall dredge to the depths shown on the Contract Drawings. The 

proposed depths include an over-dredge payment limit depth as shown on the 

Contract Drawings. No work outside the payment limit will be considered for 

compensation.

2. The Contractor shall perform a Pre-Dredge survey of the project area before any work 

is started. The Pre-Dredge survey must be submitted prior to work commencing.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Dredging By Mechanical Method 35 20 23-8

3. The Contractor shall place and maintain range markers to show the limits of the 

dredge area.  Markers shall not be located to cause an obstruction or other hazard for 

vessels. 

B. Site Mobilization & Demobilization

1. The Contractor shall mobilize dredging plant, work boats, scows, barges, tugs, 

cranes, and all other equipment to the work site to commence dredging and disposal 

operations

2. The Contractor shall relocate and move cranes, dredge plant, and related equipment 

from one work location to another work location(s) within the project limits as work 

progresses and to accommodate vessel operations, as required. 

3. The Contractor shall perform all survey for layout, placement, and maintenance of 

markers, as well as the verification survey. Survey control baseline(s), markers and 

tide boards shall be established and maintained at all times during the project for the 

dredging area.

4. The Contractor shall perform all notifications, as required under this specification 

and within the Project Regulatory Approvals.

5. The Contractor shall perform all surveys and reports, as required under this 

specification.

6. Demobilization of the Contractor's dredging plant, work boats, scows, barges, tugs, 

cranes, and all other equipment from the work site upon completion of the dredging 

operations shall only take place after receiving approval from the Town.

7. Under no circumstances shall the Contractor leave the site until the Contractor has 

completed and submitted a Post Dredge survey and the Town has notified the 

Contractor in writing that it may demobilize from the site, or unless otherwise 

authorized in writing by the Town.  If any work has not been completed, including 

complete demobilization, or, if any shoals exist within the work area, the Contractor 

will be ordered to return to the site to complete said work without delay. If the 

Contractor does not return to the site, all monies owed the Contractor shall be 

retained by the Town to complete the work.  Any funds not utilized to complete the 

work will be paid to Contractor.

3.2. GENERAL OPERATIONS

A. Conduct operations in such a manner as to cause the least amount of interference with 

shipping and boating interests in and around the Site.  Coordinate all Work with:

1. Town of Wellfleet.

2. USACE.

3. U.S. Coast Guard.

B. Notify Town 24 hours prior to any dredging activities.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Dredging By Mechanical Method 35 20 23-9

C. Ensure proper closure and water-tightness of the scow pocket doors to eliminate any 

seepage or leakage of material.  The use of plastic material or other non-approved materials 

to cover cracks in scow pockets will not be allowed.

D. Provide and maintain a walkie-talkie communication system, or other system approved by 

the Town, between the Town and the dredge plant, and between the towboat and the scow.

E. Barges, dredge plants, tow boats or any vessel used during this Project shall not sit on the 

bottom within or adjacent to the Work area.

3.3. DREDGING BY MECHANICAL METHOD

A. Examine the Site and available data and determine the character of the materials to be 

removed.  The Contractor is required to remove all materials within the design footprint 

and shall provide all necessary labor and equipment to handle the materials.

B. Furnish equipment of sufficient size and capacity to dredge sediments to the depths shown 

on the Contract Drawings. The Contractor shall dredge, by use of environmental bucket 

dredging equipment or clam shell bucket as required for harder materials, the areas shown 

on the plan.  Project Permits require the use of BMP's and an environmental bucket shall 

be used to the maximum extent practical and the Contractor shall assume use of an 

environmental bucket prior to use of a heavy clamshell, as required to complete the work, 

including removal of all debris encountered.  The Contractor shall note that the dredge area 

has not been dredged for over 60 years and should anticipate sediments cannot be 

completely removed to depth using an environmental bucket. Contractor shall furnish 

additional dredging buckets as may be needed to complete the work including removal of 

large pieces of debris.

C. Dredged material shall be placed in watertight scows with fast rate hopper door release and 

transported to the Cape Cod Bay Disposal Site.

1. Scow overflow will not be permitted.

D. The quantities shown on the plans are estimated based on the survey and soundings.  The 

actual amount removed will be dependent on the amount of material the Contractor 

removes to the payment limits as shown on the Contract Drawings.  Intermittent progress 

bathymetric surveys may be conducted by the Contractor for progress payments, if desired.  

Quantity removed will be obtained by computing the volume between the bottom surface 

of the last Town survey made before dredging, and the bottom surface of the final Town 

survey made within one week or otherwise as soon as practicable after the work specified 

has been completed. The Contractor must complete a post-dredge survey within 5 days of 

completing dredge activities and notify the Town of when post-dredge survey is scheduled 

to be completed. The Town will complete its own post dredge survey for verification and 

agreement of post dredge conditions and final payment.

E. Unless approved in advance by the Town, payment will only be made on the computed 

volume of the dredge prism shown in the Contract Drawings plus 1 foot of allowable over-

dredge, including side slopes.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Dredging By Mechanical Method 35 20 23-10

F. Minimize over-dredge.

G. Do not exceed the maximum dredge cut line at the base of side slopes.  Remove any upslope 

sediments that fall into the dredge prism.

H. Dredging performed beyond the limits of the allowable over-dredge will not be measured 

for payment.  Additionally, any other pay items impacted by the performance of dredging 

beyond the allowable dredge limits will not be measured for payment.

I. Make the bottom of the excavation as smooth and level as possible at or within 1 foot below 

the plane of the required depths.  All bumps, shoals, pinnacles or any other obstruction 

above the design dredge depth are to be removed.  No payment will be made for any 

material dredged beyond the design over-dredge depths as shown on the Contract Drawings 

as determined from information obtained during the Town post-dredge survey.

J. The method used to obtain a smooth and level bottom shall be selected by the Contractor, 

with the approval of the Town, before such method is implemented.

K. If the Town post-dredge survey shows areas that have not been dredged to the proper depth, 

the Contractor shall complete the Work required as directed by the Town and shall pay for 

the additional survey(s) required to show that the Work has been completed per the 

Contract Documents.

L. The Town will notify the Contractor in writing, upon the receipt and approval of the final 

survey, that the Contractor may demobilize from the Site.  The Contractor shall not 

demobilize from the Site without the prior written approval from the Town.

3.4. DEBRIS AND OBSTRUCTIONS

A. The Contractor shall assume debris is present and shall remove it in the course of his work. 

In the event, significant obstructions are encountered which may impact the progress of the 

work, the Contractor shall notify the Town prior to removal. 

B. Debris shall be separated and placed in a separate unsuitable material dumpster. Debris 

placed in the dumpster shall be free of excessive dredge material and water. All such 

material shall be disposed in accordance with the Contract Documents.

C. Furnish any special or additional equipment that may be required for removing debris and 

submerged obstructions as needed to complete the Work.  Care must be taken when 

removing any debris encountered adjacent to existing structures to minimize any possible 

impact.

D. Separate any floating debris contained within the turbidity controls and stockpile for offsite 

disposal.

E. Lawfully dispose of debris in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.

F. The changing of dredging bucket type or of dredging platform to remove debris is to be 

included in the Contractors Bid and will not be considered adequate grounds for a Change 

Order.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Dredging By Mechanical Method 35 20 23-11

G. Any material that is disposed of other than in places designated by the Town will not be 

paid for and the Contractor may be required to remove such misplaced material and deposit 

it where directed at no additional cost to the Town.

3.5. SEDIMENT TRANSPORT AND DISPOSAL

A. All tow boats used for towing to disposal areas shall be equipped with differential global 

positioning system (DGPS) and track recording navigational equipment or approved 

equivalent electronic navigation equipment, radar, corrected compass, marine radio, and 

depth sounding equipment which shall be maintained in operating condition during each 

tow.  The tow boats utilized by the Contractor for this purpose shall be of a size adequate 

for towing in the open ocean and shall have necessary reserve power for maneuvering with 

scows and under emergency conditions as well as for control of scows at the disposal point.

B. Use of a fully automated horizontal positioning system capable of locations within 1.0 

meter of the true position is required to ensure proper positioning of the scows over the 

disposal site.

C. Place material at the disposal site such that the mounding of material is minimized.

D. All scows used for in-water disposal shall be bottom-dump that have been inspected and 

approved by the USACE.

E. Any dump scows used to transport material shall be in good operating condition and shall 

contain the sediment and water placed in it so that no discharge of sediment or water occurs 

until the barge has been transported to the designated disposal location.

F. Transport, monitoring, and disposal of dredge material shall be in accordance with all 

regulatory requirements and the Contractor shall be solely responsible for proper disposal 

of material.

G. The Contractor shall bear full responsibility for resolution of issues arising from the 

transport, monitoring, and disposal of dredge material in violation of regulatory 

requirements, including but not limited to meetings, surveys, environmental studies, and 

mitigation.  No additional compensation from the Town shall be made to address permit 

violations.

3.6. PROTECTION OF EXISTING STRUCTURES

A. Proposed dredging limits as shown on the Contract Drawings are in close proximity to 

existing structures.  Take the necessary precautions to protect these structures from 

damage.  The Contractor shall bear full responsibility for any damage of any nature to these 

structures caused by his workers and/or equipment, and any such damage shall be 

satisfactorily remedied at the sole expense of the Contractor to the satisfaction of the Town.

B. Conduct the dredging operations such that they do not undermine, weaken, or otherwise 

impair existing structures located in or near the areas to be dredged.  The Contractor shall 

investigate the existing structures at the Site and plan the dredging operations accordingly.

3.7. INSPECTIONS



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

Dredging By Mechanical Method 35 20 23-12

A. Furnish, upon request of the Town, the use of such boats, boatmen, laborers, and material 

forming a part of the ordinary and usual equipment and crew of the equipment or marine 

plant as may be reasonably necessary in inspecting and monitoring the Work.  The 

Contactor shall furnish, on request of the, suitable transportation from all points on shore 

to and from the various pieces of the marine plant and the Site.

---END OF SECTION 35 20 23---



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

National Dredging Quality Management Program Scow Monitoring Profile 35 20 23.13-1

SECTION 35 20 23.13

NATIONAL DREDGING QUALITY MANAGEMENT PROGRAM

SCOW - MONITORING PROFILE

02-2022

PART 1 GENERAL

1.1 DESCRIPTION

The work under this contract requires use of the National Dredging Quality Management 

Program (DQM) to monitor the scow’s status at all times during the contract and to 

manage data history. For the purpose of these specifications, a scow is defined as any 

non-self-propelled vessel used to transport dredged material. This includes, but is not 

limited to, split-hull scows, pocket scows, hopper barges, and deck barges.

This performance-based specification section identifies the minimum required output and 

the precision and instrumentation requirements. The requirements may be satisfied using 

equipment and technical procedures selected by the Contractor. 

1.2 SUBMITTALS

The following shall be submitted in accordance with Section 01 33 00, “SUBMITTAL 

PROCEDURES”:

� SD-07, Certificates

- Letter of National Dredging Quality Management Program Certification

1.3 PAYMENT

No separate payment shall be made for installation, operation, and maintenance of the 

DQM-certified system as specified herein for the duration of the dredging operations; all 

costs in connection therewith will be considered a subsidiary obligation of the Contractor 

and covered under the contract unit price for dredging in the bidding schedule.

1.4 NATIONAL DREDGING QUALITY MANAGEMENT PROGRAM

CERTIFICATION

The Contractor is required to have a current certification from DQM for the scow 

instrumentation system to be used under this contract. Criteria for certification shall be 

based on the most recent specification posted on the DQM website 

(https://dqm.usace.army.mil/Specifications/Index.aspx). Compliance with these criteria 

https://dqm.usace.army.mil/Specifications/Index.aspx


Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

National Dredging Quality Management Program Scow Monitoring Profile 35 20 23.13-2

shall be verified by onsite quality assurance (QA) checks conducted by the DQM Support 

Center Data Acquisition and Analysis Team and by periodic review of the transmitted 

data. If a system is installed specifically for this contract, in order to ensure that it is 

capable of transmitting quality data to the DQM database, the QA checks should take 

place either prior to the start of the contract or, with prior approval of the local USACE 

District, as soon as practical after dredging commences. DQM certification is valid for 

one year from the date of certification and is contingent upon the system’s ability to meet 

the performance requirements as outlined in Paragraph 3.3, “Performance Requirements.” 

If issues with data quality are not corrected within 48 hours, the system certification shall 

be revoked and additional QA checks by the Data Acquisition and Analysis Team may be 

necessary.

Annual DQM certification shall be based on the following:

 A series of QA checks as outlined on the DQM website 

(https://dqm.usace.army.mil/Certifications/Index.aspx)

 Verification of data acquisition and transfer as described in Paragraph 3.3, 

“Performance Requirements”

 Review of the Dredge Plant Instrumentation Plan (DPIP) as described in 

Paragraph 1.5, “Dredge Plant Instrumentation Plan (DPIP)”

The Contractor shall have personnel who are familiar with the system instrumentation 

and who have the ability to recalibrate the sensors on site during the QA process. The 

Contractor shall coordinate pickup times and locations and provide transportation to and 

from any platform with a DQM system to team personnel in a timely manner. The 

Contractor shall also have on site for the QA checks a tug capable of towing the scow. As 

a general rule, DQM Data Acquisition and Analysis Team personnel will come with 

personal protective equipment (PPE) consisting of hardhats, steel toe boots, and life 

jackets. If additional safety equipment is needed—such as eye protection, safety 

harnesses, work gloves, or personal location beacons—these items shall be provided to 

the team while on site. The Contractor shall submit a test data package to the DQM 

database from the system on each scow and have it accepted by the DQM Support Center 

prior to scow compliance checks. The Contractor shall also submit data collected during 

the QA checks from the scow monitoring system to the DQM database and the Data 

Acquisition and Analysis Team personnel while on site. It is the Contractor’s obligation 

to inform the QA team if the location designated for the QA checks has any site-specific 

safety concerns prior to their arrival on site.

The owner or operator of the scow shall contact DQM at 

DQM-AnnualQA@rpsgroup.com on an annual basis, or at least three weeks prior to the 

proposed beginning of dredging, to schedule QA checks. This notification is meant to 

make the Data Acquisition and Analysis Team aware of a target date and the contract on 

https://dqm.usace.army.mil/Certifications/Index.aspx
mailto:DQM-AnnualQA@rpsgroup.com


Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

National Dredging Quality Management Program Scow Monitoring Profile 35 20 23.13-3

which the plant will be used. At least one week prior to the target date, the Contractor 

shall contact the Data Acquisition and Analysis Team and verbally coordinate a specific 

date and location. The Contractor shall then follow up this conversation with a written 

email confirmation. The owner/operator shall coordinate the QA checks with all local 

authorities including, but not limited to, the Town and USACE.

Recertification is required for any yard work which produces modification to 

displacement (for example, a change in scow lines, or repositioning or repainting hull 

marks), modification to bin volume (change in bin dimensions, or addition or subtraction 

of structure), or changes in sensor type or location; these changes shall be reported in the 

sensor log section of the DPIP. A system does not have to be transmitting data between 

jobs; however, in order to retain certification during this period, the system sensors or 

hardware should not be disconnected or removed from the scow. If the system is powered 

down, calibration coefficients shall be retained. 

1.5 DREDGE PLANT INSTRUMENTATION PLAN (DPIP)

The Contractor shall have a digital copy of the DPIP on file with the DQM Support 

Center. While working on site, the Contractor shall also maintain on the dredge a copy of 

the DPIP which is easily accessible to Government personnel at all times. This document 

shall describe the sensors used, configuration of the system, how sensor data will be 

collected, how quality control on the data will be performed, and how sensors/data 

reporting equipment will be calibrated and repaired if they fail. A description of 

computed scow-specific data and how the sensor data will be transmitted to the DQM 

database shall also be included. A complete list of the required DPIP contents is provided 

on the DQM website (https://dqm.usace.army.mil/Certifications/Index.aspx).

The Contractor shall submit to the DQM Support Center any addendum or modifications 

made to the plan, subsequent to its original submission, prior to the start of work. Any 

changes to the computation methods shall be approved by the DQM Support Center prior 

to their implementation.

PART 2 PRODUCTS (Not Applicable)

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.1 REQUIREMENTS FOR REPORTED DATA

The Contractor shall provide, operate, and maintain all hardware and software to meet 

these specifications. The Contractor shall be responsible for the replacement, repair, and 

calibration of sensors and other necessary data acquisition equipment needed to supply 

the required data. 

https://dqm.usace.army.mil/Certifications/Index.aspx


Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

National Dredging Quality Management Program Scow Monitoring Profile 35 20 23.13-4

Repairs shall be completed within 48 hours of any sensor failure. Upon completion of a 

repair, replacement, installation, modification, or calibration, the Contractor shall notify 

the USACE. The USACE may request recalibration of sensors or other hardware 

components at any time during the contract as deemed necessary. 

The Contractor shall keep a log of sensor repair, replacement, installation, modification, 

and calibration in the onsite copy of the DPIP. The log shall contain a three-year history 

of sensor maintenance, including the time of sensor failures (and subsequent repairs), the 

time and results of sensor calibrations, the time of sensor replacements, and the time that 

backup sensor systems were initiated to provide the required data. It shall also contain the 

name of the person responsible for the sensor work. 

Sensors installed shall be capable of collecting parameters within specified accuracies 

and resolutions indicated in the following subparagraphs.

With the exception of position and any value calculated, reported sensor values should 

represent a weighted average with the highest and lowest values not included in the 

calculated average for the given interval. The averaging routine used should be consistent 

across all event triggers. This information should be documented in the DPIP sections 

that say “Calculations done external to the instrumentation.”

These data-reporting requirements cover the collection of electronic data on a scow 

through the entire dredging cycle. Disposal events can consist of both open-water 

disposal and offloading. Open-water disposal is the placement of material via bottom 

doors or split hull. Offloading is the placement of material via either hydraulic or 

mechanical means.

3.1.1 Scow Name

Each scow shall be assigned a unique name that will remain constant from one dredging 

operation to the next. 

3.1.2 Contract Number

The USACE-assigned contract number for the project will be reported. 

3.1.3 Load Number

A DQM load number shall document the end of a disposal event for a given scow. 

3.1.4 Horizontal Positioning 

Horizontal positioning shall be recorded as the geographic coordinates of the vessel as 

indicated by the location of the Global Positioning System (GPS) antenna. All locations 



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

National Dredging Quality Management Program Scow Monitoring Profile 35 20 23.13-5

shall be obtained using a positioning system operating with a minimum accuracy level of 

1 to 3 meters horizontal Circular Error Probable (CEP). Positions shall be reported as 

Latitude/Longitude WGS 84 in decimal degrees. West Longitude and South Latitude 

values are reported as negative.

3.1.5 Date and Time

The date and time shall be reported to the nearest second and referenced to Universal 

Time Coordinated (UTC) based on a 24-hour format: yyyy-mm-dd hh:mm:ss. 

3.1.6 Hull Status

Hull status is meant to reflect a condition when material could be removed or released 

from the scow.

For this contract, hull status shall register closed prior to leaving the disposal area.

3.1.6.1 Open-Water Disposal

An open split hull or open bottom door of a scow shall be indicated by reporting an 

“OPEN” value. A closed split hull or closed bottom door of a scow shall be indicated by 

reporting a “CLOSED” value. An open status shall be indicated as the bin starts to open, 

and a closed status shall be indicated only once the bin is fully closed. For pocket scows, 

the open/closed status shall correspond to the compartment which is first to open and last 

to close. 

3.1.6.2 Offloading

For non-dumping scows, an “OPEN” value shall indicate that the bin is in the process of 

being unloaded, either by pumping or mechanical means.

3.1.7 Course

Scow course-over-ground (COG) shall be provided using industry-standard equipment. 

The Contractor shall provide scow course-over-ground (to the nearest whole degree) with 

values from 000 (true north) to 359 degrees referenced to a clockwise positive direction 

convention. 

3.1.8 Speed

Scow speed-over-ground shall be provided in knots using industry-standard equipment 

with a minimum accuracy of 1.0 knot and resolution to the nearest 0.1 knot.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

National Dredging Quality Management Program Scow Monitoring Profile 35 20 23.13-6

3.1.9 Heading

Scow heading shall be provided using industry-standard equipment. The scow heading 

shall be accurate to within 5 degrees and reported to the nearest whole degree with values 

from 000 (true north) to 359 degrees referenced to a clockwise positive direction 

convention.

3.1.10 Draft

All reported draft measurements shall be in feet, tenths, and hundredths with an accuracy 

of + 0.1 foot relative to observed physical draft readings. The measurements shall be 

reported at a resolution of two decimal places (hundredths of a foot). The reported 

forward draft value shall be equal to the sum of the visual forward port and starboard 

draft mark readings divided by two. The reported aft draft value shall be equal to the sum 

of the visual aft port and starboard draft mark readings divided by two. Forward draft, aft 

draft, and average draft will be reported. Sensors shall be placed at an optimum location 

on the scow to be reflective of observed physical draft mark readings at any trim or list. 

Minimum accuracies are conditional to relatively calm water. The sensor value reported 

shall be an average of at least ten samples per event, with at least one maximum value 

and one minimum value removed, and the minimum eight remaining values averaged. 

When the average draft is calculated for the purpose of determining displacement, 

significant digits for average draft shall be maintained such that if forward draft were 

0.15 and aft draft were 0.1, then the average draft would be 0.125.

3.1.11 Displacement

Scow displacement shall be reported in long tons, based on the most accurate method 

available for the scow. The minimum standard of accuracy for displacement is 

interpolation from the displacement table, based on the average draft. For this contract 

the density of water used to calculate displacement shall be 64 pounds/cubic foot. 

3.2 NATIONAL DREDGING QUALITY MANAGEMENT PROGRAM SYSTEM 

REQUIREMENTS

The Contractor’s DQM system shall be capable of collecting, displaying, and 

transmitting information to the DQM database. The parameters which shall be reported to 

the DQM database include trip number, date and time, hull status, scow course, scow 

speed, scow heading, draft, and displacement. An easily accessible, permanent visual 

display on the scow shall show in real time the parameters collected by the system in the 

same units as are used for data submitted to the DQM database. In the event a reported 

parameter is calculated based on multiple sensors, the sensor values as used in the 

equation shall be able to be viewed in addition to the required parameter. If a hardware 

problem occurs, or if a part of the system is physically damaged, then the Contractor shall 

be responsible for repairing it within 48 hours of determination of the condition.



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

National Dredging Quality Management Program Scow Monitoring Profile 35 20 23.13-7

3.2.1 Telemetry

The Contractor may select any commercial satellite, cellular phone, or other data 

communications systems available as long as it is capable of transmitting real-time data 

as well as enough additional bandwidth to clear historically queued data when a 

connection is reobtained. If connectivity is lost, unsent data shall be queued and 

transmitted upon restoration of connectivity. Delays in pushing real-time data to the 

DQM database should not exceed four hours. Exceptions to these requirements may be 

granted by the DQM Support Center on a case-by-case basis with consideration for 

contract-specific requirements, site-specific conditions, and extreme weather events. 

The data transition process from the scow to the DQM database must be automated. The 

data may be sent from the scow directly to the DQM database or to a shore-based system. 

Data transmitted to the DQM database should be raw data; any processing of the data 

conducted shoreside shall be done using repeatable automated software or programming 

routine. A description of this process shall be included in the DPIP.

3.2.2 Data Reporting Frequency

Disposal activities shall be logged with high temporal and spatial resolution. Data shall 

be logged as a series of events. Each set of measurements (time, position, etc.) will be 

considered an event. Any required information in Paragraph 3.1, “Requirements for 

Reported Data,” that is not an averaged variable (that is, draft and ullage) shall be 

collected within 1 second of the reported time. Data shall be measured with sufficient 

frequency by the scow system to resolve the events to the accuracy specified in the 

following table. Any averaged variable must be collected and computed within this 

sampling interval. Event types “Sailing,” “Loading/Stationary,” “Offloading,” and “Open 

Water Disposal” are triggered by a time criterion; the criterion should be consistent 

across the “Sailing” and “Open Water Disposal” event types and should not change for 

the data collected on a given scow. This criterion should be documented by the 

Contractor in the DPIP. 

Event 

Type

Event Trigger Descriptions Event Time 

Resolution

Event 

Position 

Resolution

Loading/ 

Stationary

No change in position with hull status closed

An elapsed time of 1 hour since the last event.

No change in position with hull status open

-------------NONCLOSURE-------------

In the event a scow has completed an open-water 

disposal and transited back to a holding station 

without closing the hull, the sampling shall be 

changed to once per hour.

1 minute N/A



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

National Dredging Quality Management Program Scow Monitoring Profile 35 20 23.13-8

Event 

Type

Event Trigger Descriptions Event Time 

Resolution

Event 

Position 

Resolution

Sailing Change in position with hull status closed

Time from the last sample equals 1 minute.

1 second +/- 10 feet

Open 

Water 

Disposal

Hull status open

A position must be recorded within 1 second of the 

hull status going from closed to open and again 

within 1 second of the hull status going from open to 

closed. The position shall be reported at any equal 

interval from 6 to 12 seconds. This interval shall 

always remain consistent for the dredge plant.

1 second +/- 10 feet

Offloading Offloading material, hull status reported as open

A position must be recorded within 1 minute of arrival 

at the offload location and within 1 second of the 

material starting to be removed from the scow. The 

time from the last sample equals 1 minute. 

----------STANDBY OFFLOADING----------

In the event a scow is not being actively offloaded at 

the offload location for a time equal to 1 hour, the 

sampling interval shall be equal to once an hour.

1 second 

1 minute

+/- 10 feet

Example: The scow is stationary for 1 hour and 15 minutes, and then it sails to the 

disposal area. You should have a “Loading/Stationary” event at time 0, time 1 hour, and 

time 1 hour and 15 minutes. Then, for “Sailing,” within 1 second of an elapsed time of 

1 minute from the 1 hour and 15 minutes event, another event occurs.

3.2.3 Data Transmission to the Web Service

A Simple Object Access Protocol (SOAP) web service shall be used to report sensor data 

to the DQM database. Data shall be transmitted as it is collected in real time and pushed 

to the DQM web service. If the web service is not available or returns an error message, 

the data shall be stored in a queue and transmitted upon re-establishment of the 

connection, starting with the oldest data in the queue and continuing until real-time 

transmission is restored. 

Contact dqm-support@usace.army.mil to obtain the web service URL and the appropriate 

key credentials and communication protocol.

The data transmission method call takes two arguments: a string containing the plant 

identifier assigned by the DQM Support Center and a second string containing the XML-

formatted sensor data. The method returns the string “OK” if the data is received. If the 

data is not received, either the web service or the client application throws an error.

mailto:dqm-support@usace.army.mil


Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

National Dredging Quality Management Program Scow Monitoring Profile 35 20 23.13-9

3.2.4 XML-Formatted Sensor Data String

Each scow event shall be passed as a string on one continuous line of data. The example 

below is broken up by variable for ease of reading:

<?xml version="1.0"?>

<SCOW_DREDGING_DATA version="2.5">

<SCOW_NAME>AU1994</SCOW_NAME>

<CONTRACT>W123BA-09-D-0087_RL01</CONTRACT>

<TRIP_NUMBER>34</TRIP_NUMBER>

<X_POSITION>-81.670632</X_POSITION>

<Y_POSITION>41.528987</Y_POSITION>

<DATE_TIME>2010-08-14 10:50:15</DATE_TIME>

<SCOW_SPEED>0.0</SCOW_SPEED>

<SCOW_COURSE>0.0</SCOW_COURSE>

<HULL_STATUS>OPEN</HULL_STATUS>

<SCOW_HEADING></SCOW_HEADING>

<SCOW_FWD_DRAFT></SCOW_FWD_DRAFT>

<SCOW_AFT_DRAFT></SCOW_AFT_DRAFT>

<SCOW_AVG_DRAFT></SCOW_AVG_DRAFT>

<ULLAGE_FWD></ULLAGE_FWD>

<ULLAGE_AFT></ULLAGE_AFT>

<ULLAGE_AVG></ULLAGE_AVG>

<SCOW_BIN_VOLUME></SCOW_BIN_VOLUME>

<SCOW_DISPLACEMENT></SCOW_DISPLACEMENT>

<SCOW_LIGHTSHIP></SCOW_LIGHTSHIP>

<SCOW_TDS></SCOW_TDS>

<ADDITIONAL_DATA>Some more scow info, if needed</ADDITIONAL_DATA>

</SCOW_DREDGING_DATA>

DATE_TIME values shall be formatted as YYYY-MM-DD HH:MM:SS, as shown above. 

If, for any reason, a field has no value, the enclosing XML tags should be sent with 

nothing between them (for example, <DRAFT_AFT></DRAFT_AFT>). The web 

service cannot handle a “null” value or any other indicators of no value collected.

3.2.5 Contractor Data Backup

The Contractor shall maintain an archive of all data sent to the DQM database during the 

dredging contract. The Town may require, at no increase in the contract price, that the 

Contractor provide a copy of these data covering specified time periods. The data shall be 

provided in the HTML format which would have been transmitted to the DQM database. 

Data submission shall be via storage medium acceptable to the Town. 

At the end of the dredging contract, the Contractor shall contact the DQM Support Center 

prior to discarding the data. The DQM Support Center will verify that all data has been 

received and appropriately archived before giving the Contractor discard permission. The 



Technical Specifications

2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II

Town of Wellfleet, MA

National Dredging Quality Management Program Scow Monitoring Profile 35 20 23.13-10

Contractor shall then record in a separate section at the end of the scow’s onsite copy of 

the DPIP the following information:

� Person who made the call

� Date of the call

 � DQM representative who gave permission to discard

3.3 PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS

The Contractor’s DQM system shall be fully operational at the start of dredging 

operations and fully certified prior to moving dredge material on the contract (see 

Paragraph 1.4, “National Dredging Quality Management Program Certification”). To 

meet contract requirements for operability, in addition to certification, the Contractor’s 

system shall provide, at a minimum, a data string with values for all parameters while 

operating, as described within the specifications. Additionally, all hardware shall be 

compliant with DPIP requirements (Paragraph 1.5, “Dredge Plant Instrumentation Plan 

[DPIP]”). Quality data strings are considered to be those providing values for all 

parameters reported when operating according to the specification. Repairs necessary to 

restore data return compliance shall be made within 48 hours. Failure by the Contractor 

to report the required data within the specified time window for scow measurements (see 

Paragraph 3.2.2, “Data Reporting Frequency,” and Paragraph 3.2.3, “Data Transmission 

to the Web Service”) and failure to receive DQM certification prior to dredging will 

result in withholding of up to 10% of the contract progress payment per clause 52.232-5.

3.4 LIST OF ITEMS TO BE PROVIDED BY THE CONTRACTOR 

DPIP https://dqm.usace.army.mil/Certifications/Index.aspx

DQM SYSTEM

Sensor instrumentation Paragraph 3.1, “Requirements for Reported Data”

SCOW DATA

Event documentation Paragraph 3.2.2, “Data Reporting Frequency”

Data reports Paragraph 3.2.3, “Data Transmission to the Web 

Service”

QA EQUIPMENT ON THE DREDGE

Clear and accurate draft marks

---END OF SECTION 35 20 23.13---

https://dqm.usace.army.mil/Certifications/Index.aspx


ATTACHMENT A

DRAWINGS

drobbins
Text Box
See 2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging – Area II Drawings Sheets 1 of 5 through 5 of 5 



ATTACHMENT B

PREVAILING WAGE RATES



THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR STANDARDS

As determined by the Director under the provisions of the 

Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 149, Sections 26 to 27H

EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF LABOR AND WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT

Prevailing Wage Rates
MAURA HEALEY LAUREN JONES

SecretaryGovernor

MICHAEL FLANAGAN

The project consists of dredging harbor bottom sediment from an area of Wellfleet Harbor known as Area 2 (South 

Mooring Field). Dredged sediment will be disposed of at Cape Cod Bay Disposal Site.

Director

Awarding Authority: Town of Wellfleet

City/Town:Contract Number: WELLFLEET

Description of Work:

Job Location: 255 Commercial Street

Wage Request Number:    20230410-071Issue Date: 04/11/2023

Information about Prevailing Wage Schedules for Awarding Authorities and Contractors 

•  The wage rates will remain in effect for the duration of the project, except in the case of multi-year public construction projects. For        

   construction projects lasting longer than one year, awarding authorities must request an updated wage schedule no later than two           

   weeks before the anniversary of the date the contract was executed by the awarding authority and the general contractor. For multi-

   year CM AT RISK projects, the awarding authority must request an annual update no later than two weeks before the anniversary date, 

   determined as the earlier of: (a) the execution date of the GMP Amendment, or (b) the execution date of the first amendment to permit 

  procurement of construction services. The annual update requirement is not applicable to 27F “rental of equipment” contracts. The  

  updated wage schedule must be provided to all contractors, including general and sub-contractors, working on the construction 

  project.

•  This wage schedule applies only to the specific project referenced at the top of this page and uniquely identified by the “Wage Request 

  Number” on all pages of this schedule. 

•  An Awarding Authority must request an updated wage schedule if it has not opened bids or selected a contractor within 90 days of the 

  date of issuance of the wage schedule. For CM AT RISK projects (bid pursuant to G.L. c.149A), the earlier of: (a) the execution date of the  

  GMP Amendment, or (b) the bid for the first construction scope of work must be within 90-days of the wage schedule issuance date.

•  The wage schedule shall be incorporated in any advertisement or call for bids for the project as required by M.G.L. c. 149, § 27. The wage 

  schedule shall be made a part of the contract awarded for the project. The wage schedule must be posted in a conspicuous place at the 

  work site for the life of the project in accordance with M.G.L. c. 149 § 27. The wages listed on the wage schedule must be paid to 

  employees performing construction work on the project whether they are employed by the prime contractor, a filed sub-bidder, or a sub-

  contractor.

•  Apprentices working on the project are required to be registered with the Massachusetts Division of Apprentice Standards (DAS). 

  Apprentices must keep their apprentice identification card on their persons during all work hours on the project. An apprentice registered  

  with DAS may be paid the lower apprentice wage rate at the applicable step as provided on the prevailing wage schedule. Any apprentice 

  not registered with DAS regardless of whether they are registered with another federal, state, local, or private agency must be paid the 

  journeyworker's rate.

•  Every contractor or subcontractor working on the construction project must submit weekly payroll reports and a Statement of 

  Compliance directly to the awarding authority by mail or email and keep them on file for three years. Each weekly payroll report must 

  contain: the employee’s name, address, occupational classification, hours worked, and wages paid. Do not submit weekly payroll reports 

  to DLS. For a sample payroll reporting form go to http://www.mass.gov/dols/pw. 

•  Contractors with questions about the wage rates or classifications included on the wage schedule have an affirmative obligation to 

  inquire with DLS at (617) 626-6953. 

•  Contractors must obtain the wage schedules from awarding authorities. Failure of a contractor or subcontractor to pay the prevailing 

  wage rates listed on the wage schedule to all employees who perform construction work on the project is a violation of the law and 

  subjects the contractor or subcontractor to civil and criminal penalties.

•  Employees not receiving the prevailing wage rate set forth on the wage schedule may file a complaint with the Fair Labor Division of the 

  office of the Attorney General at (617) 727-3465. 

KIM DRISCOLL 

Lt. Governor



Classification Total RateBase Wage Health Pension
Supplemental

Unemployment
Effective Date

Op Eng Marine (Dredging Work)

BOAT OPERATOR
OPERATING ENGINEERS - MARINE DIVISION

$40.19 10/01/2017 $7.63 $0.00 $29.26 $3.30

CERTIFIED WELDER
OPERATING ENGINEERS - MARINE DIVISION

$42.32 10/01/2017 $7.63 $0.00 $31.09 $3.60

CHIEF WELDER/ CHIEF MATE
OPERATING ENGINEERS - MARINE DIVISION

$44.25 10/01/2017 $7.63 $0.00 $33.02 $3.60

DERRICK / SPIDER / SPILLBARGE OPERATOR
OPERATING ENGINEERS - MARINE DIVISION

$44.25 10/01/2017 $7.63 $0.00 $33.02 $3.60

DRAG BARGE OPERATOR / WELDER / MATE
OPERATING ENGINEERS - MARINE DIVISION

$41.17 10/01/2017 $7.63 $0.00 $30.24 $3.30

ENGINEER / ELECTRICIAN
OPERATING ENGINEERS - MARINE DIVISION

$44.25 10/01/2017 $7.63 $0.00 $33.02 $3.60

LICENSED BOAT OPERATOR
OPERATING ENGINEERS - MARINE DIVISION

$44.25 10/01/2017 $7.63 $0.00 $33.02 $3.60

LICENSED TUG OPERATOR OVER 1000HP
OPERATING ENGINEERS - MARINE DIVISION

$49.41 10/01/2017 $7.63 $0.00 $38.18 $3.60

MAINTENANCE ENGINEER
OPERATING ENGINEERS - MARINE DIVISION

$44.26 10/01/2017 $7.63 $0.00 $33.03 $3.60

OILER - MARINE DIVISION
OPERATING ENGINEERS - MARINE DIVISION

$34.93 10/01/2017 $7.63 $0.00 $24.30 $3.00

OPERATOR / LEVERMAN
OPERATING ENGINEERS - MARINE DIVISION

$49.41 10/01/2017 $7.63 $0.00 $38.18 $3.60

RODMAN / SCOWMAN
OPERATING ENGINEERS - MARINE DIVISION

$34.93 10/01/2017 $7.63 $0.00 $24.30 $3.00

SHOREMAN / DECKHAND
OPERATING ENGINEERS - MARINE DIVISION

$34.93 10/01/2017 $7.63 $0.00 $24.30 $3.00

Additional Apprentice Information:

Minimum wage rates for apprentices employed on public works projects are listed above as a percentage of the pre-determined hourly wage rate established by the

Commissioner under the provisions of the M.G.L. c. 149, ss. 26-27D.  Apprentice ratios are established by the Division of Apprenticeship Training pursuant to M.G.L.

c. 23, ss. 11E-11L.

All apprentices must be registered with the Division of Apprenticeship Training in accordance with M.G.L. c. 23, ss. 11E-11L.

All steps are six months (1000 hours.)

Ratios are expressed in allowable number of apprentices to journeymen or fraction thereof, unless otherwise specified.

**      Multiple ratios are listed in the comment field.

***    APP to JM; 1:1, 2:2, 2:3, 3:4, 4:4, 4:5, 4:6, 5:7, 6:7, 6:8, 6:9, 7:10, 8:10, 8:11, 8:12, 9:13, 10:13, 10:14, etc.

****  APP to JM; 1:1, 1:2, 2:3, 2:4, 3:5, 4:6, 4:7, 5:8, 6:9, 6:10, 7:11, 8:12, 8:13, 9:14, 10:15, 10:16, etc.

Issue Date: Wage Request Number:04/11/2023 Page 2 of 220230410-071



ATTACHMENT C

REGULATORY PERMITS



 

 

drobbins
Text Box
• Expanded Environmental Notification Form Certificate  • Order of Conditions • MESA Conservation Management Permit (CMP) • MESA CMP Amendment • MassDEP Combined Chapter 91/401 WQC • CZM Federal Consistency Review • MEPA Final Record of Decision • Suitability Determination  • US Army Corps of Engineers (Example from Area 1)



 

Expanded Environmental Notification Form Certificate 

  

















































 

Order of Conditions 

  









































 

MESA Conservation Management Permit (CMP) 

  











































 

MESA CMP Amendment 

  



























 

MassDEP Combined Chapter 91/401 WQC 

  













































 

CZM Federal Consistency Review 

  



 

 

        
August 13, 2018 

Town of Wellfleet 
C/o Alyssa Richard 
Bourne Consulting Engineering 
3 Bent Street 
Franklin, MA  02038 
 
  Re:  CZM Federal Consistency Review of Wellfleet Harbor Dredging Project; Wellfleet. 
 
Dear Ms. Richard: 
 
 The Massachusetts Office of Coastal Zone Management (CZM) has completed its review of the 
proposed maintenance dredging of a historic channel and anchorage area within the Town of Wellfleet. 
 

Based upon our review of applicable information, we concur with your certification and find that 
the activity as proposed is consistent with the CZM enforceable program policies. 
 

If the above-referenced project is modified in any manner, including any changes resulting from 
permit, license or certification revisions, including those ensuing from an appeal, or the project is noted 
to be having effects on coastal resources or uses that are different than originally proposed, it is 
incumbent upon the proponent to notify CZM, submit an explanation of the nature of the change 
pursuant to 15 CFR 930, and submit any modified state permits, licenses, or certifications.  CZM will use 
this information to determine if further federal consistency review is required. 
 

Thank you for your cooperation with CZM. 
 
       Sincerely,  
             
 
        

Bruce K. Carlisle, 
       Director 
RLB/pb 
CZM # 16366 
 
cc: Phillip Nimeskern, Project manager 
  Regulatory Branch, NED, US Army Corps of Engineers 
 Ben Lynch, Program Chief, 
  Waterways Regulation, Massachusetts DEP 
 Derek Standish, Environmental Engineer, 
  Wetlands Program, Massachusetts DEP 
 Jim Mahala, DEP  
  Southeast Regional Office  
 Michael Flanagan, Harbormaster  
  Commercial Street, Wellfleet, MA 02667  
 Steve McKenna, 
  CZM Cape Cod Regional Coordinator 
 



 

MEPA Final Record of Decision 

  



 

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts 
Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs 

100 Cambridge Street, Suite 900 
Boston, MA 02114 

 

Charles D. Baker 
GOVERNOR 

 
Karyn E. Polito 

LIEUTENANT GOVERNOR 
 

Matthew A. Beaton 
SECRETARY 

 

Tel: (617) 626-1000 
Fax: (617) 626-1181 

http://www.mass.gov/envir 

 
December 9, 2016 

 
FINAL RECORD OF DECISION  

 
 
PROJECT NAME : Wellfleet Harbor Maintenance Dredging 
PROJECT MUNICIPALITY  : Wellfleet 
PROJECT WATERSHED  : Cape Cod 
EEA NUMBER   : 15506 
PROJECT PROPONENT  : Town of Wellfleet 
DATE NOTICED IN MONITOR : , 2016 
 
 
 Pursuant to the Massachusetts Environmental Policy Act (MEPA, M.G.L. c. 30, ss. 61-62I) and 
Section 11.11 of the MEPA Regulations (301 CMR 11.00), I have reviewed this project and hereby 
grant a waiver from the categorical requirement to prepare an Environmental Impact Report (EIR). 
 
Project Description 
 

As described in the Expanded Environmental Notification Form (EENF), the project consists of 
maintenance dredging of all Town managed channels and anchorages within Wellfleet Harbor to restore 
safe and reliable navigation. There are two primary dredge areas (Areas I and II) which are composed of 
five dredge sites within Wellfleet Harbor that have been maintained by the Town for more than sixty 
years. The Town proposes to dredge all historically permitted areas to address major shoaling of these 
areas which impedes commercial and recreational navigation in the harbor. The scale of the projects and 
their associated costs has limited the Town’s ability to adequately provide maintenance dredging on a 
more frequent basis.   

 
Area I includes the North and South Access Channels, North Anchorage and the Access Channel 

adjacent to the L-Pier. Area II includes the South Anchorage. Water depths in the North Channel and 
North Anchorage are at 3 feet or less below mean low water (MLW) which hinders navigation and 
available draft in the marina slips. Some of the marina is now dry at low tide and approximately 15 
percent of Area I is intertidal. Many of the mooring in the South Anchorage are dry at low tide. 
Approximately 64 percent of Area II has become intertidal mudflat with elevations ranging between 0 

1 
 



EEA #15506 Final Record of Decision December 9, 2016 

and +1 feet MLW. The deepest depths range between -1 and -2 feet MLW. 
 
The EENF includes a table identifying previously issued permits associated with dredging. All 

dredging will occur to depths of -6 feet MLW with a one foot allowance for overdredge. The total 
volume of sediment to be dredged is approximately 364,500 cubic yards (cy). Offshore disposal is 
proposed at the Cape Cod Bay Disposal Site (CCBDS). Sediment within proposed dredge areas consists 
of fine silt and, therefore, is not suitable for beneficial reuse as beach nourishment. The EENF indicates 
that the dredging will occur in two or three phases subsequent to dredging of the federal anchorage by 
the United States Army Corps of Engineers (ACOE).  

 
The following table summarizes the proposed dredge areas and volumes: 

 
Site Dredge Area 

(acres) 
Dredge Volume 

(cy) 
1-foot Overdredge 

Volume (cy) 
Total Dredge 
Volume (cy) 

North and South 
Access Channels 

10.3 65,000 16,000 81,000 

North Anchorage 
Basin 

3.5 25,000 7,000 32,000 

L-Pier Access 
Channel 

0.8 2,500 1,000 3,500 

South Anchorage 
Basin 

23.9 211,000 37,000 248,000 

Total 38.5 303,500 61,000 364,500 
 

Project Site 
 
 Wellfleet Harbor is a natural harbor and is significant to the history of the Town. It has provided 
dockage and anchorage for fishing and recreational vessels since 1644. The harbor is currently used by 
commercial fishing vessels, charter boats, and recreational boats. According to the EENF, the existing 
channels and anchorages gradually accumulate sediments through natural processes and periodic 
maintenance is required to maintain navigation. The Town currently operates 250 moorings and 150 
boat slips within the harbor. The Town maintains and operates a marina north of the Town Pier and two 
anchorages, one to the north and one to the south of the Federal Navigation Channel. The Federal 
Navigation Channel provides access into Wellfleet Harbor with an anchorage basin at the head of the 
channel. 
 

The EENF stresses the importance of the marina to the Town’s economy. Access to the marina is 
maintained from the Federal Channel via the South Access Channel and North Access Channel. The 
North Anchorage (Area I) is used to provide seasonal mooring to approximately 35 boats. The South 
Anchorage (Area II) is contiguous with the Federal Anchorage and both anchorages combined provide 
approximately 200 seasonal moorings for boats. Areas I and II were last dredged in 2001 and 1957, 
respectively. 

 
Wellfleet Harbor, with the exception of the existing federal and town channels and anchorages, 

has been designated an Area of Critical Environmental Concern (ACEC). The project does not propose 
expansion of the existing maintenance dredge areas, and therefore, will lie fully outside the boundaries 

2 



EEA #15506 Final Record of Decision December 9, 2016 

of the Wellfleet ACEC. 
 
Jurisdiction and Permitting 
 
  This project is undergoing MEPA review and is subject to a mandatory EIR pursuant to 301 
CMR 11.03(3)(a)(1)(b) of the MEPA regulations because it requires a State Agency Action and will 
alter ten or more acres of wetlands. The project also exceeds ENF thresholds pursuant to 301 CMR 
11.03(2)(b)(2) because it will disturb greater than two acres of designated priority habitat that results in 
a take of a state-listed rare species; 301 CMR 11.03(3)(b)(3) because it will involve dredging of 10,000 
or more cy of material; and 301 CMR 11.03(3)(b)(4) because it will involve disposal of 10,000 or more 
cy of material. The project will require a Section 401 Water Quality Certification (401 WQC) and a 
Chapter 91 (c. 91) Permit from the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (MassDEP). 
The project will require a Conservation and Management Permit (CMP) from the Natural Heritage and 
Endangered Species Program (NHESP). 
 

The project will require an Order of Conditions from the Wellfleet Conservation Commission (or 
in the case of an appeal, a Superseding Order of Conditions from MassDEP) and an Individual Permit 
from the United States Army Corps of Engineers (ACOE) in accordance with Section 404 of the Federal 
Clean Water Act (CWA). The project is also subject to Federal Consistency Review by the 
Massachusetts Office of Coastal Zone Management (CZM). 
 

The project is subject to review under the May 2010 MEPA Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions 
Policy and Protocol (GHG Policy). However, the project meets the de minimis exception outlined in the 
MEPA GHG Policy. 
 

Because the project may include State Financial Assistance, MEPA jurisdiction is broad in scope 
and extends to all aspects of the project that are likely, directly or indirectly, to cause Damage to the 
Environment, as defined in the MEPA regulations. 
 
Environmental Impacts and Mitigation 
 

Potential environmental impacts associated with the project include direct alteration of 38.5 acres 
of Land Under Ocean (LUO) and Land Containing Shellfish (LCS), and 11 acres of Tidal Flats. 

 
  Measures to avoid, minimize and mitigate potential environmental impacts include: adherence to 
time-of-year (TOY) restrictions to protect sensitive species such as horseshoe crabs, winter flounder, 
shellfish, and right whales; dredging within previously dredged areas; and mechanical dredging with an 
environmental bucket. A suitability determination for offshore disposal from ACOE indicates that the 
dredged material is suitable for disposal at the CCBDS. 
 
Waiver Request 
 

In accordance with Section 11.05(7) of the MEPA regulations, the Town submitted an EENF 
with a request that I waive the requirement for a mandatory EIR. Supplemental information1 identifies 
the project’s consistency with the criteria for a Waiver. The EENF was subject to an extended comment 

1 Email submitted on May 10, 2016 by Russell Titmuss, Bourne Consulting Engineering, PC, on behalf of the Town. 

3 

                         



EEA #15506 Final Record of Decision December 9, 2016 

period pursuant to Section 11.06(1) of the MEPA regulations. Comment letters from State Agencies on 
the EENF supported the Waiver request and identified outstanding issues that should be addressed prior 
to issuance of permits.  Comments from the Cape Cod Commission (CCC) indicate concern with 
potential impacts to rare species but support the Town’s request for a Waiver to balance protection of 
the natural environment and rare species and their habitat while providing for the maintenance of 
important public infrastructure. 
 
Standards for All Waivers 
 
 The MEPA regulations at 301 CMR 11.11(1) state that I may waive any provision or 
requirement in 301 CMR 11.00 not specifically required by MEPA and may impose appropriate and 
relevant conditions or restrictions, provided that I find that strict compliance with the provision or 
requirement would: 
 

(a) Result in an undue hardship for the Proponent, unless based on delay in compliance by the 
Proponent; and,  

(b) Not serve to avoid or minimize Damage to the Environment.  
 

Determinations for an EIR Waiver 
 
 The MEPA regulations at 301 CMR 11.11(3) state that, in the case of a waiver of a mandatory 
EIR review threshold, I shall at a minimum base the finding required in accordance with 301 CMR 
11.11(1)(b) stated above on a determination that:  
 

(a) The project is likely to cause no Damage to the Environment; and, 
(b) Ample and unconstrained infrastructure facilities and services exist to support those     
aspects of the project within subject matter jurisdiction.  

 
Findings 
 
  Based upon the information submitted by the Town, consultation with the relevant State 
Agencies, and review of comment letters, I find that the Waiver request has merit and that the Town has 
demonstrated that the proposed project can meet the standards for all waivers at 301 CMR 11.11(1). I 
find that strict compliance with the requirement to prepare a mandatory EIR for the project would result 
in undue hardship for the Town as sufficient means to avoid, minimize and mitigate Damage to the 
Environment have been demonstrated in the EENF. The Draft Record of Decision (DROD) was 
conditioned upon the provision of supplemental information to address outstanding issues prior to State 
permitting, including documentation that the dredging is limited to maintenance dredging of historically 
permitted areas to maintain access into Wellfleet Harbor.  
 
  The Town presented sufficient information regarding potential project alternatives, existing and 
proposed environmental conditions and impacts, and appropriate and feasible mitigation in support of 
the Waiver request.  
 
 I also find that compliance with the requirement to prepare an EIR for the project would not 
serve to avoid or minimize Damage to the Environment. In accordance with 301 CMR 11.11(3), this 

4 



EEA #15506 Final Record of Decision December 9, 2016 

finding is based on my determination that: 
 
1. The project is not likely to cause Damage to the Environment. The project will employ the following 

mitigation measures to ensure the impacts of the project are avoided, minimized and mitigated: 
 

• The Town will adhere to time-of-year (TOY) restrictions to protect sensitive species such as 
horseshoe crabs, winter flounder, shellfish, right whales, and state-listed rare species, as 
determined by the conditions of permits subsequent to consultation with DMF, MassDEP, 
and NHESP. 

• Use of mechanical dredging with an environmental bucket. 
• Town has demonstrated that dredge material is suitable for offshore disposal at the CCBDS. 

 
The Town provided the following supplemental information to support its Waiver request: 

 
• documentation (previous permits and/or licenses) that the proposed work will be performed 

within a previously authorized dredge area which does not extend beyond the original dredge 
depth, width or length (any dredge work beyond the scope of previously issued licenses 
would be categorized as improvement dredging and would be permitted accordingly); 

• delineation of salt marsh and any available historic mapping of the salt marsh resource area; 
• expanded description of rare species mitigation including identification of the amount of 

funding for research. 
 
In addition, the project will require an Order of Conditions from the Wellfleet Conservation 
Commission, and a Section 401 WQC and a c. 91 from MassDEP, and will comply with all 
conditions of these permits. The Town will continue to work collaboratively with State Agencies and 
CCC during the permitting process to further refine project mitigation measures.  
 
The Town will work with NHESP, through permitting, to finalize mitigation for a “take” of the 
Diamond-backed Terrapin to meet the performance standards of a CMP for compliance with MESA 
and its implementing regulations (321 CMR 10.00).  

 
2. Ample and unconstrained infrastructure facilities and services exist to support those aspects of the 
project within subject matter jurisdiction: 
 

• The project does not require any infrastructure or services to accomplish its overall goal of 
dredging and offshore disposal. Therefore, this criterion does not apply to this project. 

 
  

5 



EEA #15506 Final Record of Decision December 9, 2016 

Conclusion 
 
 Based on these findings, I have determined that the Waiver request has merit. A DROD was 
issued on May 27,2016 and published in the Environmental Monitor on June 8, 2016 in accordance with 
301 CMR 11.15(2). The public comment period began on November 3, 2016 upon receipt of the 
supplemental information identified above. Based on written comments received concerning the DROD, 
and after consultation with MassDEP and NHESP, I hereby grant a waiver from the requirement to 
prepare a mandatory EIR, subject to the above findings and conditions.   
 
 
 

        
  December 9, 2016       ___________________________      
           Date                Matthew A. Beaton 

 
 
Comments received on the DROD: 
 
12/01/2016 Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (MassDEP) –  

Southeast Regional Office (SERO) 
12/7/2016 Massachusetts Division of Fisheries and Wildlife (DFW) – Natural Heritage and 

Endangered Species Program (NHESP) 
 
 
Comments received: 
 
04/25/2016 Massachusetts Board of Underwater Archaeological Resources (BUAR) 
05/10/2016 Massachusetts Division of Marine Fisheries (DMF) 
05/19/2016 Cape Cod Commission (CCC) 
05/20/2016 MassDEP/SERO 
05/20/2016 NHESP 
05/20/2016 Massachusetts Office of Coastal Zone Management (CZM) 
 
 
MAB/PPP/ppp 

6 



 

Suitability Determination 

  



CENAE–R-P-MAS   13 March 2015 
 
 
Memorandum Thru: 
 
Ruth M. Ladd, Chief, Policy Analysis and Technical Support Branch 
 
For: Phill Nimeskern, Project Manager, CENAE-R-B 
 
Subject: Suitability Determination for Town of Wellfleet - CORRECTED, 
Wellfleet Harbor, Wellfleet, MA, Application Number NAE-2005-1059. 
 
1.  Summary: 
 Based on an evaluation of the data that characterize the material 
proposed to be dredged, this memorandum addresses the suitability of that 
material for disposal as proposed at the Cape Cod Bay Disposal Site (CCBDS) 
in accordance with applicable regulations.  The Marine Analysis Section (MAS) 
finds that the data provide sufficient information to satisfy the evaluation and 
testing requirements of the appropriate regulations.  The determination found 
that some of the sediments were unsuitable for open water disposal. However, 
MAS talked to the lab and had them re-examine the method detection limits 
reported previously.  The lab reported back on 23 February that their previous 
report was in error and submitted a new corrected data report. Examining 
these new values showed that ALL these sediments are suitable for unconfined 
open water disposal at CCBDS as proposed.   
 
2.  Project Description: 
 The applicant is proposing to dredge two areas in Wellfleet Harbor.  The 
first area (Area 1) is comprised of the North and South channels, the North 
Anchorage, and the Access Channel adjacent to L-Pier.  This area is 
approximately 674,309 sq. ft. and would be dredged to depths of - 6 ft. MLW.  
Approximately 118,300 cu. yds. of material will be removed.  The second area 
(Area 2) is the South Anchorage.  This area is approximately 945,688 sq. ft. 
and would be dredged to depths of – 6 MLW, producing approximately 248,000 
cu. yds. of material to be removed.  The Town of Wellfleet proposes to 
mechanically dredge and dispose of this material at the Cape Cod Bay Disposal 
Site (CCBDS).  This area was last permitted to be dredged in part ten years ago. 
 
3.  Sampling and Testing: 
 Charles N. Farris prepared a sampling plan for this project on 25 March 
2014.  The plan called for 14 cores (W-1 through W-14) to be taken from the 
project area.  Bulk sediment chemistry analyses were conducted on four 
composites comprised of 14 samples (EXAMPLE: Composite A is comprised of 
cores W-5 and W-6).  See the spreadsheets for details. 
 
  



CENAE-R-PT 
SUBJECT: Suitability Determination for Town of Wellfleet, Wellfleet Harbor, 
Wellfleet, MA, Application Number NAE-2005-1059 
 

2 
 

Comparison to (CCBDS) Reference Values 
 

 Metals: The contaminant concentrations in the sediments represented 
by Composites A through D were below or near the means plus twice the 
standard deviations of the contaminant concentrations found at the CCBDS 
reference site.  The exception is copper in Composite A, which is two times 
larger.  See the attached spreadsheets for details. 
   
 PAHs: In all of the project sediment samples, the PAH concentrations 
were below or near the means plus twice the standard deviations of the 
contaminant concentrations found at the CCBDS reference site.  See the 
attached spreadsheets for details. 
 
4.  Regulations governing the determination of the suitability of dredged 
material for open-water disposal: 
 The disposal of dredged material seaward of the high tide line in Cape 
Cod Bay is regulated under Section 404 of the Clean Water Act (CWA).  
 
 Subpart G of the Section 404(b)(1) guidelines (40 CFR Section 230.60 
and 230.61) describes the procedures for determining the suitability of this 
material for open-water disposal, including any relevant testing that may be 
required. 
 
40 CFR 230.60 General Evaluation of Dredged or Fill Material 
 
 (a) This subsection states that further testing may not be necessary if it 
could be determined with the evaluation under paragraph (b) that the sediment 
is not a carrier of contaminants.  Dredged or fill material is most likely to be 
free from pollutants when it is composed primarily of sand, gravel or other 
naturally occurring inert material.  Based upon our Tier 1 review, the proposed 
dredge sediment is primarily sand, gravel or other inert material in an area of 
high current and/or wave energy and evaluation under paragraph (b) below 
indicates the material is not a carrier of contaminants.  Therefore, this 
subsection does not apply.  Based upon our Tier 1 review, evaluation under 
paragraph (b) below indicates the proposed dredge sediment is a carrier of 
contaminants so this subsection does not apply.   
 
 (b) This subsection states that the site should be evaluated to determine 
whether it is sufficiently removed from sources of pollution.  These factors 
include records of spills or potential routes of contamination, like outfall pipes.  
There is a boat ramp and a fuel dock on the main pier as well as a drainage 
system to control runoff from impervious surfaces.  No history of spills was 
reported by the contractor after examination of the area.  
 



CENAE-R-PT 
SUBJECT: Suitability Determination for Town of Wellfleet, Wellfleet Harbor, 
Wellfleet, MA, Application Number NAE-2005-1059 
 

3 
 

 (c) This subsection states that further testing may not be necessary if 
certain conditions and circumstances make it unlikely that the dredged 
material would degrade the disposal site.  For the project to meet this 
exclusion, the material to be dredged and the material at the disposal site must 
be adjacent to each other and composed of the same materials and subject to 
the same sources of contaminants.  As the project site is not adjacent to the 
disposal site, this exclusion does not apply to this project  
 
  (d) This subsection states that further testing may not be necessary if 
the material to be dredged is constrained, both to reduce contamination within 
the disposal site and to prevent transport of contaminants beyond the 
boundaries of the disposal site.  As such constraints in handling are not 
proposed, this subsection does not apply.  
 
40 CFR 230.61 Chemical, Biological and Physical Evaluation and Testing 
 
 (a) This subsection describes the purpose of Part 230.61 and does not 
give any criteria for the evaluation of sediments. 
 
 (b) This subsection states that dredged material may be excluded from 
testing for water column effects and benthic bioassays if it is determined, by 
evaluation under 40 CFR Part 230.60, that the likelihood of contamination 
levels that could exert ecological impacts (as defined in Part 230.60 – is that 
the right section) is acceptably low.  Such testing is not needed, as it was 
determined, based on evaluation under Part 230.61(c), that the likelihood of 
contamination is low.   
 
 (c) This subsection states that an inventory of the concentrations of the 
contaminants of concern would aid in an environmental assessment of the 
impact of their disposal on the designated disposal site.  Such an inventory 
was performed at the dredge site.  See Section 3 above and the attached 
spreadsheets for details.  The dredged materials should have minimal impact at 
the disposal site. 
 
 CENAE and the federal agencies did not think an analysis of biological 
community structure was needed for this project. 
 
 (d) This subsection states the importance of the disposal of dredged 
materials on the characteristics of the physical substrate.  MAS determined 
that the likelihood of physical effects from the disposal of the dredged material 
at the disposal site should be minimal.  Although some benthic marine 
organisms will be buried by the disposal of the project materials, the disposal 
site should be rapidly re-colonized. 
 



CENAE-R-PT 
SUBJECT: Suitability Determination for Town of Wellfleet, Wellfleet Harbor, 
Wellfleet, MA, Application Number NAE-2005-1059 
 

4 
 

5. Copies of this determination were sent to the MADEP and the USEPA.  
The EPA concurred with this determination.  The MADEP did not respond 
within the 10-business day review period and their concurrence is assumed. 
 
6. If you have any questions, please contact me at (978) 318-8336 or 
charles.n.farris@usace.army.mil.  
 
 
 
 
  CHARLES N. FARRIS 
  Project Manager,  
  Marine Analysis Section 
 



CENAE-R-PT 
SUBJECT: Suitability Determination for Town of Wellfleet, Wellfleet Harbor, 
Wellfleet, MA, Application Number NAE-2005-1059 
 

5 
 

 



CENAE-R-PT 
SUBJECT: Suitability Determination for Town of Wellfleet, Wellfleet Harbor, 
Wellfleet, MA, Application Number NAE-2005-1059 
 

6 
 

 



 

US Army Corps of Engineers 

drobbins
Text Box
PENDINGEXAMPLE FROM AREA 1



DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY 
US ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS 

NEW ENGLAND DISTRICT 
696 VIRGINIA ROAD 

CONCORD MA 01742-2751 

 

November 25, 2020 
Regulatory Division  
File No. NAE-2015-1414 
 
 
Michael Flanagan 
Town of Wellfleet 
300 Main Street 
Wellfleet, MA 02667 
 
Dear Mr. Flanagan: 
 
 We have reviewed your application to dredge 116,500 cubic yards of material from 14.6 
acres of bottom in Wellfleet Harbor. The area would be dredged to a depth of -6.0 MLW and 
disposed of at the Cape Cod Bay Disposal Site (CCBDS. Only the area labeled Area 1 and 
designated in the attached plans would be dredged. This area includes the North and South 
Access Channels, North Anchorage and the Access Channel adjacent to the L-Pier.  This project 
is located in Wellfleet Harbor at Kendrick Avenue in Wellfleet, Massachusetts.  The work is 
shown on the enclosed plans titled “Dredging, Town of Wellfleet”, on seven sheets, and dated 
“July 6, 2016”.   
 
 Based on the information that you have provided, we verify that the activity is authorized 
under General Permit #5 of the enclosed April 16, 2018 Federal permit known as the 
Massachusetts General Permits (GPs).  Also, it has been determined that the activities authorized 
do not impair the usefulness of the USACE Navigation project and is not injurious to the public 
interest.]   
 
 Please review the enclosed GPs carefully, including the general conditions beginning on  
page 19, to be sure that you and whoever does the work understand its requirements.  A copy of 
the GPs and this verification letter shall be available at the project site throughout the time the 
work is underway.  Performing work within our jurisdiction that is not specifically authorized by 
this determination or failing to comply with any special condition(s) provided below or all of the 
terms and conditions of the GPs may subject you to the enforcement provisions of our 
regulations.  You must perform this work in compliance with the terms and conditions of the 
GPs and also in compliance with the following special condition(s):]. 
 
 1. The U.S. Coast Guard, Sector Southeastern New England, Waterways Management 
Division, (401) 435-2351, shall be notified at least ten working days in advance of the intended 
start date of the location and estimated duration of the dredging and disposal operations.  An 
alternate contact is the Coast Guard Sector Southeastern New England Command Center, Woods 
Hole, (508) 457-3211. 
 
 2. There shall be no dredging or disposal from February 1 to September 30, inclusive, in 



2 
 

order to minimize adverse impacts to winter flounder and shellfish. This is to protect Essential 
Fish Habitat designated under the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management 
Act. 
 
 3. Except when directed otherwise by the Corps for site management purposes, disposal of 
dredged material is not permitted unless the following requirements can be met: 

a. Dredged material shall be released at a specified set of coordinates within the disposal 
site provided in the Dredge and Disposal Approval Letter with the scow moving at a speed of 3 
knots or less. 

b. Disposal shall occur with the scow within 300 feet of the disposal coordinates 
provided in the Dredge and Disposal Approval Letter. 

c. If following the requirements in (a) and (b) above is unsafe, e.g., due to weather or 
sea conditions, disposal with the scow moving only fast enough to maintain safe control is 
permitted.  In that regard, special attention needs to be given to predicted conditions prior to 
departing for the disposal site.  If disposal occurs without complying with (a) or (b) above, you, 
your representative, or the captain of the disposal vessel, must notify the Corps DQM contact 
immediately (see contact information below).  Leave a voice message with the relevant 
information if no one answers.  Information provided shall include disposal coordinates, permit 
number, volume disposed, date and time of disposal, circumstances of incident, disposal vessel 
name, name of caller, and phone number of caller.  In addition, a detailed written report with 
supporting documentation shall be provided to the Corps within 48 hours following any non-
compliant event. 
  

4 National Dredging Quality Management (DQM) Program Requirements: 
a. Discharges of dredged material involving open-water disposal and confined aquatic 

disposal cells require monitoring by the contractor, which must be performed using the DQM 
system software and hardware system developed by the Corps.  Please address questions 
regarding certification to the Corps New England District DQM contact (see contact information 
below). 

b. You are required to follow the DQM specifications, including the DQM information 
transfer protocol, located at http://dqm.usace.army.mil.  The Corps must have certified each 
disposal vessel used for this project within a year of the disposal activity and you must send the 
DQM Certification and the Annual System Quality Assurance Verification to the Corps with the 
Dredge and Disposal Request Form.  You are responsible for ensuring that the DQM system is 
operational throughout the project and that project data are submitted to the National DQM 
Support Center in accordance with the specifications provided at the aforementioned website.  
Disposal may not take place if any component of the DQM system is inoperable unless otherwise 
authorized by the Corps New England District DQM contact (see contact information below).   
An alternative recording of the absent data stream must be maintained if any of the DQM-
certified telemetry ceases operation during a disposal trip.  The breakdown of any DQM-certified 
telemetry must be reported to the DQM contact and repaired within 48 hours to keep the scow  
fully compliant with permit conditions.  Unless weather, safety or sea state conditions prevent it, 
the hull doors must be fully closed on split hull scows before the vessel leaves the disposal site. 

http://dqm.usace.army.mil/


3 
 

c. The DQM system used by the permittee must be capable of providing the information 
necessary for the Scow Monitoring Profile Specification.  The permittee must provide the Corps 
with a:  i) “Weekly Summary Report Form” at the end of each week that dredging and disposal 
activities are conducted for the duration of the project; and ii) “Seasonal/Final Completion of 
Dredging with Open-Water Disposal Report Form” upon completion of dredging and disposal 
for the season and project.  These will be provided to you with the Dredge and Disposal 
Approval Letter that authorizes the initiation or continuation of disposal operations.  You must 
make the data collected by the DQM system available to the Corps upon request. 

d.    Prior to the initial dredge/disposal action, or any time dredging/disposal resumes 
after ceasing for 30 days or more, you or your representative must submit the enclosed Dredge 
and Disposal Request Form at least 10 working days before dredging or disposal is expected to 
begin or resume.  Dredging/disposal must not begin or resume until the Corps issues a Dredge 
and Disposal Approval Letter.  The letter will include the approved start and end dates.  These 
disposal point coordinates that may differ from those specified for other projects using the same 
disposal site or even from those specified earlier for this project.  You must contact us (see 
contact information below) as early as possible to request an extension if you anticipate not 
completing dredge or disposal operations before the approved end date.    
 

5. Unless otherwise stated, all submittals related to these special conditions for dredging and 
disposal shall be emailed to the DQM contact at charles.n.farris@usace.army.mil and cenae-r-
pats@usace.army.mil.  If it is necessary to provide a paper copy of any submittal, please also 
provide a digital copy or communicate with our staff if this is not possible.  Please send paper 
copies to:  a) MAIL: PATS Branch - Regulatory Division, Corps of Engineers, New England 
District, 696 Virginia Road, Concord, MA 01742-2751; or b) FAX: (978) 318-8303.  Direct 
dredge related questions to (978) 318-8336 OR (978) 318-8831] or (978) 318-8338.  Documents 
which are not addressed in this manner may not reach their intended destination and do not 
comply with the requirements of this authorization. 
  
 6. You must complete and return the enclosed Work Start Notification Form to this office at 
least two weeks before the anticipated starting date. 
 
 Disposal operations must not begin or resume until you submit the enclosed Disposal Request 
Form and the Corps issues an Open-Water Disposal Approval Letter that provides a specified set 
of coordinates for dredged material release within the disposal site.  See the special conditions 
above. 
 
 This authorization expires on April 5, 2023.  You must commence or be under contract to 
commence the work authorized herein by April 5, 2023, and complete the work by April 5, 2024.  
If not, you must contact this office to determine the need for further authorization before 
beginning or continuing the activity.  We recommend that you contact us before this 
authorization expires to discuss reissuance.  Please contact us immediately if you change the 
plans or construction methods for work within our jurisdiction.  We must approve any changes 
before you undertake them. 

mailto:charles.n.farris@usace.army.mil
mailto:cenae-r-pats@usace.army.mil
mailto:cenae-r-pats@usace.army.mil


4 
 

 
  This authorization does not obviate the need to obtain other Federal, State, or local 
authorizations required by law.   
 
 Your project is located within, or may affect resources within the coastal zone.  The 
Massachusetts Office of Coastal Zone Management (CZM) has already determined that no 
further Federal Consistency Review is required. 
 
 We continually strive to improve our customer service.  In order for us to better serve you, 
we would appreciate your completing our Customer Service Survey located at  
http://corpsmapu.usace.army.mil/cm_apex/f?p=regulatory_survey. 
 
 Please contact Charles N. Farris of my staff at (978) 318-8336 or (978) 318-8338 if you have 
any questions. 
 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 

Robert J. DeSista 
 Chief, Policy and Technical Support Branch 
 Regulatory Division 
Enclosures 
 
cc:  Daniel Robbins, GEI Consultants, drobbins@geiconsultants.com 
Ed Reiner, U.S. EPA, Region 1, Boston, Massachusetts, reiner.ed@epa.gov  
Chris Boelke, NMFS, Gloucester, MA; christopher.boelke@noaa.gov 
David Simmons, USFWS; david_simmons@fws.gov 
Robert Boeri, Coastal Zone Management, Boston, Massachusetts, robert.boeri@mass.gov 
Jim Mahala, Acting Chief, DEP SERO, Wetlands and Waterways, Lakeville, Massachusetts; 
jim.mahala@mass.gov  
DEP CERO, Wetlands and Waterways, Worcester, Massachusetts; cero_noi@mass.gov  
David Wong, MassDEP, david.w.wong@mass.gov 
MassDEP-WRP, Boston, Massachusetts; dep.waterways@mass.gov,  
 
David Robinson, Massachusetts Board of Underwater Archaeological Resources (BUAR); 
david.s.robinson@mass.gov 
Wellfleet Conservation Commission, 220 W. Main Street, Wellfleet, MA 02667 
 
  

http://corpsmapu.usace.army.mil/cm_apex/f?p=regulatory_survey
mailto:reiner.ed@epa.gov
mailto:christopher.boelke@noaa.gov
mailto:david_simmons@fws.gov
mailto:robert.boeri@mass.gov
mailto:jim.mahala@mass.gov
mailto:cero_noi@mass.gov
mailto:dep.waterways@mass.gov
mailto:david.s.robinson@mass.gov


6 
 



7 
 



8 
 



9 
 



10 
 



11 
 

 



2023 WELLFLEET HARBOR DREDGING
AREA II

255 COMMERCIAL ST.
WELLFLEET, MA 02667

GEI PROJECT NO. 2004486
APRIL 2023

PREPARED FOR:

TOWN OF WELLFLEET
300 MAIN ST.

WELLFLEET, MA
(508) 349-0300

FOR BID
DWG. NO.DWG. NO.

SHEET NO.

REV NO.

G-001
01 OF 05

0

SITE

PREPARED BY:

GEI CONSULTANTS, INC.
124 GROVE ST., SUITE 300

FRANKLIN, MA 02038
(508) 533 - 6666

Consultants

DUCK CREEK
INNER BASIN

WELLFLEET TOWN PIER

WELLFLEET HARBOR

PROJECT LOCATION

\\geiconsulta  B:\Working\WELLFLEET MA, TOWN OF\2004486 Wellfleet Dredging Design\00_CAD\Design\Working\2023 DREDGING\G-001 COVER SHEET.dwg  -  4/21/2023

STATE MAP
(NOT TO SCALE)

SITE LOCATION MAP
(NOT TO SCALE)

THIS DOCUMENT, AND THE IDEAS AND DESIGNS INCORPORATED
HEREIN, IS AN INSTRUMENT OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICE, IS THE
PROPERTY OF GEI CONSULTANTS AND IS NOT TO BE USED, IN WHOLE
OR IN PART, FOR ANY OTHER PROJECT WITHOUT THE WRITTEN
AUTHORIZATION OF GEI CONSULTANTS.



BASE BID (ESTIMATED AVAILABLE VOLUME)

VOLUME (CU.YDS)

EL. -6.0 DREDGE 82,350
EL. -7.0 OVERDREDGE 17,650

TOTAL 100,000

OSHA REQUIREMENTS:
1. PURSUANT TO M.G.L. c.30, §39S, ANY PERSON SIGNING A CONTRACT TO WORK ON A PUBLIC BUILDING OR PUBLIC WORKS PROJECT

ESTIMATED TO COST MORE THAN $10,000, MUST CERTIFY UNDER THE PAINS AND PENALTIES OF PERJURY THAT ALL EMPLOYEES
EMPLOYED ON THE WORKSITE, OR IN WORK SUBJECT TO THE BID, HAVE SUCCESSFULLY COMPLETED AT LEAST TEN HOURS OF OSHA
APPROVED TRAINING. PROOF OF OSHA CERTIFICATION OF ALL WORKERS ONSITE WILL BE REQUIRED BY THE TOWN OF WELLFLEET
PRIOR TO THE START OF WORK.

SURVEY CONTROL AND BASELINES
1. HYDROGRAPHIC DATA SHOWN HEREON WAS COLLECTED ON JUNE 2, 2022 BY GEI CONSULTANTS, INC. AND CAN ONLY REFLECT

CONDITIONS AS THEY EXISTED DURING THE TIME OF THE SURVEY.
2. VERTICAL DATUM FOR PROJECT IS MEAN LOW WATER DATUM (MLW).
3. ELEVATIONS ARE SHOWN IN FEET AND BASED ON MEAN LOW WATER DATUM (MLW). SEE TIDAL DATUM FOR DATUM CONVERSIONS.

NEGATIVE VALUES REPRESENT DEPTH BELOW MLW.
4. HORIZONTAL POSITION AND COORDINATES ARE BASED ON MASSACHUSETTS MAINLAND STATE PLANE COORDINATE SYSTEM (NAD83).
5. PROJECT BASE PLAN, FLOAT LAYOUT AND MARINA PROVIDED BY THE TOWN OF WELLFLEET.
6. PROPERTY LINES AND EXISTING BUILDINGS ARE APPROXIMATE AND OBTAINED FROM MASSGIS.
7. WETLAND BOUNDARY WAS PROVIDED BY MASSGIS AND ALSO SURVEYED BY GEI CONSULTANTS IN 2016.

SITE PREPARATION
1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE PHOTOGRAPHIC AND VIDEO RECORD OF EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS OF THE WORK AREA,

BUILDINGS, MARINA, AND AREAS DIRECTLY ADJACENT TO WORK AREAS.
2. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL ALL SIGNAGE PRIOR TO INITIATION OF CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES INCLUDING OWNER PROJECT

SIGNAGE, DEP FILE NUMBER, AND STATE AND FEDERAL MANDATED SIGNAGE.
3. CONTRACTOR SHALL HAVE IN-PLACE TRASH AND SANITARY FACILITIES FOR THE WORK PLACE.
4. DISCOVERY OF INCONSISTENT SITE INFORMATION OR CONDITIONS SHALL BE IMMEDIATELY CONVEYED TO THE HARBORMASTER

PRIOR TO COMMENCING OR CONTINUING CONSTRUCTION.
5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY EXACT LOCATIONS OF UTILITIES AND EXISTING STRUCTURES AS MAY BE REQUIRED.
6. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE FULLY RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY AND ALL DAMAGES OCCURRING AS A RESULT OF THE CONTRACTOR'S

FAILURE TO LOCATE AND PROTECT UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AND STRUCTURES.  ALL REPAIRS SHALL BE MADE AT THE
CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE.

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROTECT ALL EXISTING STRUCTURES AND SHALL PERFORM THE WORK IN A MANNER THAT AVOIDS
DAMAGE TO EXISTING STRUCTURES. STRUCTURES INCLUDE, BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO, BUILDINGS, PIERS, BULKHEADS, FLOATS,
BOAT RAMPS, AND RIPRAP SLOPES. CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR ANY DAMAGE AT NO ADDITIONAL COST TO THE TOWN.

8. CONTRACTOR SHALL SUPPLY ALL NECESSARY TEMPORARY UTILITIES FOR CONSTRUCTION INCLUDING WATER, POWER, LIGHTING,
DATA AND TELEPHONE.

9. CONTRACTOR SHALL READ AND UNDERSTAND ALL REGULATORY CONDITIONS ASSOCIATED WITH THE PROJECT AND SHALL COMPLY
WITH ALL ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS AND PERMIT CONDITIONS.

10.CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR SITE SAFETY AND SHALL PROVIDE SIGNAGE, TEMPORARY BARRIERS, FENCING, OR EQUIVALENT
TO PREVENT UNAUTHORIZED ACCESS INTO WORK AREAS AT ALL TIMES.

11.CONTRACTOR SHALL PERFORM THE WORK TO MINIMIZE IMPACTS ON VESSEL NAVIGATION IN THE HARBOR.
12.CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH ADJACENT ONGOING FEDERAL DREDGING PROJECT FOR ACCESS AND NAVIGATION

THROUGH THE HARBOR.
13. ALL CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH OSHA STANDARDS AND LOCAL AND STATE REGULATIONS.

EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS:
1. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTE THAT ALL EXISTING STRUCTURE DETAILS, DIMENSIONS, AND LOCATIONS ARE APPROXIMATE. BIDDERS

SHALL MAKE THEIR OWN ASSESSMENT OF EXISTING CONDITIONS.
2. THE TOWN WILL PERMIT THE CONTRACTOR TO HAVE A LAYDOWN AREA ON THE PIER FOR USE DURING CONSTRUCTION. THE

LOCATION AND SIZE OF THE LAYDOWN AREA SHALL BE APPROVED BY THE TOWN. THE CONTRACTOR MAY ASSUME A LAYDOWN AREA
OF 100 FEET X 100 FEET WILL BE AVAILABLE. NO OTHER EQUIPMENT SHALL BE PERMITTED ON WELLFLEET TOWN PROPERTY DURING
CONSTRUCTION.

3. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY HARBORMASTER WHEN BURIED STRUCTURES OR OBSTRUCTIONS ARE FOUND.

EXISTING STRUCTURES
1. EXISTING STRUCTURES AND AMENITIES WITHIN THE PROXIMITY OF THE WORK SHALL BE PROTECTED TO PREVENT ACCIDENTAL

DAMAGE BY CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES.
2. EXISTING FLOATS AND MOORINGS WILL BE REMOVED BY THE TOWN PRIOR TO CONTRACTOR COMMENCING DREDGING ACTIVITIES AT

THE SITE. EXISTING MOORING PILES WILL REMAIN IN PLACE. ANY DAMAGE OR IMPACT TO THE MOORING PILES MUST BE CORRECTED
IN KIND AT NO ADDITIONAL COST TO THE TOWN.

DREDGING
1. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL DREDGE TO DEPTHS SHOWN ON THE CONTRACT DRAWINGS.
2. ALL AREAS INCLUDE AN OVERDREDGE PAYMENT LIMIT DEPTH AS SHOWN ON THE PLAN. NO WORK OUTSIDE THE PAYMENT LIMIT

SHALL BE CONSIDERED FOR COMPENSATION.
3. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTE LIKELY PRESENCE OF DEBRIS WITHIN THE DREDGING FOOTPRINT INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO,

MOORING BLOCKS, CHAINS, STONE, CONCRETE, TIMBER, TIMBER PILES OR COMMERCIAL FISHING EQUIPMENT. ALL DEBRIS SHALL BE
SEGREGATED FOR DISPOSAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.

4. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTE THIS PROJECT REQUIRES INTERTIDAL DREDGING.
5. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTE AND COMPLY WITH ALL TIME OF YEAR (TOY) RESTRICTIONS IN THE PROJECT PERMITS.
6. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE THE TOWN A MINIMUM OF THREE WORKING DAYS NOTICE PRIOR TO MOVING INTO THE DREDGE AREA.

THE TOWN WILL ARRANGE FOR VESSELS TO BE RELOCATED TO KEEP WORK AREA CLEAR.
7. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTE THAT NO DREDGING OR DISTURBANCE SHALL OCCUR WITHIN THE AREA OF CRITICAL ENVIRONMENTAL

CONCERN.

15CONTOUR

LEGEND

ELEVATION (MLW)

PROPERTY LINE

FEDERAL CHANNEL

REVETMENT

WETLAND BOUNDARY

DREDGE COORIDNATES

DREDGE AREA (EL. -6.0)

\\geiconsulta  B:\Working\WELLFLEET MA, TOWN OF\2004486 Wellfleet Dredging Design\00_CAD\Design\Working\2023 DREDGING\G-002 PROJECT NOTES.dwg  -  4/26/2023

For Bid

Town of Wellfleet
300 Main St

Wellfleet, MA 02667

2023 WELLFLEET HARBOR
DREDGING - AREA II

Consultants

NO DATE ISSUE/REVISION APP
0 4/26/2023 FOR BID DBR

WELLFLEET, MA

SHEET NAME SHEET NO.

If this scale bar
does not measure
1" then drawing is
not original scale.

Attention:
0 1"

Designed:

Checked:

Drawn:

P.E. No:

GEI Project

DBR

DBR

JSF

Approved: RJT

46514

2004486

+5.89

+9.66

+12.86

+17.06

HTL

MHW

NAVD88

100 YR FLOOD

DATUM CONVERSION TABLE

+0.0MLW
-0.34MLLW

DREDGE TOE LIMITS

PL

INTERTIDAL AREA

DWG NO. SHEET NO. DESCRIPTION

G-001 1 TITLE SHEET
G-002 2 PROJECT NOTES
C-001 3 EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN
C-002 4 PROPOSED CONDITIONS PLAN
C-003 5 PROPOSED SECTIONS

PROJECT NOTES C-002

ADD ALT 1 (ESTIMATED AVAILABLE VOLUME)

VOLUME (CU.YDS)

EL. -6.0 DREDGE 97,400
EL. -7.0 OVERDREDGE 16,500

TOTAL 113,900

ELEVATION (MLW)



FEDERAL ANCHORAGE LIMIT

SURVEYED SALT MARSH LIMITS 06/29/16

LAND UNDER OCEAN

FEDERAL CHANNEL LIMIT

COASTAL BEACH

L-PIER

0

-10

-10

-5

0

0

AREA OF CRITICAL ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERN BOUNDARY
APPROXIMATE LIMIT OF DREDGING - SEE SHEET C-002

-5

-5

0

5

-5

0

N: 2800637.17
E: 1056353.68

N: 2800753.11
E: 1057094.67

N: 2801899.01
E: 1056915.26

N: 2801984.31
E: 1056142.83

PROPERTY LINE (TYP.)

INTERTIDAL AREA NOT HATCHED

\\geiconsulta  B:\Working\WELLFLEET MA, TOWN OF\2004486 Wellfleet Dredging Design\00_CAD\Design\Working\2023 DREDGING\C-001 EXISTING CONDITIONS.dwg  -  4/21/2023

For Bid

Town of Wellfleet
300 Main St

Wellfleet, MA 02667

2023 WELLFLEET HARBOR
DREDGING - AREA II

Consultants

NO DATE ISSUE/REVISION APP
0 4/26/2023 FOR BID DBR

WELLFLEET, MA

SHEET NAME SHEET NO.

If this scale bar
does not measure
1" then drawing is
not original scale.

Attention:
0 1"

Designed:

Checked:

Drawn:

P.E. No:

GEI Project

DBR

DBR

JSF

Approved: RJT

46514

2004486

+5.89

+9.66

+12.86

+17.06

HTL

MHW

NAVD88

100 YR FLOOD

DATUM CONVERSION TABLE

+0.0MLW
-0.34MLLW

EXISTING CONDITIONS
PLAN C-001

0

SCALE, FEET

80 160

SCALE: 1" = 80'-0"



FEDERAL CHANNEL & ANCHORAGE LIMIT

SURVEYED SALT MARSH LIMITS 06/29/16

0+00 1+00 2+00 3+00 4+00 5+00 6+00 7+00 8+00 9+00 10+00 11+00 12+00 13+00 14+00 15+00 16+00 17+00 18+0018+00

DREDGE TO EL.-6.0 (1' OD)

3:1 SIDE SLOPES (TYP.)

PROPOSED TOE OF DREDGE

-10

-5

0

0

0

0

0

-5

-5

ADD ALTERNATE AREA 1BASE BID

AREA OF CRITICAL ENVIRONMENTAL
CONCERN BOUNDARY

DREDGE TO EL.-6.0 (1' OD)N: 2801901.81
E: 1056889.52

FEDERAL CHANNEL & ANCHORAGE LIMIT

L-PIER

N: 2800773.94
E: 1057066.10

N: 2800665.73
E: 1056374.51

N: 2801981.44
E: 1056168.60

N: 2802201.21
E: 1056488.53

N: 2800422.93
E: 1056766.64

N: 2801353.90
E: 1056975.30

N: 2801245.67
E: 1056283.75

PROPERTY LINE (TYP.)

\\geiconsulta  B:\Working\WELLFLEET MA, TOWN OF\2004486 Wellfleet Dredging Design\00_CAD\Design\Working\2023 DREDGING\C-002 PROPOSED CONDITIONS.dwg  -  4/21/2023

For Bid

Town of Wellfleet
300 Main St

Wellfleet, MA 02667

2023 WELLFLEET HARBOR
DREDGING - AREA II

Consultants

NO DATE ISSUE/REVISION APP
0 4/26/2023 FOR BID DBR

WELLFLEET, MA

SHEET NAME SHEET NO.

If this scale bar
does not measure
1" then drawing is
not original scale.

Attention:
0 1"

Designed:

Checked:

Drawn:

P.E. No:

GEI Project

DBR

DBR

JSF

Approved: RJT

46514

2004486

+5.89

+9.66

+12.86

+17.06

HTL

MHW

NAVD88

100 YR FLOOD

DATUM CONVERSION TABLE

+0.0MLW
-0.34MLLW

PROPOSED CONDITIONS
PLAN C-002

A
C-003

B
C-003

0

SCALE, FEET

80 160

SCALE: 1" = 80'-0"



1
3

MLW EL. 0.0

DREDGE TO EL. -6.0
1' OVERDREDGE LIMIT

(PAYMENT LIMIT)

EXISTING MUDLINE

1
3

MLW EL. 0.0

DREDGE TO EL. -6.0
1' OVERDREDGE LIMIT

(PAYMENT LIMIT)

EXISTING MUDLINE

BASE BID ADD ALT 1

AREA OF CRITICAL ENVIRONMENTAL
CONCERN (ACEC)

AREA OF CRITICAL ENVIRONMENTAL
CONCERN (ACEC)

AREA OF CRITICAL ENVIRONMENTAL
CONCERN (ACEC)

LIMIT OF FEDERAL
ANCHORAGE

MATERIAL TO BE DREDGED

MATERIAL TO BE DREDGED

(TYP.)

(TYP.)

\\geiconsulta  B:\Working\WELLFLEET MA, TOWN OF\2004486 Wellfleet Dredging Design\00_CAD\Design\Working\2023 DREDGING\C-003 PROPOSED SECTIONS.dwg  -  4/21/2023

For Bid

Town of Wellfleet
300 Main St

Wellfleet, MA 02667

2023 WELLFLEET HARBOR
DREDGING - AREA II

Consultants

NO DATE ISSUE/REVISION APP
0 4/26/2023 FOR BID DBR

WELLFLEET, MA

SHEET NAME SHEET NO.

If this scale bar
does not measure
1" then drawing is
not original scale.

Attention:
0 1"

Designed:

Checked:

Drawn:

P.E. No:

GEI Project

DBR

DBR

JSF

Approved: RJT

46514

2004486

+5.89

+9.66

+12.86

+17.06

HTL

MHW

NAVD88

100 YR FLOOD

DATUM CONVERSION TABLE

+0.0MLW
-0.34MLLW

PROPOSED SECTIONS C-003

B
C-003 SCALE: 1" = 50'-0" H

   1" = 10'-0" V

DREDGE SECTION

A
C-003 SCALE: 1" = 50'-0" H

   1" = 10'-0" V

DREDGE SECTION

0

SCALE, FEET

50 100

SCALE: 1" = 50'-0"

0

SCALE, FEET

10 20

SCALE: 1" = 10'-0"
















































	2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging - Area II Bid Manual.pdf
	00 00 00 Cover & Table of Content
	00 01 00_Invitation for Bid
	SECTION 00 01 00
	INVITATION FOR BID

	00 04 00_Information for Bidders
	00 30 00_Bid Form
	00 50 00_Agreement
	00 55 00_Certificate of Bidder Regarding Equal Employment Opportunity
	00 56 00_Certification of Compliance with Tax Laws
	00 57 00_Certificate of Non-Collusion
	00 58 00_Corporate Signatory Authorization
	00 61 00_Construction Performance Bond
	00 62 00_Construction Payment Bond
	00 65 00_Certificate of Insurance
	00 70 00_General Conditions
	A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, and in addition to any other obligations of Contractor under the Contract  or otherwise, Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the performance of the Work, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom but only to the extent caused by any negligent act or omission of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable.
	B. In any and all claims against Owner or Engineer or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors by any employee (or the survivor or personal representative of such employee) of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the indemnification obligation under Paragraph A shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for Contractor or any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity under workers’ compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts.
	C. The indemnification obligations of Contractor under Paragraph A shall not extend to the liability of Engineer and Engineer’s officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors arising out of:

	00 80 00_Special Conditions

	2023 Wellfleet Harbor Dredging - Area II Drawings.pdf
	G-001 COVER SHEET-01
	G-002 PROJECT NOTES-02
	C-001 EXISTING CONDITIONS-02
	C-002 PROPOSED CONDITIONS-02
	C-003 PROPOSED SECTIONS-02




